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Corporate Information and Key Dates

AREHREEZHH

Website

https://www.Emperorint.com

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 163
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Annual General Meeting 15 August 2025
— Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 11 August 2025

(before 4:30 p.m.)
— Record Date 11 August 2025
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Results Summary

EEBE

The board of directors ("Board” or “Directors”) of Emperor HEFERERARAT ((XAATNEEG (5
International Holdings Limited (“Company”) presents Zg | (EE ) REEALTIRERBAT (B
the audited consolidated results of the Company and its [ZARER ) HZE2025F3H3THIEFEE (K45
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) for the year [EJ) 2Bz a¥EE-

ended 31 March 2025 (“Year”).

For the year ended 31 March

HE3ANBLEE
2025 2024
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FER FET
Continuing operations (Restated)
REBREXRE (=)
Total revenue
AR 1,375,878 972,653
Property development
YEZEE 641,186 141,773
Property investment
MEKE 734,692 830,780
Fair value (loss) on investment properties
KREMERANEE (BB (1,540,936) (1,298,022)
EBITDA'
BRI E R A 454,372 558,515
(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company
KABHER AR (B518) (2,320,872) (2,091,408)
Basic (loss) per share
FREXR (B18) HK$(0.50)# T HKS(0.57)% 7t
! Profit from continuing operations before finance costs, tax, ! SRETEAMSE ) - BiTE ~ P78~ N AEE S E) SO E
depreciation, fair value changes and impairment loss TR 2 SR AR ST 2 s )

4 Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREMm RO

RESULTS

During the Year, the Group’s total revenue from contfinuing
operations increased to HK$1,375.9 million (2024: HK$972.6
million). Revenue from sales of property developments
increased significantly, by 352.2% to HK$641.2 million (2024:
HK$141.8 million), and was mainly contributed by the income
from sales of Cenfral 8 and SouthSky. Rental income was
HK$734.7 million (2024: HK$830.8 million).

Due to a fair value loss on investment properties, the Group
recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
from the continuing operations of HK$2,320.9 million (2024:
HK$2,091.4 million). Combining a loss from discontinued
operation, the Group recorded a loss attributable to the
owners of the Company of HK$4,743.2 million (2024: HK$2,046.7
million). Basic loss from continuing operations was HKS0.50
(2024: HKS0.57) per share.

MARKET REVIEW

The property market in Hong Kong has not yet experienced
a strong recovery during the Year, although the sales of new
residential units regained some momentum due to the positive
effects of the lifting of the property cooling measures and
interest rate cuts. The Hong Kong government also contfinued
pushing the New Capital Investment Enfrant Scheme and
various talent admission schemes, driving local housing
demand for talents and their families.

The local retail market was impacted by the changes in the
consumption patterns of inbound visitors as well as domestic
consumers. Given the strength of the Hong Kong dollar, more
domestic consumers tended to fravel and purchase outside
Hong Kong. Although the number of Mainland Chinese visitor
arrivals has been markedly picking up, consumer confidence
generally remained soft due to various economic uncertainties.
The demand for local commercial lease and office units
continued slowing down, leading to high vacancy rates of
commercial buildings.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Based in Hong Kong, the Group principally engages in
property development and property investment businesses.
The Group develops quality residential projects in Hong Kong
to drive earnings visibility, and owns and manages investment
properties in prime locations in Greater China and overseas
that generate solid income.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREMmRO

Property Sales

The Group pursues a strategy of providing quality residential
properties including luxury composite buildings and low-rise
detached houses. Riding on the positive investment sentiment
arising from the inferest rate cuts during the Year, the Group
accelerated the sale of its residential properties - all units of
One Jardine’s Lookout were contracted.

Project under development - Pre-sale completed

One Jardine’s Lookout is a 27-storey residential tower in
Happy Valley, offering 123 units with a project saleable area of
approximately 47,400 square feet. Situated in a traditional luxury
residential location on Hong Kong Island, it offers easy access
to major shopping and business districts such as Causeway
Bay and Wanchai, and is in close proximity to major facilities
such as the Hong Kong Jockey Club, Hong Kong Sanatorium
& Hospital and Hong Kong Stadium. It was launched to the
market by means of pre-sale in September 2024. Catalysed
by interest rate cuts, the pre-sale received an overwhelming
market response and recorded over-subscription. All units
available for pre-sale were contfracted within several hours
through two consecutive pre-sale exhibitions. During the
Year, all units were contracted, with a contract sum totalling
approximartely HK$950.9 million achieved. The handover of alll
units is expected to be completed by the end of September
2025, and the relevant sales proceeds will be recognised in
the first half of the next financial year.

One Jardine’s Lookout

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREMm RO

Projects currently available for sale

SouthSky is a 23-storey residential and retail building, offering
110 units with a project saleable area of approximately
38,800 square feet. Located in Aberdeen town centre, it is
conveniently accessed by a variety of public transport and
is within the one-hour living circle of the Greater Bay Area
covering Guangdong-Hong Kong and Macau. During the
Year, 75 units were handed over, with HKS473.1 million of sales
proceeds recognised. Another 33 units totalling HKS$182.7
million have been contracted and the relevant sales proceeds
will be recognised in the next financial year.

SouthSky
Bx

Located in Mid-Levels, Central 8is a 29-storey (including lower
ground floor) boutique residential tower offering 99 units. As at
31 March 2025, an accumulated total of 95 units had been
handed over, including 28 units which were handed over with
HK$164.6 million of sales proceeds recognised during the Year.
Another 3 units totalling HK$19.4 million have been contfracted
and the relevant sales proceeds will be recognised in the next
financial year.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREMmRO

No. 15 Shouson, located in Southern District, Hong Kong
Island, is a signature luxury residential project boasting a
project saleable area of approximately 97,100 square feet.
The site is near Aberdeen Tunnel and a network of prestigious
schools, offering 15 low-density luxury villas and complemented
by comprehensive auxiliary facilities. The Group owns a 50%
stake in this project. As at 31 March 2025, an accumulated
total of 7 houses had been handed over, 5 of which were
handed over during the Year. As at the date of this annual
report, 8 remaining houses are available for sale.

UREEEENFELWISH »IEtEREER
TEE B AEEA97, 100 /5 IR 2 th iR & BT
BB LU B RS R SR EREREF B I
BATERERM AN EEERZEB 0%
BE2025F3R31 B Rt 7EF E BT H
TSR AN F e T oIS AR H A 87 81
FERIHE.

No. 15 Shouson
ZEU159%

Seaside Castle is a residential project in Tai Lam, Tuen Mun,
which comprises 8 luxurious detached houses with sea views,
encompassing a project saleable area of approximately
32,000 square feet. As at 31 March 2025, an accumulated total
of 4 houses had been handed over, including 1 house which
was handed over during the Year. Another 3 houses totalling
HK$165.8 million have been contfracted and the relevant sales
proceeds will be recognised in the next financial year.

Project under development

The former buildings at Nos. 24-30 Bonham Road, Mid-levels,
have been demolished, and the site will be redeveloped into
a 27-storey residential complex with a project saleable area
of approximately 91,000 square feet. It is just a 5-minute walk
away from Sai Ying Pun MTR station. The redevelopment is
scheduled for completion in 2026 or thereafter.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREMm RO

Rental Income

The Group’s investment properties portfolio primarily focuses
on commercial buildings and quadlity street-level retail spaces
in prominent locations, with an aggregate gross floor area of
over 2,400,000 square feet, spanning Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Macau and London, resulting in a geographically
balanced property portfolio. By achieving this balance, the
Group can diversify its rental income streams and minimise
impacts due to market volatility.

Hong Kong

As at 31 March 2025, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties in Hong Kong was over 90%.

The Group owns many premium offices, commercial and
industrial complexes, notably Emperor Group Cenire,
China Huarong Tower oand GF Tower in Wanchai; Emperor
Commercial Cenire in Central; Emperor Hollywood Cenftre
in Sheung Wan. The Group also generates rental income from
retail spaces in popular residential and shopping districts,
notably the pulse in Repulse Bay and several street-level shops
on Russell Street in Causeway Bay, as well as on Nathan Road,
Haiphong Road and Hankow Road in Tsim Sha Tsui.

During the Year, the Group completed several disposals
covering commercial units, retail space, residential units,
industrial units and industrial buildings in Hong Kong, at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$1,242.4 million.
The net proceeds of these disposals enhanced the Group'’s
financial position.

HEWA

FEEZREYFRBSTERAENEBAERNRE
RNEXREEZTE M BEEERS H#2,400,000
TR AR ER PR RPI R MMF A —
B D It 2 WS AE & - ISR P AR B 2 78
EWARRZ TT/E W PR R 5 R EE R RIR B o

F#
122025331 B AEENEBHKREYFEATH
B BIEI0%e

AEEFELEEENRA - BERTEAE FHE
IR E(FH B EER/ P  PEERAES EEX
B URHIRNEERERD; (N LR EETE
SERD AREBE T S AN ZEVDNET R EY
ez TEFAEERSWA R BMUIEKE
Wthe pulsel:ifiE/EEAEMZ IS LU
FRRIVIERFGE /ERH1E K2 B Ryt e

RAEE FEETHZAHE  REUNE BN
FEA TESUETEA TEEURTEKNE
HBAE2%31,242,400,0008 00 %5 L EFTS VA
FERA R CAEBBI AR I

the pulse
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXEs w2

On 28 February 2025, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (*Vendor”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
Watch & Jewellery Limited (Hong Kong stock code: 887), to
dispose of the entire equity inferest in an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (*Target Company”) and the loan
due to the Vendor, at a consideration of HK$79.8 million. The
Target Company indirectly owns the property located on 2/F
to 4/F and the advertising space of Nos. 4-8 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The relevant resolution
was passed in the special general meeting of the Company
on 16 April 2025. Details of the disposal were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 28 February 2025, the
Company'’s circular dated 31 March 2025 and the Company’s
poll result announcement dated 16 April 2025. This fransaction
is expected to be completed in August 2025.

Other locations

Located in Chang’an Avenue East, Beiing, China, Emperor
Group Cenfire Beijing is a 28-storey (excluding three-storey
basement with parking facilities) Grade-A office tower and
premier shopping mall with premium cinema, encompassing
a gross floor area of approximately 1,062,000 square feet. It
has attracted reputable office tenants, mulfiple international
superior jewellery, watch, and high-quality lifestyle product
brands, as well as special trendy food and beverage tenants
from various countries.

Emperor Group Centre Beijjing
IREZEF AL

With a gross floor area of approximately 29,600 square feet,
Emperor Nam Van Cenfre is a multi-storey premium retail

R2025FE28 28E| RNAB—EEHEEERBEAT
(TERh)) BEEBEHRUKEFRAE (FERMA
5%:887) B— F'EEEEZ BB AT J_L,E\E\Tnm‘:&’
LIE79.800,000/8 cHE R AT —EEES
ﬁﬁ):/\j (TEZERE) 22 ERERRNE 75_2,%\
B EEEEE BN ERNIBEREL8R
2§4$§¢@¥&E%Tﬁ°ﬁ%§/ LERZEFN2025 4816
HETZANAGREF AT LERE - BIEHE
SHEEIN A AT HHEIA2025F 2828 BV AS AR
ANEHERA2025F3H31H E'JLI_IL/(EZ$/L}E HEA

#20256FAF 16N ERRERNE -BIER S
TEET 202558 3 FeAke
Hithith®s

UK FENIER R ZRAER bR S E A —
1E12=288 (B = Bt E (S B 5% ) BYFR AR
ARIBURE R B YIRS AAR B
ABIEEEAE4T1,062,000°F 75 R ELAEIR 5 1= A
=P ZEERERSKE BB EEEAM
LU R B R EE R TSR E P it

URSRPIF SO HERTEROL—IEZE SR
TEBYRO BIBEEEN29,600F 5R-EE R

complex at the centre of Macau Peninsula. It has become a %%Eﬁ%&iéuu%éuuﬁ?—ﬁgmﬁﬁ,\%%ﬂﬂrﬁ’
prime shopping location with a blend of shopping and lifestyle & A &5 0 BB ARE i R IR E o
offerings, featuring a fitness centre, sportswear, cosmetic and
jewellery stores.

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group expanded its business coverage from Greater
China to the United Kingdom. It owns a 7-storey (including
basement) retail and office building at Nos. 181-183 Oxford
Street with a gross floor area of 20,000 square feet; a 9-storey
retail and office building at Nos. 25-27 Oxford Streef with a
gross floor area of 19,300 square feet; as well as Ampersand
Building ot Nos. 111-125 Oxford Street with a gross floor area
of approximately 112,500 square feet (for retail and office
portions only).

Ampersand Building, London
fmEtAmpersand A&

PROSPECTS

Subsequent to the Year, global stock markets plummeted
immediately after the US announced major import tariffs.
In the face of the uncertainty about the path forward for
global interest rates, investment sentiment is impaired and
potential homebuyers have become cautious. However,
property developers continue regular sales launches of new
residential units by implementing different pricing strategies.
Local property fransactions surged to a five-month high in
April 2025, according to the Land Registry. Due to the limited
land supply and fundamental demand for residential units, the
Group will closely observe the market conditions, and adjust
its timetable for launching development property projects as
appropriate, in order to seize opportunities as they arise.

Looking ahead, the Group expects that both retail and
office leasing sectors will confinue to face challenges. It
will continue maintaining close dialogues with its tenants, in
order to promptly adjust its strategies in response to changes
in the market situation, aiming to achieve steady business
performance.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXEs w2

12

FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Declaration of Special Interim Dividend by way
of Distribution in Specie

During the Year, the Company declared a special interim
dividend by way of distribution in specie of its shares
("Distribution”) in Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited
("Emperor E Hotel”; Hong Kong stock code: 296). Following
the completion of the Distribution, Emnperor E Hotel ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Group. It became a fellow subsidiary of
the Group, and income from Emperor E Hotel will no longer
be consolidated into the Group.

Rights Issue and Capital Structure

During the Year, the Company issued 1,838,772,833 rights
shares (aggregate nominal value: HK$18,387,728.33) to its
qualifying shareholders at a subscription price of HKS$0.25
per rights share on the basis of one rights share for every two
shares held on the rights issue record date (“Rights Issue™).
The net price per rights share is approximately HKS0.24. The
gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$459.7 million, and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
affer deducting all relevant expenses in relation to the Rights
Issue were approximately HK$456.2 million. The Company
infends to fully utilise the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
for enrichment of working capital and expansion of existing
property development and property investment businesses,
with an aim to strengthen its financial position to prepare for
future investment opportunities. As at 31 March 2025, the net
proceeds from the Rights Issue has been fully ufilised according
to the infentions as previously disclosed. Details of the Rights
Issue were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 31 July 2024, 2 August 2024 and 23 September 2024
and the prospectus of the Company dated 30 August 2024,

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

Following the completion of Distribution and Rights Issue,
the Group’s net asset value and net asset value per share
decreased to HKS$16,943.0 million (2024: HK$21,607.9 million)
and HKS3.1 (2024: HK$5.9) per share, respectively, as at 31
March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash, bank balances and
bank deposits decreased to HK$639.6 million (2024: HKS$1,494.3
million). The total external borrowings (excluding payables)
was approximately HK$17,233.6 million (2024: HK$20,213.3
million). The Group’s net gearing ratio (measured by net debts
as a percentage to its total asset value) was 44.4% (2024:
40.2%).

As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding principal of the medium-
term notes issued by the Group was HKS$79.9 million (2024:
HK$379.8 million), which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars, at a fixed rate of 4.9% per
annum.

The Group’s bank balances and cash were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi ("RMB”) and Pound Sterling
("Pound”). A small portion of the Group’s bank borrowings
were denominated in RMB and Pound, and the Group’s
foreign exchange risk caused by market fluctuations in RMB
and the Pound was insignificant. The Group closely monitors ifs
overall foreign exchange exposure and will adopt appropriate
measures to mitigate currency risks, if necessary.

Emperor Group Centre
HEEE AL
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Assets Pledged

As at 31 March 2025, assets with carrying value of HK$31,185.6
million (2024: HK$34,549.9 million) were pledged by the Group
as security for banking facilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Following the completion of Distribution, the number of staff
decreased to 291 (2024 (restated): 322) as at 31 March 2025.
The total staff cost, including Directors” emoluments, was
HKS153.5 million (2024 (restated): HKS175.5 million) during
the Year. Each employee’s remuneration was determined in
accordance with the individual’s responsibility, competence
and skills, experience and performance, as well as market
pay levels. Staff benefits include medical and life insurance,
retirement benefits and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which will be
provided in the “Share Options” section of this annual report.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

ESEREREEBAEBZREE
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Non-executive Director and Chairperson JERITESRERE

LUK SIU MAN, SEMON, aged 69, a Non-executive Director BEINE 695k BN FEHTEEREEZSTE
of the Company and the Chairperson of the Board. She [E IR 1999F6ANMBAR AT W BEEEZo
joined the Company in June 1999 and provides leadership FEXZ TIRMTAREREFEFRAE (BRMDA
for the Board. Ms. Luk is also a non-executive director and the  5%:296) (T 2HR445HE |) ZIERNTEEH T
chairperson of Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock [E - RAXRATRITEEZREST IR EEBE
Code: 296) ("Emperor E Hotel”). She is the mother of M. Yeung  REscE 2 &P T BN IR1TTEER T 105
Ching Loong, Alexander, an Executive Director and the Vice HEXRNZBEAZ - FEBES 21
Chairman of the Board. Ms. Luk worked in the banking industry

for almost 10 years. She graduated from The University of

Toronto with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce.

Emperor International Holdings Limited #EZEMREEER A 7
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Executive Director and Vice Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, JP aged 39, joined
the Group in 2009 and was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company and Vice Chairman of the Board in May
2018 and May 2022 respectively. He is also the Chairman of
the Executive Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company
as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Yeung has been involved in the management of the
overall business of the Group. He is tasked to sharpen the
Group’s vision with an open approach and guide the Group’s
major long-term strategic development so as to achieve
synergies among its businesses. Further, with his young and
dynamic perspectives, Mr. Yeung has played an active role
in promoting shared corporate values within the Group,
thereby bringing together an elite team to the new heights.
In the pursuit of innovation while maintaining the Group’s
competitive edge, he has strengthened the Group’s core
businesses and management proposition and strives to explore
and cater to the needs of younger customers, and develop
new and emerging businesses. He is currently a member
of the 14th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC™) and a member
of the 14th Beijing Municipal Committee of the CPPCC. M.
Yeung holds numerous voluntary public service positions,
with a particular focus on youth development. He serves as
a committee member of All-China Youth Federation, vice
chairman of Beijing Youth Federation and chairman of Hong
Kong United Youth Exchange Foundation. Additionally, he is
a member of Culture Commission, a member of Hong Kong
Arts Development Council, a board member of Hong Kong
Ocean Park Corporation, Senior Asst. Commissioner (Youth)
of Civil Aid Service of Hong Kong and non-official member of
Immigration Department User's Committee. Mr. Yeung is also
a board member of Emperor Foundation, where he leads
Emperor Group in promoting charitable activities. He is also an
executive director and the chairman of the boards of Emperor
Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) ("Emperor Culture”),
Ulferts Infernational Limited (Stock Code: 1711) ("Ulferts”) and
New Media Lab Limited (Stock Code: 1284) ("New Media
Lab”) and an executive director and the vice chairman of
the board of Emperor E Hotel, all being listed members of
Emperor Group. He is the son of Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon, a
Non-executive Director and the Chairperson of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

ESEREREEBAEBZREE

Executive Director and Managing Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 62, the Managing Director
of the Company. She joined the Company in 1990 and has
been responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development as well as overseeing different
functions within the Group. Ms. Fan is also the Chairperson of
the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. She has over 35 years of
corporate management experience in diversified businesses
ranging from property investment and development, hotel
and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial
and securities services, wholesaling and retailing of furniture,
cinema development and operation to entertainment
production and investment, artiste management, as well
as media and publication. Ms. Fan is currently a director of
Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock
Code: 887) ("Emperor W&J"), Emperor Capital Group Limited
(Stock Code: 717) ("Emperor Capital”), Emperor Culture, Ulferts
and New Media Lab, all being listed members of Emperor
Group. She is a lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a
qualified accountant, and holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors

CHU KAR WING, aged 68, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2021. He
is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well
as a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
He was an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Capital from May 2010 to February 2022. He has extensive
experience in the banking and finance sector for several
well-known corporations. Moreover, he is now the director of
Jetour Holding Limited and president of Partners Education
Foundation. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Social
Sciences majoring in Economics.

POON YAN WAI, aged 55, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2022. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is now the financial controller,
company secretary and an authorized representative of
a Hong Kong listed company and an independent non-
executive director of Dragon Mining Limited (Stock Code:
1712). Mr. Poon was an independent non-executive director
of Emperor Capital from January 2014 to February 2023. He
has over 20 years of experience in auditing and accounting
field. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and
a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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KWAN SHIN LUEN, SUSANNA, aged 57, was appointed
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in August 2024. She is the Chairperson of the Nomination
Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Ms. Kwan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Hypebeast Limited
(Stock Code: 150). She was an independent non-executive
director of Emperor E Hotel from August 2015 to August 2024,
She has a legal practice focusing on corporate/commercial
and corporate finance matters in Hong Kong for more than 20
years, including mergers & acquisitions, regulatory compliance,
public offerings, private placement of securities and open
offers, joint ventures and securities related compliance. Ms.
Kwan practices and specializes as a corporate finance and
legal and compliance lawyer. She graduated from the London
School of Economics (London).
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Directors’ Report
EHEGRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set ouf in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 69 and 70 of this annual report. The dividends paid
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

A special interim dividend by way of distribution in species of
851,353,645 shares in Emperor E Hotel was paid to the qualifying
shareholders of the Company ("Qualifying Shareholders”) on
a pro-rata basis of 463 Emperor E Hotel shares for every 2,000
shares of the Company held by the Qualifying Shareholders
during the Year.

The Board does not recommend any payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2024: HKS0.003 per share).

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year, important event
after the reporting period and an analysis of the likely future
development of the Group’s business are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 5 to 14
of this annual report. Description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report from pages 37 to 64 and notes 39 and 40
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.

In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during
the Year using financial key performance indicators is
provided in the Five-year Financial Summary on page 194 of
this annual report. Discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, key relationships with the Group’s
key stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company are set out in the 2024/2025 Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Company.
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Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 194 of this
annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 73 and 74 of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the shareholders of the Company
("Shareholders”), calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounting
to HKS3,954,144,000 (2024: HKS$4,222,448,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HK$5,001,106,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Charitable Donations

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately HK$100,000.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the share option scheme of the Company adopted
on 19 September 2023 ("Share Option Scheme™) as stated
below, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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Investment Properties

During the Year, the Group acquired investment properties
at a cost of approximately HK$3,356,000 and incurred costs
of approximately HK$522,000 on investment properties under
development.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group revalued all of its investment
properties on an open market value basis. The decrease in fair
value amounting to approximately HK$1,804,033,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of
this annual report.

Details of changes in the investment properties of the Group
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

A summary of major properties of the Group as at 31 March
2025 is set out from pages 195 to 200 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$5,732,000.

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers represented 17% of the
Group'’s total revenue. The largest customer accounted for 5%
to the Group’s total revenue.

During the Year, the aggregate amount of purchases and
services received attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers represented 68% of the Group’s total purchases and
services received. The largest supplier accounted for 9% to the
Group’s total purchases and services received.

None of the Directors, their close associates or the Shareholders
(who to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had a beneficial interest in the
share capital of any of the above major customers or suppliers
of the Group.
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Directors =

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of thisannual RAEERRBEEAFRAHIEZESNOT:
report were:

Non-executive Directors: EMITES:

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (Chairperson) NS (FE)

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung (retired on 1 September 2024) SRIRSR L E (FR2024F9H 1 HiB 1K)
Executive Directors: WMITES:

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Vice Chairman) BEEELAE (BIF/E)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Managing Director)
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (refired on 1 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chu Kar Wing

Mr. Poon Yan Wai

Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna (appoinfed on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Chan Hon Piu (refired on 20 August 2024)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
as at the date of this annual report are set out from pages 15
to 18 of this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

In accordance with Bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s
Bye-laws, Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (*"Ms. Semon Luk”) and Mr,
Poon Yan Wai ("Mr. Andy Poon”) shall retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Friday, 15 August 2025 (*2025 AGM™”) and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the 2025 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company’s Bye-laws and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the
Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated with
legal proceedings that may be brought against the Directors
and the directors of the Group respectively.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024/2025 3k

BEIRR T (EFEEIE)
EEIBEE (1R202545 1 HIR 1K)

BIFPITES:

RERSEE

B fRSEE

BR 188 20 = (702024468 5 20 A Z1E)
BRI (120244F8/5 20 H B E)

REFRAPEEREREEAEZEEFE
BN AFERBISEFI8H-BEFFMFBHN
RERZEEMBHRERWE00

BIERAT ZABMAESA()HERFE84(2)
ot (TErL)) RBECELE (TE
F4 1) L2025 8816H (BHiR) BT 2K
AEEERRBFEARE (2026FRRBEK
g)) LHERD BN ERIMEBREE T

MERE2020FRRBERG LBREBEEZ
EFRAEERITAIR —ERNRMIEECEE
BEERRIN) MR L Z REWMRFB A

ERaY

RAEEP REM LI L EmT T RFH
FAEBRENTAEALDEHNERRT
BEENEH-

EEFNBEMRX
RAEAFERARBERFERAMILE REFAE
EBEE DRI FISEEE BEAR AT E LR E
EEERRA AT HEEESFRBERS
ZERXHN AR 2 REMAURTEER
BrEEREREEABEERAC

REEREEERDE




Directors’ Report
EHEGRE

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (*Chief
Executives™) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company ("EIHL Securities Code™) were as follows:

(a) Long position interests in the Company

Ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each
(“Shares™)
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FETESXZRETR (TRERKREST
) BRTTHNERABREBHMEXRZMAR
ANE) (THESSRT)) 2 m kBT

(RERFZHFE#E
AATESREMEC.OIEB T @R (TR
21)

Number Approximate %

of Shares of issued

Capacity/Nature of interested voting Shares

Name of Directors interests FRlEmz HWERTARE#R

R Bin #E=E GieabE 4= B 15 BE49 %

Ms. Semon Luk Interest of spouse 4,121,416,834 74.71
FE+ Fo B (Note)
(H&t)

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Eligible beneficiary of a 4,121,416,834 74.71
Alexander ("Mr. Alex Yeung™) private discretionary trust (Note)
B EE ST (554 D) IWARBEFEZEERZTEA (W)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa Beneficial owner 15,750,000 0.29

("Ms. Vanessa Fan”) BEm#EEA

BEE e (MBL )
Note:

These Shares were held by Emperor International Group Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
C"AY Holdings”) which was held by First Trust Services AG ("First Trust
Services”), being the trustee of a private discretionary trust founded
by Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (*Dr. Yeung”) who was deemed to
have interests in the said Shares. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr.
Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had deemed interests in the same Shares
whereas Mr. Alex Yeung also had deemed interests in the same
Shares by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of such
private discretionary trust.

Emperor International Holdings Limited #EZEMREEER A 7
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First Trust Servicesaip=Z gt (TgE L)) Al
T ZIABIBEEZZEA BIETWE AR Lt
BphEE G - ENET T ABE T 2B W
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(b) Long position interests in associated (b)) REREEEEBE 2 F B
corporations of the Company
Ordinary shares LRk

Number Approximate %

of shares of issued
Name of Name of associated Capacity/ interested voting shares
Directors corporations Nature of interests FEiEEz LERTHRERE
EEnR HEEE RS B3 HEtE 30 4= B 49 %
Ms, Semon Luk Emperor E Hotel Interest of spouse 636,075,041 53.52
e+ HEERMEE [
Emperor W&J - Ditto - 4,298,630,000 59.24
HEFFRUE -BE -
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80
HEX(LEZE -BE-
Ulferts - Ditto - 600,000,000 75.00
Bt -AL -
New Media Lab - Ditto - 315,000,000 52.50
MmERE -BE-
Mr. Alex Yeung Emperor E Hotel Eligible beneficiary of a private 636,075,041 53.52
BRE EEREEE discretionary frust
MABRBEREZEERS®mA
Emperor W&J - Difto - 4,298,630,000 59.24
HEERGE -BE-
Emperor Culture - Ditto - 2,371,313,094 73.80
BEX(EEZE -BLE-
Ulferts - Ditto - 600,000,000 75.00
ErE -AL -
New Media Lab - Ditto - 315,000,000 52.50
mERE -BE-
Ms. Vanessa Fan  Emperor E Hotel Beneficial owner 2,430,750 0.20
BT mERACE L EREEA
Note: HtaE:
Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture, Ulferts and New HEREEE HEEFRRE REXLEE B
Media Lab are companies with their shares listed on the Stock BB A ERDRMRFA LMz A %%
Exchange. These shares were ultimately owned by the respective B&1D HABREFAA BB E5E (IMEHBE T AL RE
private discretionary trusts which were also founded by Dr. Yeung. A -ENREZLTABE I ZRE WRERAE
By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had BHEERONER MERBREAZERARNIE
deemed interests in the same shares whereas Mr. Alex Yeung also B2 AERSEAZ — BE IR HRAEEEE
had deemed interests in the same shares by virtue of being one of B& AR A o

the eligible beneficiaries of such private discretionary frusts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the F& EXPRIZEE SN 102025F3H831 8 > i &
Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests or short position  EE S &= TEA B4 A B S E A RIEHE
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company (ERRFBFRPEEOEXVE) 2 EMEK
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 7 18R (D S EHEZ P HEB E A ERIL B -
Part XV of the SFO).

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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Share Options

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. No
option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit and the service provider sublimit were
367,754,566 and 183,877,283 respectively at both the beginning
and the end of the Year.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the Share Optfion Scheme as stated above, af
the end of the Year and at no time during the Year was
the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or Chief Executives or their spouses or children under
18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate,

Other Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

So far as is known to any Directors or Chief Executives, as at
31 March 2025, the persons or corporations (other than the
Directors or Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed
or taken to have interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required o be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO ("Dl Register”) were as
follows:

Rt

B 8 2 BN A FE RS M B|MEM
5137 B SR fE i 1 5t B LUK I BB IR AR IR
RS EIIR BT SRR

RAEFERIBRAFER RIETEIEEREE
KRR MEE D ERB A HE L BRIESHE
DR #%367,754,56617 % 183,877,28317 °

BRI AEER 22

bR EXFritt 2 AR ST BIIN R AFE R A
FEARAEFERE AQF HAEMZERAR M
BRBXFRWEB A EITAERZH H
FEEFNRSTHABHREF ZERMBIRMWI8
BT RABEBWBERLT N ERNEMERNR
PR EEEMERM me

H{th AL AR5 B A RARR (7 2 mn

1R2025F 331 H AERNEFHESITHA
SRR BFREEHERBITHRAEN THIAL
EERROSERBRNPERIRRANEE
EBEA NI RE 5 MG KB 553361% A
FEzEM((EaELH) 2Emkokail
™

Long position in the Shares PR ZEE

Number Approximate %

of Shares of issued

interested voting Shares

Name of Shareholders  Capacity/Nature of interests FaEiEDEz HEBBTHERE#E

MREE B B #EtE Giabg 4= B 15 BE49 %

AY Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 4,121,416,834 74.71
W REEER REREGEER 2T

First Trust Services Trustee of a private discretionary trust 4,121,416,834 74.71
WARIBEFEZZFEA

Dr. Yeung Founder of a private discretionary frust 4,121,416,834 74.71
gt TWARBIEFEZRIZA

Nofte: These Shares were the same Shares of which Ms. Semon Luk
and Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interests as those set ouf
under Section (a) of “Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors
or Chief Executives were not aware of any other person or
corporation (other than the Directors and Chief Executives)
who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any interests or
short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares as recorded
in the DI Register.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

The Group is engaged principally in property investment and
property development in Greater China and overseas. As at
31 March 2025, the following Directors were considered to
have interests in other activities that compete or were likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the said core business
of the Group, all within meaning of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange ("Listing Rules™):

26

Ms. Semon Luk, being the spouse of Dr. Yeung (founder of
a private discretionary trust), was deemed to be interested
in various companies under such trust which were also
engaged in property investment and development. As Ms.
Semon Luk is not involved in the Company’s day-to-day
operations and management, the Group is capable of its
business independently of and at arm’s length from such
disclosed deemed competing business;

Mr. Alex Yeung, being one of the eligible beneficiaries
of the aforesaid frust, was deemed to be interested in
various companies under such trust which were also
engaged in property investment and development. He
also had shareholding and directorship interests in private
companies engaged in property investment. Given that
(@) he cannot control the boards of the Company and the
companies under such frust; and () size and dominance
of the portfolio of the Group, the Directors considered the
Group’s interests are adequately safeguarded; and

Ms. Vanessa Fan had shareholding and directorship
interests in private companies engaged in property
investment. In light of the size and dominance of the
property investment portfolio of the Group, such disclosed
deemed competing business is considered immaterial.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts and Connected
Transactions

During the Year, the Group had the following connected
fransactions with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company and certain Directors had material
inferests, directly or indirectly, in certain tfransactions:

A. Continuing Connected Transactions -
Master Agreement on purchase of products
and consultancy services (“Master Furniture
Agreement”)

Date: 3 March 2023
Parties: (1) the Company
@  Uferts
Term: From 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026
Nature: Ulferts and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to

as “Ulferts Group”) (i) sell furniture and accessories
products; (i) sell furniture coupons; and (iii) provide
furniture procurement consultancy services and
such other types of ancillary services 1o members
of the Group for projects or for own consumption in
the ordinary course of business of the Group.

Connected The Company and Ulferts were indirectly
relationship controlled by the respective private discretionary
and Directors’ frusts which were both founded by Dr. Yeung.
interest: As such, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,

Ulferts was a deemed connected person of the
Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung
had deemed interest in the transactions by virtue
of being respectively an associate of the eligible
beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of the
relevant private discretionary frust controlling
Ulferts.

Announcement: 3 March 2023

Aggregate During the Year, the amounts of HK$460,000 was paid
amounts: to Ulferts Group for the purchase of furniture and
obtaining consulfancy services under the Master

Fumiture Agreement.

Emperor International Holdings
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B. Continuing Connected Transactions - 2024
Master Leasing Agreements

28

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature:

23 March 2023

(1) Agreement 1. the Company and Emperor
Wé&J

(2) Agreement 2: the Company and Emperor
Capital

(3) Agreement 3: the Company and Emperor
Culture

(4) Agreement 4: the Company and Ulferts

(®) Agreement 5: the Company and AY
Holdings, being the agent acting on behalf
of all companies (including their respective
associates) directly or indirectly controlled by
various private discretionary trusts founded
by Dr. Yeung, other than the Group, Emperor
Capital, Emperor Culture, Emperor W&J,
Ulferts and their respective subsidiaries
(collectively “AY Group”)

(6) Agreement 6 (Note). Emperor E Hotel and
Emperor W&J

(the above counter-parties are collectively as
"members of Emperor Group”’, Agreement 1 to
Agreement 6 are collectively as “2024 MLAs")

From 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2027

Each of 2024 MLAs sets out the framework of the
ferms governing all existing and future tenancy/
licensing fransaction(s) (“Tenancy Transaction(s)”)
regarding leasing of certain office properties or
other properties (including retail shop, warehouses,
carpark spaces, signage or signboard spaces) to
the members of Emperor Group with aggregate
tenancy annual caps being set for each of the
financial years ended/ending 31 March 2025, 2026
and 2027 (*Aggregate Tenancy Annual Caps”).

Pursuant to the 2024 MLAs, relevant members of
the Group and any member(s) of Emperor Group
(as the case may be) may from time to time
enter info any definitive leasing agreements in
relafion to any Tenancy Transactions (“Definitive
Leasing Agreement(s)”). The terms of each of
Definitive Leasing Agreements shall be on normal
commercial terms or on ferms which are no less
favorable than terms offered by independent
third parties. The terms and rental shall be subject
to arm’s length negotiation and be determined
based on the condition of the properties and with
reference to the then prevailing market rents on
property(ies) comparable in location, area and
permitted use.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Connected The Company and the members of Emperor Group MEMRGRRE AR NEEEEMERBELEL
relationship  were indirectly controlled by private discretionary B2iEG: ZAABBEEBRES R RE
and Directors’ trusts which were all founded by Dr. Yeung. As such, EHRAEUAS REEERMER
inferest: under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, each of the BARRBZEEAL -EZTRIBL

members of the Emperor Group was a deemed EDRAEHHEEEREZZET
connected person of the Company. Ms, Semon ANBERAEGERRTAZHEAR
Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed inferest in —(UEEBR BN BMHERBART
the transactions by virtue of being respectively SHPERRR

an associate of the eligible beneficiaries and an

eligible beneficiary of the private discretionary

frusts controlling the members of Emperor Group.

Announcement: 14 July 2023 YN—H 202378 14R

Circular: 23 August 2023 120N 2023%8H23H

Independent 19 September 2023 BIRE  2023F9519H
Shareholders’ ##:
approval:

Aggregate During the Year, the aggregate amounts of the ‘mE: RAEE CEEERRBHMENREN
amounts: renfal income of the Tenancy Transactions from the ZHAERZHEWALENT:

relevant members of the Emperor Group were as
follows:-
HKS’000
Members of Emperor Group HEEEME THET
Emperor W&J (Nofe) HEERNE () 49,888
Emperor Capital HEEAR 8,210
Emperor Culture HEXIEEE 13,168
Ulferts BNt 6,363
AY Group BREE 22,733
Nofte: Emperor E Hotel ceased to be the Company’s Hisz: H 2R ECAE 52024588 30HER

subsidiary on 30 August 2024. The transactions
between Emperor E Hotel and Emperor W&J
under 2024 Master Leasing Agreement ceased
as continuing connected fransactions of the
Company on the same day. The aggregate
amount of rental income of the Tenancy
Transactions from Emperor W&J included the
transactions under the Agreement 1 for the Year
and the Agreement 6 for the period from 1 April
2024 1o 30 August 2024,

BARREZWE AR 2024F 181
EfZET REREAEARSBER
GLEETZRGRABETERAEA
RZFERER 7 HREBHAKEN
WZHERZHEWARBLREEF
EREHZ—ETZIR A KR2024F4
A1HZE20245 858 308 B RE R =
NETZRFe
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C. Continuing Connected Transactions -
Service Agreement (“Service Agreement”)
in relation to the operation of Grand
Emperor Hotel

30

Date:

Parties and
connected
relationship:

Term:

Nature:

Announcements:

Receipt:

Nofte:

30 December 2022 and 26 April 2023 (for an
addendum)

(1) Tin Hou Limited (*Tin Hou"), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Emperor E Hotel which
is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company until 30 August 2024

(2) SJM Resorts, S.A. ("SIM™), a company
incorporated in Macau, which was principally
engaged in gaming business in Macau and
was one of the six concessionaires/sub-
concessionaires licensed to carry on casino
operations in Macau. SIM had 19.99% equity
inferest in Luck United Holdings Limited (*Luck
United”), an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of Emperor E Hotel, and was a
connected person of the Company by virtue
of being a substantial shareholder of the then
subsidiary of the Company.

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025

The provision of services including management
services and promotion services by Tin Hou to SIM
in relation to the operation of Grand Emperor Hotel
whereas Tin Hou shall be entitled to percentage
sharing of the gross gaming revenue in respect
of the monthly operating performance of the
gaming area of Grand Emperor Hotel and bear all
necessary operational expenses in relation to the
operation of the gaming area.

30 December 2022, 21 February 2023 and 25
January 2024

For the period from 1 April 2024 to 30 August 2024
(Note), the Group’s receipt amount under the
Service Agreement was HK$210,201,000.

Emperor E Hotel and its subsidiaries, Tin Hou and
Luck United, ceased to be subsidiaries of the
Company on 30 August 2024. SIM ceased to
be a connected person of the Company on
the same day. These transactions ceased to be
the continuing connected fransactions of the
Company on 30 August 2024 accordingly.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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D. Continuing Connected Transactions - D.
Financial Services Agreements on provision
of wide range of financial services
(“Financial Services Agreements™)

Agreement 1 Agreement 2
("2024 FSA")
Date: 22 June 2021 1 December 2023
Term: From 1 October 2021 fo  From 1 October 2024 to
30 September 2024 30 September 2027
Parties: (1) the Company, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor

W&J, Emperor Culture, New Media Lab (for
2024 FSA only) and Ulferts (collectively *Listed
Members of Emperor Group”)

(2) Emperor Capital

Nature: Emperor Capital and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Emperor Capital Group”) shall
provide wide range of financial services to the
Listed Members of Emperor Group including (i)
brokerage services for securities, futures and
options trading; (i) wealth management and
asset management services; (i) placing and
underwriting services; (iv) financing services
including margin loans facilities, initial public
offering financing and terms loans; and (v)
financial advisory service on normal commercial
terms with reference fo the market price no less
favourable to the Group than those available to
independent third parties.

Connected The Company and Emperor Capital were indirectly
relationship controlled by the respective private discretionary
and Directors’ frusts which were both founded by Dr. Yeung.
interest: As such, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,

Emperor Capital was a deemed connected person
of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex
Yeung had deemed inferest in the fransactions by
virtue of being respectively an associate of the
eligible beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of
the relevant private discretionary trust controlling

Emperor Capital.
Announcement: 17 April 2024
Aggregate During the Year, the amounts of HK$2,145,000 was
amounts: paid to Emperor Capital Group for provision of
wide range of financial services under the Financial
Services Agreements.
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ERERLERBAERS —
Bt &Accurate Choice
Developments Limited
(TAccurate Choicel) ZZB&

E. Very Substantial Disposal and Connected E.
Transaction - Sale and Purchase Agreement
in relation to the disposal of entire interest
in Accurate Choice Developments Limited

32

(“Accurate Choice™) EZEE R

Date: 19 July 2024 BE: 202475198

Parties: (1) Emperor Property Investment Limited (“EPIL"), R () HENELEERAR (TEEY

a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the BB ) AATSIZEEREMN
Company BAT
(2) Oriental Peak Limited (*Oriental Peak”), a (2) Oriental Peak Limited
company indirectly controlled by a private (TOriental Peaky) » —fEH#51E
discretionary trust as founded by Dr. Yeung TR 2 ARIEE B
HAE
Nature: EPIL entered into a sale and purchase agreement 4g: BEWELEE Oriental Peaks] 1L
with Oriental Peak, pursuant fo which EPIL BERS B BEYELEEELE
conditionally agreed to sell and Oriental Peak B2 HEMOriental PeakE & [F
conditionally agreed to acquire (a) the entire EBEOAREBEE2ENBAR
equity interest of Accurate Choice, an indirect Accurate Choice (B FELAEEZ
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which EROLBREYE BREELEMIL)
indirectly holds the non-core investment properties 2281, & () Accurate Choice
of the Group covering various locations in Hong ERRSMELE 72 BET REA
Kong and (b) the entire amount of the loan due 1,142,352,000% 70 °
by Accurate Choice to EPIL af a consideration of
HK$1,142,352,000.

Connected The Company and Oriental Peak were indirectly FERER Z/A5 K&Orental PeaktgmtgE+ Al
relationship  controlled by respective private discretionary frusts EE7 U7 &M ARIBETEEES R
and Directors’ which were both founded by Dr. Yeung. As such, . 1R 88| % 14AZ Oriental Peak
interest: under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Oriental WHRARNB ZBEBEANT BEZTRE

Peak was a deemed connected person of the S DB A4 Oriental PeakZ 18
Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung IWARNBEAZEERSEAZHE
had deemed interest in the transaction by virtue ABR—EBBRZTHEN HEEWEE
of being respectively an associate of the eligible PR ETREEEL

beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of the

relevant private discretionary frust controlling

Oriental Pecak.

Announcement: 19 July 2024 N 202478198

Circular: 30 August 2024 BR 2024%8H30H

Independent 16 September 2024 BURR 2024595168
Shareholders’ i
approval:

Completion: 17 September 2024 = 2024598178

Emperor International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024/2025 3k

REEREEERDE




Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

F. Connected Transaction - Sale and F.
Purchase Agreement in relation to the
disposal of a residential unit at One
Jardine’s Lookout

Date: 14 November 2024

Parties: (1) Rich Gallant Investment Limited ("Rich
Gallant”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

(2) Serial Rich Limited (“Serial Rich™), a company
of which Dr. Yeung and his associates
(“Yeung's Family”) were the ultimate
beneficial owners

Nature: Rich Gallant accepted the tender and entered
info a sale and purchase agreement with Serial
Rich, pursuant to which Rich Gallant agreed to sell
and Serial Rich agreed to purchase the residential
unit af a consideration of HK$32,900,000.

Connected With the Yeung's Family being the ultimate
relationship ~ beneficial owner, Serial Rich was a connected
and Directors’ person of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr.
interest: Alex Yeung had deemed inferest in the fransaction

as being members of the Yeung's Family.

Announcement: 14 November 2024
Completion: 28 April 2025

G. Discloseable and Connected Transaction G.
- Sale and Purchase Agreement in relation
to the disposal of entire interest in King Hero
Investments Limited (“King Hero”)

Date: 28 February 2025
Parties: (1) EPL

(2 Emperor Watch & Jewellery (HK & Macau)
Holdings Limited (“Emperor W&J (HK &
Macau)”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of Emperor W&J

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Nature: EPIL entered info a sale and purchase agreement
with Emperor W&J (HK & Macau), pursuant
to which EPIL conditionally agreed to sell and
Emperor W&J (HK & Macau) conditionally agreed
fo acquire (0) the entire equity interest of King
Hero, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company which indirectly holds the property
consisting of the space on 2/F to 4/F and the
advertising space of Nos. 4-8 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and (b) the entire
amount of the loan due by King Hero to EPIL at a
consideration of HK$79,800,000.

The Company and Emperor W&J were indirectly
controlled by respective private discretionary frusts
which were both founded by Dr. Yeung. As such,
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Emperor
W&J (HK & Macau) was a deemed connected
person of the Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr.
Alex Yeung had deemed interest in the transaction
by virtue of being respectively an associate of the
eligible beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of
the relevant private discretionary trust controlling
Emperor W&J (HK & Macau).

28 February 2025
31 March 2025
16 April 2025

Connected
relationship
and Directors’
interest:

Announcement:
Circular:

Independent
Shareholders’
approval:

Completion: On or before 29 August 2025 or within 7 business
days following satisfaction of all the conditions
precedent to completion pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement, whichever is the later or
such other dafe as mutually agreed by EPIL and

Emperor W&J (HK & Macau)

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save for "Rental income from related companies” (under the
2024 MLAs), “Purchase of furniture from a related company”
(under the Master Furniture Agreement) and “Financial
advisory expenses to related companies” (under Financial
Services Agreements), in the amount of HK$100,362,000,
HK$460,000 and HK$2,145,000 respectively for the Year as
shown in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report which constituted continuing connected
fransactions ("CCTs") of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, all other transactions as shown in that note
are connected transactions exempted fromn announcement,
reporting, annual review, and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the above non-exempt connected transactions.
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Independent Auditor’s Letier on Non-exempt
CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report
on the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
("Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants,

The independent auditor issued an unqualified conclusion in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive
Directors on Non-exempt CCTs

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs reviewed
the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and confirmed
that these transactions had been entered into by the Group:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal or better commercial terms (as the case may
be); and

@) according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract which was significant in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which ensures
a clear link to business strategy and a close alignment with
the Shareholders’ interest and current market best practice).
Remuneration should be paid with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives, the salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the executive and non-executive Directors, intfernal equity of
employment conditions across the Group and applicability of
performance-based remuneration. The Directors’ fees are paid
in line with market practice. No individual should determine his
or her own remuneration.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’
fees, housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes,
discretionary bonus relating to the financial performance
of the Group and individual performance, ad-hoc rewards,
share options and other competitive fringe benefits such as
medical and life insurances. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

Events after Reporting Period

Details of significant events which took place subbsequent to
the reporting period are set out in note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of af least 25% of the issued Shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

Independent Auditor

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for
its re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Luk Siu Man, Semon
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
*Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
the Shareholders, investors, employees as well as other
stakeholders of the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure
complionce with the code provisions of Corporate
Governance Code ("CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules so as to having effective application of the
principles of good corporate governance. During the Year,
the Company fully complied with all code provisions of the
CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity,
excellence in products and services, people first and positivity,
which is underpinned by its purpose and values that enable
employees at all levels of the Group to thrive and meet their
full potentials by acting in a lawful, ethical and responsible
manner that allows the Company to deliver sustainable long
term performance and operate in a way that benefits society
and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they
are intfegrated throughout the Company’s operational
practices, workplace policies and practices and stakeholder
relationships:

EFETRNA/ERBMFTSKFZEEER
UHERASRR - ARBREE EEUKREME
NERHBE BERABHE I ZHE-

EFORMBIEABR URFRET EHRAM
BRCIFmEEEERTA (TREERTH) Z
STAMESO UEMERRFEEE R ZRA RN
AEERN ALATDEEEEBTEEERTAZ
FRASFRIME -

B EE R RS

ARBUFRERBESSERZBEEXIE
FEUEE L -BEERRS UARBE RIE
M EMRER XNEAEEZREERFLUE
BT A EFERREBEENTELIATD#
BB WHARATDERERAENEES R W
EERFAERREN T NEEER

TABMFERBEHESEENTABRTRM
B ERABRERBURARTRTNESE
BB THRSMBRRERURFNERGER:

2

Purpose Emperor’s Values

= HEEER

To engage and delight our stakeholders for success E thical ETEE

BT S EIRAFD E » SRR Y M ofivation Bk i
P ursuit of Integrity WETE
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and
shaping the corporate culture of the Company, as well
as defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group, which are under review by the Board. Taking
info account the corporate culture is reflected in various
contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee retention
and fraining, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, values and
strategy of the Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance
of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

After the refirement of a Non-executive Director and an
Executive Director on 1 September 2024 and 1 April 2025
respectively, the Board currently comprises six Directors, with
one Non-executive Director who is also the Chairperson of the
Board, two Executive Directors and three INEDs. Names and
biographical details of the members of the Board are set out
from pages 15 to 18 of this annual report under “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” section. All of them possess
the skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry
or relevant to the management of the business of the Group.

Ms. Semon Luk is the mother of Mr. Alex Yeung. Save as
disclosed above, there are no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other materials/relevant relations)
among Directors.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the following mechanisms were established:

* sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three, representing
more than one-third of the Board;

¢ no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairperson and the
Managing Director ensures that there is a balance of
power and authority; and

e annual meeting between the Chairperson and all INEDs
without presence of other Directors provides an effective
platform for the Chairperson to listen to independent
views on various issues concerning the Group.
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During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of
these mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.

The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting
out the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to the business
nature of the Company. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a wide range of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
fime to fime. The merits and conftribution that will bring o
the Board for any Director proposed for re-election or any
candidate nominated to be Director will also be assessed,
taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and
the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed
in the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of
educational background, professional knowledge, industry
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the
Board as at 31 March 2025 is summarized as follows:

() Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age
Distribution and Length of Service

Number of Directors
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(i) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience
RERERES

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience
MERITTER R K5

Business Management

EBER

Legal/Regulatory

ERRE

Financial & Accounting

5B g 5t

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
RESR B R B IR

The Board'’s gender diversity level was relatively high compared
to other companies listed on the Stock Exchange, with three
female directors out of seven (42.9%) as at the year end.
During the Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board
reviewed the gender diversity target of having no less than 25%
female directors on the Board and considered that the current
gender diversity of the Board was appropriate, balanced
and exceeding the target set. Therefore, no timeline or plan
was proposed for further enhancing the gender diversity of
the Board for the time being. The Nomination Committee will
continue reviewing the composition of the Board to maintain
diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, our total workforce comprised of
55% female and 45% male, whereas senior management
comprised of 43% female and 57% male. The current gender
diversity of workforce was appropriate taking info account the
business models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election provisions under the Bye-laws of
the Company and the Listing Rules. Based on the annual
review conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considered each of them to be independent with reference
fo the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Process

Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year,
additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees
established by the Board to consider specific matters, were
convened, when necessary.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the HAEESEEZHFELHZBREIIWT:
Year is set out below:

Non-executive Directors ERTES
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon BENELE 111 (@C) NATER NATERE  NATER N/ATERE  NATEA 2/2
M. Cheung Ping Keung (Note 1) 3R IRS& %4 (Ha#1) 5/5  N/ARER N/ARERE  NARER NAREBRE  NARER I
Executive Directors WiTES
Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, TRBRESE (a2
Alexonder (Note 2) 11 NARER 11 mn N/ATER 22/22 (C) 2/2
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa ekt cheqn /11 N/ARER N/ARER  NARER 1/1(©C) 2/22 2/2
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Note 2) HEEREE (a2 /11 N/ARER N/ARER  NATER N/ARER 22/22 (C) 2/2
Independent Non-executive BiuERTES
Directors
Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE nm 2/2 N 1M1EC)  NARER  NATER 2/2
Mr. Poon Yan Wai BLREE nm 2/2(C) N/ATER I 1 NATEHR 2/2
Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, MEELL (M3
Susanna (Nofe 3) 6/6 n 11(C)  NATEH N/ATER  NATER mn
Mr. Chan Hon Piu (Nofe 4) BEZEAE (a4 5/5 11 NAREREC) NATER 11 NARER I
Total number of meetings held EEE AL 1 2 1 1 1 2 2
C: Chairperson/chairman of the Board/committee C: B8 LESIFE
Notes: Bzt

1. Mr Cheung Ping Keung was refired as a Director with effect from 1. SRIFSRSEB2024F98 1HEEREEE-
1 September 2024.

2. Mr Alex Yeung was appointed as the Chairman of the Executive 2. #HBEEB2024F 88 20HEEZEANITEZES

Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the FTRRAABDFHNEEGREUMAESESLE
Company in place of Mr. Wong Chi Fai ("Mr. Bryan Wong”) with (T&&ZE)) BRENKTFENEERAT T
effect from 20 August 2024. Mr. Bryan Wong remained as a member ZEEMB-

of the Executive Committee of the Company during the Year.

3. Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna ("Ms. Susanna Kwan”) was elected as 3. BIfEE L+ (ML 1) RAAF2024F KR RIBF

Director at the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company (*2024 KE (M024FRRBEFARE)) L EERAEET
AGM") and was appointed as the Chairperson of the Remuneration REHEZEAERRBDHFTNEETETFUREZ
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate ZEERtEERZEENE.

Governance Committee of the Company on the same day.

4.  Mr. Chan Hon Piu refired as Director at the 2024 AGM and 4. PEERELENR2024FREREFAE LIREEST
automatically ceased to act as the Chairman of the Remuneration REHEB:NEIEEETEARABDHFHNEETEE UL
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate BREEERTCEEREZEENE-

Governance Committee of the Company on the same day.
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During the Year, the Chairperson held a meeting with INEDs
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance
with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

The Company received biannual confirmation from each
Director that he/she has given sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company during the Year. Directors
also disclosed to the Company the changes, if any, in the
number and nature of offices they held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitment, including
the identity of the public companies or organisations and an
indication of the fime involved.

Ms. Semon Luk acts as the Chairperson of the Board who
provides leadership to the Board. During the Year, the day-to-
day management of the Group was delegated by the Board
to the Managing Directors, Mr. Bryan Wong and Ms. Vanessa
Fan who were responsible for the Group’s strategic planning,
business growth and development. The segregation of duties
made the Board and the operation of the Group function
effectively.

The Chairperson sets the agenda for the Board and ensures
that members of the Board receive accurate, timely and clear
information, and that matters to be taken into consideration
are given their due weight, so that sound decisions can
be made. With the assistance of the Company Secretary,
the Chairperson ensures that the Board properly exercises
its powers, holds its meetings and implements procedures
in compliance with all rules and requirements, and full and
proper records are maintained.

If a Director has conflict of inferest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has deftermined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. That Director will abstain from
voting on the relevant Board resolution and he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at such Board meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have
access to supporting papers and relevant information for
each scheduled meeting. All Directors also have access to
the services of the Company Secretary and her tfeam, and
may fake independent professional advice upon request, at
the Company’s expense.
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Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Besides,
the Company provides Directors with regular updates on
changes to and developments of the Group’s business, and
on the latest developments in the laws, rules and regulations
relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them
make informed decisions and discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record of
fraining to the Company:

Name of Directors

Exus

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon
S+

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
B IEBE ST 4

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
BEEL L

Mr. Wong Chi Fai
BAEELEE

Mr. Chu Kar Wing
KRERTE

Mr. Poon Yan Wai
B ERE

Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna (appointed on 20 August 2024)

RAf5 2+ (102024585 200 E &)

Mr. Chan Hon Piu (retired on 20 August 2024)
PRIEIZ A (722024685 20H E1E)

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung (retired on 1 September 2024)
SRAFSR A (722024F98 1HIRIK)

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
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Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consisted of all Executive
Directors during the Year, namely Mr. Alex Yeung
(Chairman of the Committee), Ms. Vanessa Fan and Mr.
Bryan Wong. It had all powers and authorities of the Board
except the following major matters as set out in a “Formal
Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by the
Board™:

i. determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

ii. approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

ii. declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

iv. approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

V. approving publication of announcements for
notifiable transactions under the Listing Rules;

vi. approving non-exempt connected transactions/non-
exempt continuing connected tfransactions (other
than those transactions took place from time to time
under the master agreement(s) previously approved
by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may be))
under the Listing Rules; and

vii. approving major capital restructuring and issue of
new securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment,
social and governance ("ESG”) initiatives of the Group,
a sub-committee under the Executive Committee known
as the ESG Committee was set up. The ESG Committee
consists of representatives from operation and supporting
departments and the Executive Committee. It has the
powers and authorities as delegated by the Executive
Committee to formulate and execute relevant ESG action
plan, and assess and make recommendations on matters
concerning the Group’s sustainability development and
ESG risks and opportunities.
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2. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr.
Andy Poon (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Chu Kar
Wing ("Mr. Chu”) and Ms. Susanna Kwan.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the welbsites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the independent auditor the effectiveness
of audit process and the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, and the
accuracy and fairness of the annual consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31
March 2024 (“Previous Year”) and the condensed
consolidated interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30 September 2024;

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and infernal control systems of the Group for the
Previous Year;

ii. performed an annual review of the non-exempt CCTs
of the Group for the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment
of independent auditor at the 2024 AGM;

V. reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit
services payable to the independent auditor;

vi. reviewed the independence of the independent
auditor and approved its engagement;

vii. approved the audit plan for the Year; and

viii. reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qudlifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.
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Remuneration Committee

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee consisted
of three members, namely Ms. Kwan Shin Luen, Susanna
(Chairperson of the Committee) and Mr. Chu, both being
INEDs, and Mr. Alex Yeung, being an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are posted
on the welsites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made
recommendation to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management
and recommended the Board to approve their
specific packages.

Before making recommendation to the Board, the
Remuneration Committee has reviewed and assessed
the remuneration package of the Directors with reference
to the Group’s operating results, duties and level of
responsibility of the Directors and the prevailing market
conditions. Details of the remuneration of each of
the Directors for the Year are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Nomination Committee

During the Year, the Nomination Committee consisted
of three members, namely Mr. Chu (Chairman of the
Committee) and Mr. Andy Poon, both being INEDs, and
Mr. Alex Yeung, being an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating
policy and making recommendations to the Board
on nomination, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, and Board succession pursuant to the
Nomination Policy adopted by the Company.
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The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity
Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating new Director
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (i) making
recommendation to Directors and Shareholders regarding
any Director proposed for election or re-election at
general meeting; and (i) nomination by Shareholders on
election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential
candidates from any source as it may consider
appropriate and evaluate them by considering various
factors, including their professional expertise, industry
and business experience, time commitments, potential
contributions to board diversity, material conflict of
interest with the Group (if any) and independence (for
INEDs). The Committee will then make recommendation
of suitable candidates to the Board for consideration
of appointment. In case of re-appointment of existing
Directors who will retire at an annual general meeting
CAGM"), the Committee will review the retirement of
Directors and make recommendations to the Board
accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board;

i. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

ii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding
independent views available to the Board;

iv. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

V. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing
their duties as Directors;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors at the 2024 AGM; and

vii. reviewed the gender diversity farget at Board level.

REBREAWYRZEEEREESRT
ZREBRRYEREZETENEEANE
URETBRAERORESNEFEMESTZ
BREBS =GR, (DPLB IR AE EESENE
ENENEEFHESARRELEZ &
(IHERREZMEFSEZRZER
REREF-

REZE5GURHEIBTENEAREY
BEREA TEBEZESIBERZHKS
ET M BERENEENM TERE
BB FERAHNEFELTENER
BEREAEENEANZER (WA &
B GLBLIFAITESEMES) ZEF
BRERAOESGHEESENGEEA US
FHELZAE-HEMEZERITRREBERE
(TREBFEARE)) LRENREES &
EgRERESFHNRET IRILOESES
RHEZ

REZEENAFERBITZ TIFHRES
g

i BREFENER ABERAREZT
1E5

ii. WNEFEMEZITIEEER,;

il. WEMEFSTEIBIERMEKN
il

iv. WEEIIIFRTESZEIME;

V. BNESEETEEREMOTENE
B

vi. FIR2024FERFBEFEAEG LERES
MEFTRLER, &

vii,. BENEFERENMRZTIEER.

Emperor International Holdings Limited #EZEMREEER A 7
Annual Report 2024/2025 £}

47




Corporate Governance Report
ETEELARS

5. Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee (CG
Committee”) consists of five members, namely Ms.
Vanessa Fan (Chairperson of the Committee), being
the Managing Director, Mr. Andy Poon and Ms. Susanna
Kwan, both being INEDs, a representative from company
secretarial function and a representative from finance
and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the Company’s website. The
primary duties of the CG Committee are (i) developing
and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Company ("CG Policy”) and making
recommendations to the Board; (i) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(i) developing, reviewing and monitoring the codes of
conduct applicable to Directors and relevant employees
of the Group regarding dealings in the Company’s
securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; and (v) reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
annual report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the CG Policy;

i. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

ii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

V. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee
of the Company, duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
fraining.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the EIHL Securities Code as its own
code of conduct regarding securities fransactions by Directors
on No less exacting terms than the required standard as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules regarding the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard of dealings
as set out in the EIHL Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules.
The management has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on internal consolidated financial statements
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
were prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements were prepared on a “going concern”
basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary) and showed a frue view of the state of affairs of
the Group for the Year. The management provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board on the consolidated
financial statements to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval. The independent auditor of the Company
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

A. Goals and Objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. The
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
confrol systems ("Risk Control Systems”) are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
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The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:

e safeguarding assets and the interests of the
Shareholders;

* ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports;

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws; and

*  promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

Internal control policies and procedures within the Group
are updated regularly with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on
a basic framework of Risk Control Systems.

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal
control measures and procedures covering governance,
operational, financial and compliance controls; and (ii)
risk management functions in the principal subsidiaries
for the Year.

Internal Control

The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is set out
as follows:

(1) Governance Control
The Board

e responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

e oversee the Risk Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of the Audit Committee;

e ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective Risk Control Systems;

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority; and

e determine the nature and extent of significant
risks (including the environmental, social and
governance ("ESG”) risks) that the Group is willing
to take in achieving the strategic objectives
and formulate the Group’s risk management
strategies.
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Audit Committee

e review and discuss the Risk Control Systems
with the management annually tfo ensure that
the management has performed its duty to
maintain effective Risk Control Systems. This
discussion includes the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, and the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function as well as those relating to the
Company’s ESG performance and reporting;

e review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability
to respond to changes in ifs business and the
external environment;

e consider major findings on internal control matters
(if any) raised by internal and independent
auditor and make recommendations to the
Board; and

* review and discuss annually the significant control
failings or weaknesses that are identified by the
auditor.

Executive Committee

¢ with the assistance of the ESG Committee, review
the effectiveness of ESG-related Risk Control
Systems and report to the Audit Committee for
its review.

The management (including heads of business
unifs, deparfments and divisions)
e design and implement the Risk Control Systems’

policies and procedures duly endorsed by senior
management and the Board;

¢ monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and
ensure that they are executed effectively;

e monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks
in their day-to-day operations;

e give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters raised by
infernal or independent auditors; and

e provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems.
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Internal Audit Department

carry out audit checking on sample basis and
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Risk Control Systems in respect of controls of all
material aspects;

alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities (if any) and advise them
on the implementation of necessary steps and
actions to enhance the infernal confrols of the
Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on a regular basis.

2) Operohonql Control

Approach taken: The management
communicates with relevant staff and
reviews relevant documentation of the Risk
Conftrol Systems and evaluates findings of any
deficiencies in the design of the Group’s Risk
Control Systems, then provides recommendations
for improvement and assesses the effectiveness
of implementation of such recommendations,
where appropriate. The scope and findings
of the review on the Risk Control Systems will
be reported to and reviewed by the Audit
Committee annually;

Procedure manuals and operational
guidelines: Manuals and guidelines are in place
to safeguard the assets against unauthorized use
or disposition and ensure maintfenance of proper
accounting records that are in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules and regulations for
the provision of reliable financial information for
infernal use and/or external publication;

Management information system and
technology: To confrol over the business
activities, it allows close fracking of various
inputs and outputs of the Group’s business such
as products and customer relationship and
human resources. It also fracks audit trails in the
authorization system, under which permissions
and responsibility of authorization are clearly
identified and adequate records can be
maintained in the Risk Control Systems;
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Vi.

Vii.

Viil,

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on
a regular basis. Variance reports are prepared
based on actual results and approved budgets;

Safeguarding of assets: Insurance coverage
on various assets is periodically reviewed by the
management for sufficient coverage, and to
ensure compliance with the terms and conditions
of the insurance policies. Surprise physical cash
count of hotels and assets count of serviced
apartments are performed by Operation Finance
tfeam;

Service quality control: Operational systems
of hotel and gaming business segments are
reviewed regularly to ensure the service quality,
and questionnaires are provided in different
outlets to welcome customers’ feedbacks for
our service improvement;

Control on leasing of properties: Policies and
checklists on control of rental revenue, lease
terms and conditions, appointment of property
management and leasing agent, asset security
and maintenance review as well as establishment
of credit control team are in place for leasing of
Group’s premises;

Control on property sale: Checklist and
breakdown on control of property for sale and
stock on hand are in place; and

Control on acquisition of properties: Internal
procedures on the acquisition of properties are
in place.

Financial Control

Policies, systems and procedures are in
place to ensure proper accounting records are
maintained which provide complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management
information;

Financial management report are provided to
all Directors and senior management which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s performance, financial position and
prospects in sufficient details;
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Annual financial budget and quarterly
forecasts are prepared and reviewed regularly
to ensure any actions can be taken to mitigate
any changes in condifions and market
accordingly;

Annual audit by independent auditor is carried
out to ensure that the consolidated financial
statements and individual companies’ financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
lows and regulations; and

24 months cash flow rolling forecast is regularly
reviewed to monitor the cash flows against
budget plan.

(4) Compliance Control

Systems and procedures on disclosure of
inside information to ensure, with the assistance
of an internal work team (if required), that
any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers should
be promptly identified, assessed and escalated,
where appropriate, for the attention of the
Board. The Board shall make timely decisions on
disclosure, if necessary, and take appropriate
measures to preserve confidentiality of inside
information until proper dissemination of inside
information;

Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which
shall be reviewed and monitored regularly by
the Corporate Governance Commifttee as
delegated by the Board in order to ensure the
Group is in compliance with all the applicable
laws, statutes, rules and regulations and to keep
up on any legal developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
fransactions and CCTs of the Group and ensure
proper compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;
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Whistle-blowing policy is established to provide
reporting channels and guidance for employees
and related third parties who have business
deadlings with the Group (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about any suspected misconduct
or malpractice within the Group. The Audit
Committee, delegated by the Board, shall ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair
and independent investigation of any concerns
raised, appropriate follow-up actions are taken
and other recommendations are provided, if
thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to outline
the Group’s zero-tolerance stance against
bribery and corruption and assists employees
in recognising circumstances that may lead to
or give the appearance of being involved in
corruption or unethical business conduct, so as to
avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited,
and to promptly seek guidance where necessary
or report any reasonably suspected case of
corruption or any attempts thereof, to the
management through an appropriate reporting
channel; and

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedure is established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing of
terrorism. It provides guideline to combat money
laundering and terrorist and help the Group’s
employees identify and assess clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors/transactions/
activities of high risk of money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and take
appropriate measures and actions.

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of infernal control is tested by Infernal
Audit Department regularly. The internal audit reviews
and agreed action plans shall be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on a timely basis.
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(1) Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk analysis, risk evaluation, risk
management measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with dufies fo
identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and
communicate risks associated with any activity,
function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. Risks are evaluated by the Board and
management based on (i) the severity of the impact
of the risk on the Group’s financial results; and (i) the
probability and frequency that the risk will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risks as follows:-

- Risk elimination - the management may
identify the risks and implement certain changes
or controls that in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation - the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood and impact of the risk to
an acceptable level or contingency plan for
possible loss scenarios.

- Risk control and monitoring - it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not. Accidents
and other situations involving loss or near-loss will
be investigated and properly documented as
part of the effort fo manage risks.

- Risk retention - the management may decide
that the risk ratfing is low enough that the risk is at
an acceptable level and no action is required
and the risk will continue to be monitored
as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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(2) Significant Risks and Strategies (2) EXEME R KR

Certain significant risks (including ESG risks) have been
identified through the process of risk identification
and assessment. Such significant risks of the Group
and their respective key strategies/control measures
as set out below:

Changes in social, economic and political
environment:

Changes and volatility in general economic
conditions caused by China-USA tensions, global
economic slowdown, increase/decrease in money
supply and foreign exchange issue would have
impact on Hong Kong property market. Any more
adverse change in one of the above situations would
have significant impact to the Group’s business.

e Stay alert to changes in economic and market
condifions in mainland China and Hong Kong or
global economy and adjust business strategic
plans to cope with these changes.

Investment strategy:

Acquisitions of land, investment and development
properties carry inherent risks related to significant
amount of money, missing targets, poor project
management, design, development and sales or
wrong investment decision would have significant
adverse impact on Group’s overall business.

L]

Regularly review investment and business strategy
against overall business environment;

Investment decisions are subject to a robust
risk and return evaluation by executives and
supervision by the Finance and Investment
Committee;

Potential projects are subject to an extensive
due diligence review by in-house specialists
and external advisers. Offers are only made for
projects with reasonable return or of strategic
value;

Ensure there are experienced managers
managing the projects; and

Completed projects are subject to continual
monitoring and intfernal audit, with regular
performance reports to the Management.
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Rental income sustainability:

Loss of major tenants or rental reduction either due
to changes in tenants’ own strategy, market situation
or competition among landlords would adversely
impact the revenue of the Group.

Closely monitor any adverse market conditions,
work with fenants to mitigate the impact;

Maintain a well-balanced and quality fenant mix;

Maintain high property marketability by timely
renovation;

Invite targeted tenants or anchor tenants to
our existing or new properties from time to time.
Custom-made arrangements are offered where
appropriate to cater for their specific needs;

Propose short term lease restructure for quality
tfenants in order to help sustain their businesses;
and

Carry out pre-lease campaigns to replace the
undesirable tenants.

Business/Portfolio conceniration:

A significant portion of our Group revenues is derived
from Hong Kong. Unfavourable events in the city
could disrupt our overall business, lower our revenues
and impact the valuation of our assets.

L]

The Group has a diversified portfolio of investment
properties across Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland
cities and London, the United Kingdom. The
Group will keep sourcing quality investment
properties around the world; and

The Group has maintained a diversified
investment property portfolio including quality
street-level retail spaces in prominent shopping
and residential districts, premium office buildings
and commercial and industrial complexes.
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Property development risks:

Supply of land is subject to the change of land
policies in different markets. Acquisition of land in
Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas markets may
be subject to various regulatory requirements and
restrictions and competition from other developers.
Future growth prospects of property development
business are therefore affected by the availability
and price levels of prime sites in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other overseas markets. Failure to manage cost
of construction labour and materials could adversely
affect the competitiveness of property development
business.

e Participate actively in the land auctions;

e Regularly update the Group’s long/medium/short
term strategic plans on property development
business;

¢ Implement well established policies in our
tendering policy and system;

¢ Monitor project costs closely with strict adherent
to budget;

* Extract advantage from economies of scale
based on our portfolio size, if possible;

e Monitor closely the labour cost and materials
stock/price trends in the industry before awarding
building confracts; and

* Investment through JV structure to reduce the
risk.

Cyber security:

Loss of data and leakage of confidential information
are the largest costs from cyber-crime that the
Company is facing. The cost of recovering from cyber
attacks, including reputational damage, where the
frust in a company decreases and their brand loses
value, is considerable.

e [T Security Committee established to review the
Group’s IT security policies and risks assessment;
e The Company’s IT infrastructure are regularly

scanned and patched;

e Risky external IP addresses are blocked;
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e All'servers and user computers are equipped with
anfivirus or endpoint protection;

e Emails are filtered for spam and malware;

e Password control and user access to the systems
and network elements are regularly updated
and reviewed;

e System backup facilities provide addition layers
of protections; and

e Relevant frainings are provided.

Cost and availability of finance/tight liquidity and
appetite among the banks in real estate sector:

Failure to ensure the availability of funds to meet
our capital expenditure requirements to develop,
maintain and renovate our properties could limit our
ability to remain competitive.

e Stringent cash and treasury management and
allocation of funds and resources;

e Closely monitor financial market and benchmark
borrowing costs;

e Maintain diversified sources of financing;
*  Maintain good relatfion with bankers; and

e Diversify and explore more new banks.

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a
confirmation from the management on the effectiveness
of the Risk Conftrol Systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee and the Board had reviewed the Risk Control
Systems and were not aware of any significant issues
that would have an adverse impact on the effectiveness
and adequacy of the Group’s operational, financial and
compliance areas of the Risk Control Systems.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
infends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and
final dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attributable to its Shareholders after taking intfo consideration
of the factors as stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i) cash
flow requirements for business operations; (i) cash available,
financial liabilities and capital commitment; (i) market
environment and challenges; and (iv) future development
and investment opportunities. The declaration of dividends
or recommendation on such payment shall be subject to all
applicable laws, rules and regulations including but not limited
to the Listing Rules, the applicable laws of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders” Communication Policy
(available on the website of the Company) sets out the
strategies, practices and commitment for maintaining ongoing
and effective communication with Shareholders, both
individual and institutional, and in appropriate circumstances,
the investment community at large so as to enable them
to engage with the Company and exercise their rights as
Shareholders in an informed manner. To this end, the Company
strives to ensure that all Shareholders have ready and fimely
access to all publicly available information of the Group.
To facilitate communication with the Shareholders and the
investment community, the Company has established various
communication channels, as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs
and special general meetings ("SGMs”), if any, which may
be convened for specific purposes to provide opportunities
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board;
(ii) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules and
press releases providing updated information of the Group;
(iiiy the availability of latest information of the Group on the
Company’s website at https://www.Emperorint.com; (iv) the
holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and (v)
meeting with investors and analysts when necessary.

General presentations are made when financial results are
announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders is
made from time to time. Shareholders and investors are
welcome to visit the Company’s website to raise enquiries
through our Investor Relations Department whose contact
details are available on the Company’s website and the
“Corporate Information and Key Dates” section of this annual
report.

Emperor International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024/2025 £}

iz BELER

ARBERMREBR EFHIEFTTEE
RIKETRRZREZBESRZRA XA
BRREERREGE AT MREREHLES
MOFHREERARE (RIERME)  EFEZE
BZBRFIERZ B aiE (WVEHFEEZR
EREBIG(DIAREZ - EMER/RERK
S (M IBRIERIE RAVRKERRKE
HE-BERRENEZFHAERAKNEKANTS
FrTEBRER RARRG BEERRIK LS
RANBREBRZZRRAATATMA

Blig R Zi8iB

KRB R R E AR (AN AR B A IEER)
HIERER (EAREERSRE) UK (EFEEE
MR BAREBEERRREFEREIEBHRR
B RAE U EREMEMEARNE]1ZME LT
FIBER NTEREER At AR B 18 )
R PR 7 AR 51 AE £ BiE By I 48 B 3 S BN A S B B9 P
ERAABEN #EEERERRERNER X
RERBIUTZREBRREE (DVBRITRRESF
RERAIEMFEENMEHANKRRENRE
(TRERFAE)) (WH) BURMHEE ZE
REEZHEEETEEE;(NRE MR R
EFERNE - FER-PHERE R FBEREIRME
REBRTER ZHER; ()R AA T HLh
https://www.Emperorint.com M A £ E
ZERMER (VARFRITEEREE; (V)N
ENEEEERDMESHE

KRB RMBFEERFH2EE M LA
R BRRH T - ARRARURRRKEE
BEXRBMLEKREEREEREREN &
WPIZBAEF B R AR DR REFR A
BENKEZAHI—HER-

REFREEBRAT

61



Corporate Governance Report

EXELRHRS

62

The Chairperson of the Board and the chairperson/members of
the Board Committees, appropriate management executives
and the independent auditor (as the case may be) are
available to attend the general meetings to answer questions
from the Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders” Communication
Policy annually to ensure its implementation and effectiveness.
Having considered the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, the Board is satisfied that the
Shareholders’” Communication Policy was properly in place
during the Year and remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code:

Right to Convene/Call general meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Bye-
laws of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of
the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to
submit a written requisition requiring a SGM 1o be called by the
Board. The written requisition (a) must state the purpose(s) of
the meeting; and (b) must be sighed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the registered office or principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong for aftention of the Company
Secretary, and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such requisition
will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in
order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of a valid requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM for a day not more than 2 months affer the date of
deposit of a proper requisition, the requisitionists or any of
them representing more than one-half of the tfotal voting
rights of all of them may themselves convene a SGM, but any
SGM so convened shall not be held affer the expiration of
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3 months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. In~ BRIAEEMIBRER SR ER A ZHE A NS
addition, such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be  Fie
convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.
Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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EXERRS

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having af the
date of the requisition a right to vote at general meetings of
the Company ("Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to () give
to the Shareholders entitled to receive nofice of the next
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is infended to be moved at that meeting;
and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of
any general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the Requisitionists must be deposited
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses and not less than 6 weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution
or not less than one week before the meeting in the case of
any other requisition. Provided that an AGM is called for a
date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited,
such requisition though not deposited within the time required
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.,

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited. Other Shareholders’
enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations Department
of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND BN 2 3L 1 R B
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor BIZEZECEREEEER 2 £ BRI KE
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity =AM B UBREGESHMEREE T
and effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated BRZEZEMREN L -BEREEGZHER
financial statements in accordance with applicable standards. 2 EE)« A= [R5 & 51617 (T12%h)) BIBiL A
Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that Messrs. > T EZHZEEGR2025FEREAFE AT L1
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ("Deloitte”) was independent and Z2@EEHAXRAT 2B ZEEM R AEERN>
recommended the Board to propose its re-appointment as  EE B A AE B IR HZ B R IFZHRT A
the Company’s independent auditor at the 2025 AGM. During  &£BEEEBN /BN ZEEH I T:

the Year, Deloitte had rendered audit and non-audit services

to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to it by the

Group is set out as follows:

Audit services 1Z SR 75 2,948
Non-audit services IERZBARTS
- Reporting services in respect of disposal —TMHEMNB AR ZHRERTS

of subsidiaries 850
- Reporting services in respect of —M—EITERFGZHRERTS

a major transaction 700
- Reporting services in respect of —PhERZ RS R

rights issue 150
- Agreed-upon procedures in connection —HAERREESRERNGERF

to the Group’s club loans 50

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
EMPEROR INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Emperor International Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 193, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group reported
a loss of HK$4,840,929,000. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s
bank borrowings with carrying amounts of HKS16,604,981,000
in aggregate have become overdue and/or the Group has
breached certain terms of the loan agreements. The banks
may request immediate repayment of these bank borrowings.
Accordingly, these bank borrowings have been classified
as current liabilities as at 31 March 2025. These events and
conditions may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as going concern.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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66

The Group has been undertaking plans and measures to
continue mitigating its liquidity position and to improve its
financial position, details of which are set out in note 3.1.1
to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The
directors of the Company have prepared the Group’s cash
flow forecasts, which cover a period of not less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period and continued
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The
validity of the going concern assumptions on which the
consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared depends on the outcome of these plans and
measures, including: () successfully negotiating with banks
to agree on the financial restructuring plan; (i) successfully
identifying buyers for disposal of specific properties; and (iii)
successfully implementing costs controls.

Given the execution of the plans and measures by the Group
is in preliminary stage or in progress and no written contractual
agreements or other documentary supporting evidence from
the relevant banks and potential buyers that are available
as at the date of the consolidated financial statements
were approved and authorised for issue for extending the
going concern assessment, we are unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence we considered necessary to
assess the assumptions and estimations underlying the cash
flow forecasts and the likelihood of success of the plans and
measures currently undertaken by the Group. There were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
satisfy ourselves that the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and adequacy of
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments might have o be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-current liabilities
as current liabilities with consideration of the contractual
terms or to make provision for any contractual commitments
that may have become onerous, where appropriate. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The possible effects on the consolidated financial statements
of undetected misstatements, if any, could be both material
and pervasive.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either infend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no redlistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Audifing ("HKSAs™) as issued by the HKICPA
and fo issue an auditor’s report in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because
of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“"Code™), and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin (practising
certificate number: P04754).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2025

HEBYZBMRENEFTREEBAR/EE
B (MXEERT P04754)

&8 - FAE RS E5HE1T
HEZSTED

R

2025F6R827H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

EHEER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

Continuing operations REBRERE
Revenue WA
Contracts with customers BEREXN 5(a)
Leases HE 5(b)
Total revenue KU
Cost of properties sales LYES RPN R
Direct operating expenses in respect HEREY X HiE
of leasing of investrment properties K&
Gross profit EF
Other income Hmr A .
Fair value changes of investment KREMELAABEZES
properties
Other gains and losses Himl g5 ia 7
Impairment allowance recognised BREZRBRIE
for frade receivables AEREE
Selling and marketing expenses HE MM HERESEA
Administrative expenses THER
Finance costs M%E R 8
Share of result of an associate DME—EEEABZEE 18
Share of result of a joint venture DE—BEELEZEE 19
Loss before taxation BRI ARS8 9
Taxation credit RIEIR R 11
Loss for the year from continuing FREREREEH 2 FERE
operations
Discontinued operation BARIEREER
(Loss) profit for the year from ERIEKEEBCFE
discontinued operation (E518) im M 12
Loss for the year FEEBE
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: FE{EEE (E518) @ F
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N
- from continuing operations —REFBEREER
- from discontinued operation —REERIEREER
Non-controlling interests R =
- from continuing operations —RBFELCEES
- from discontinued operation —REBRILEREETR
Loss per share SREE
From continuing and discontinued REFELSRERLE
operations RS
Basic B 14
From continuing operations REFEEESET
Basic HK 14

Emperor International Holdings Limited

641,186
734,692

1,375,878
(782,986)

(120,384)

472,508
44,809

(1,540,936)
(511,404)

(381)
(116,969)
(162,889)
(729,831)

(8,862)
197,492

(2,356,463)

35,591

(2,320,872)

(2,520,057)
(4,840,929)

(2,320,872)
(2,422,332)

(4,743,204)

(97,72;)
(97,725)
(4,840,929)

HK$(1.02)i% 7t

HK$(0.50)3# 7t

HEFREBERAE
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141,773
830,780

972,553
(119,040)

(139,403)

714,110
52,013

(1,298,022)
(444,133)

(135)
(57,173)
(157,305)
(918,105)
(344)
(12,675)

(2,121,769)
30,361

(2,091,408)

62,831

(2,028,577)

(2,091,408)
44,742

(2,046,666)

18,089

18,089

(2,028,577)

HKS$(0.56)7% 7t

HK$(0.57)7% 7t
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

EHRmRkHMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense

Ifems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on
franslation of foreign operations:

FEBIE

Hih2mEHFX
BErgEEM D EERm 2 EE:

ME BN EBFTELER Z5:

- subsidiaries —fE AT
- an associate —— e AT
Other comprehensive expense FEHMPEMAE
for the year
Total comprehensive expense FEZEAERS

for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company:

- from continuing operations
- from discontinued operation

ERBEBENBEFEZEE
(Fs2) e :

—REFEEEER
—REERILEEER

Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year attrioutable to
non-controlling interests:

FEREDEGEFEEEA (FE52)
Wy :

- from continuing operations —RBFEKEES
- from discontinued operation —RBEERILKEER
Total comprehensive expense FEXEMARS

for the year

70
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REFBREEERAF

(4,840,929)

(103,704)
(1,809)

(105,513)

(4,946,442)

(2,426,385)
(2,422,332)

(4,848,717)

(97,72;)

(97,725)

(4,946,442)

(2,028,577)

(206,875)
(3,787)

(210,662)

(2,239,239)

(2,302,070)
44,742

(2,257,328)

18,089

18,089

(2,239,239)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

At 31 March 2025 20253831 H

Annual Report 2024/2025 F %R

Non-current assets JERENEE
Investment properties KREY= 15 29,790,950 34,394,034
Property, plant and equipment ME B RERE 16 303,225 2,592,987
Deposits paid for acquisition of WRE R EYE -
investment properties/property, IR BB 2
plant and equipment BwE 25,000 1,563
Receivables related to a B—BERBEEZ
development project FEU R IA 15 160,911 163,801
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 17 4,046 444,978
Interest in an associate RN—EBE Tz 18 95,428 106,099
Inferest in a joint venture R—EaEtEEan 19 1,261,316 1,333,859
Goodwill [EES 20 1,940 1,940
Other assets HM&EE 21 3,997 3,997
Pledged bank deposits BIEFIRITEMR 26 - 30,811
31,646,813 39,074,069
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 8 - 12,256
Properties held for sale BFIEREZYWE 22 1,253,912 282,234
Properties under development FEHREZEREPYE
for sale 23 3,118,812 5,163,576
Trade and other receivables B 5 K B fh e W Rk 18 24 621,494 546,451
Taxation recoverable AR [E]FR I8 2,336 4,965
Deposit in designated bank account  FhEERBYIEGFHINIETE
for development properties RITRP ZER 25 9,503 9,628
Pledged bank deposits BEIRFIRITIER 26 92,746 311
Short-term bank deposits FRHRIRTTERR 26 - 14,900
Bank balances and cash RTEHREARESE 26 639,588 1,479,449
5,738,391 7,613,770
Current liabilities mEafE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMENRIE 27 840,991 916,465
Conftract liabilities aHaE 28 689,474 3,169
Amount due to an associate E— B E R B FIE 29 130,035 132,370
Amount due to a related company e — R E R B FRIE 30 548,682 1,502,225
Amounts due to non-controlling B A Z
interests of subsidiaries JEIER R FIE 31 - 39,523
Taxation payable FEAI 1B 3,636 54,890
Unsecured notes - due within IR EER —
one year —FREH 32 299,950
Bank borrowings - due within IRITEE—
one year —F RN EHE 33 16,604,981 6,426,360
Lease liabilities - due within one year fHE&F——FR3H 34 2,264 2,787
18,820,063 9,377,739
Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT 7




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

At 31 March 2025 20253831 H

Net current liabilities RENREREEE (13,081,672) (1,863,969)
Total assets less current liabilities mEERREBAR 18,565,141 37,210,100
Non-current liabilities JERBERE
Unsecured notes - due affer E
one year —F & E|H 32 79,910 79,893
Bank borrowings - due after IRITEE —
one year —F B 33 - 11,865,371
Lease liabilities - due after one year HEaE ——FRIH 34 2,157 30,699
Deferred taxation IR IA 35 1,540,062 1,686,995
1,622,129 13,662,958
Net assets BEPE 16,943,012 23,547,142
Capital and reserves B KA
Share capital &N 36 55,163 36,775
Reserves #HE 16,887,849 21,571,152
Equity attributable to owners RABHEE AEL#ER
of the Company 16,943,012 21,607,927
Non-controlling interests JEER T - 1,939,215
Total equity HEm4za 16,943,012 23,547,142

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 193 were  F69EEF193EFMH 2 A BREN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  2025F6H27 HEE S GHLE MK T

27 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: TWHTIESEAREE!
Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
PRELRE SBEE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BFE BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEEZEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

At 1 April 2024 202484718 36,775 4,563,248 (330,701) 130,657 989,913 16,218,035 21,607,927 1,939,215 23,547,142

Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - (4743,208) (4743,208)  (97,725) (4,840,929
Exchange differences HEEMNEHT
arising on translation ErERER:
of foreign operations:
- subsidiaries —MBAE (103,704) (103,704) (103,704)
- an associate ——BBEAT (1,809) (1,809) (1,809)

Total comprehensive expense  EE2EAERS

for the year - (105513 (4743,204) (4848717)  (91,725) (4,946,442)
Issue of shares upon rights issue  fEEARES 1T 1R 17 437,858 - - 456,246 - 456,246
Release of revaluation HEREMER

reserve upon disposal BHERER

of investment property (6,005) (6,005) (6,005)
Release of other reserves HENBARRN

upon disposal of subsidiaries & H A E (454,003) 454,003
Special inferim dividend NEMARA RS

by way of distribution HRIRERE

in specie (nofe 13) (H313) - (255406)  (255406) (1,836,434) (2,091,840)
2024 final dividend paid BRANUERERE - (11,033) (11,033 (5.056)  (16,089)
At 31 March 2025 2025838311 55,163 5,001,106 (436,214) 124,652 535910 11,662,395 16,943,012 - 16,943,012

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MEEZEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

At 1 April 2023 202345 1H 36,775 4,563,248 (120,039) 131,577 976,762 18,298,873 23,887,196 1,921,126 25,808,322
(Loss) profit for the year EE (88) &f - - - - - (046606)  (2,046,666) 18089  (2028,577)
Exchange differences BWEEMEBREE

arising on translation ERES:

of foreign operations:

- subsidiaries —MBAE - - (206,875) - - - (206,875) - (206,875)

- on associate ——EBEA - - (3787 - - - (3.787) - (3.787)
Total comprehensive (expense) EE2EA (Bx%)

income for the year 6y - - (210,662) - - (2046,666)  (2,257,328) 18,089 (2,239,239
Depreciation affibutable o~ BEE{L R

assets revaluation surplus FEMLITE - - - (920 - 1,045 125 - 125
Transfer from retained BREGNERE

profits to legal reserve EERE - - - - 13,151 (13,151) - - -
2023 final dividend paid BIK023ERBEEE - - - - - (11,083) (11,083) - (11,083)
2024 interim dividend paid BIR2024FEHHKE - - - - - (11,033) (11,033) - (11,033)
At 31 March 2024 R2024E3831H 36,775 4,563,248 (330,701) 130,657 989,913 16,218,035 21,607,927 1,939,215 23,547,142

Note: The other reserves of the Group arose from (i) acquisition of additional ~ #13% AEBZ HthERETRE (DB IFE2EN

interests in non wholly-owned subsidiaries; (i) dilution of interest in a BRABZEIMED; (INNEB AR RN E
subsidiary from allotment of shares by a subsidiary; (i) deemed capital EOREAGIEYNSIPA: 32206 3 HAD RN
confributions from owners of the Company; and (iv) fransfer of profifs BAANZBRELE; R(VBEBLUNTE R
of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong pursuant to the legal requirements BIRIRA R MR 2 A EERBAZ G
in the relevant places of registration. Ao
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE
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Operating activities KEES
Loss before taxation PRI AT 18 (2,578,272) (2,086,359)
Adjustments for: R
Interest income FEWA (19,401) (50,278)
Interest expenses MEBEX 696,004 896,990
Depreciation of property, plant MEEBRREZ
and equipment = 70,048 145,746
Depreciation of right-of-use TREEEZITE
assets 9,205 21,257
Share of result of an associate DME—EEE AT
ZEE 8,862 344
Share of result of a joint venture DME—EaEhE
2R (197,492) 12,675
Fair value changes of KEMEQANBE
investment properties 2 EE) 1,804,033 1,318,322
Write-downs of properties under BEREZEESF
development for sale, net L EPk S
— %A 314,993 417,875
Write-downs of properties FIEHEZMEZ
held for sale R 200,012 16,761
Net impairment allowance (BO) BB S
(reversed) recognised for FEWERIE 2 B
trade receivables BB RER (209) 135
(Gain) loss on disposal of HEME R
property, plant and equipment BBz (W)
5518 (19,831) 54
Unrealised exchange (gain) loss FEIHER (W)
&518 (23,983) 39,448
Operating cash flows before K EEETEFAIZ
movements in working capital SERERE 263,969 732,970
Decrease (increase) in inventories Fa2zEL (gm) 462 (944)
(Increase) decrease in properties FEHE 22 (Em)
held for sale D (3.020,436) 119,040
Decrease (increase) in properties FIEHEZEERYE S
under development for sale > (g ) 3,207,597 (357.917)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & E fth IR FUIE 2
14 1 (175,306) (78,440)
Increase in tfrade and other payables B 5 Kk EMEMRIEZ
0 239,002 140,220
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEZIEN 671,634 434
Cash generated from operations REZSEZRE 1,186,922 555,363
Income tax paid EHPTER
- in Hong Kong Special —REBEITHE
Administrative Region (4,283) (3.683)
- in People’s Republic of China —RrhE AR (1,119) (7,088)
- in United Kingdom — R (2,467) (8.251)
- in Macau Special —FRBEFERITHRE
Administrative Region - (636)
Net cash from operating activities REKEEH IR FEA 1,179,053 535,705
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

Investing activities KEEH
Net cash outflows from ERIEREEK
discontinued operation REMEPER 12 (208,151) -
Placement of pledged bank deposits  FH EIRIFIEITER (93,391) (31,490)
Deposits paid on acquisition of WEEIREYE -
investment properties/property, kBN
plant and equipment BE (29,648) (1,196)
Acquisition of investment properties WK B ERERT
and costs incurred for investment KREMEFREEZ
properties under development D% (3,878) (5,138)
Acquisition of property, plant WRE YD B3 R s 1
and equipment (5,526) (6,363)
Placement of short-term FHURHRIRTTER
bank deposits (349) (202,345)
Withdrawal of a pledged RI—IBEIKIFIRTT
bank deposit F& - 66,555
Withdrawal of short-term IREVERAIRTT R
bank deposits 15,249 244,234
Interest received YERF B 21,855 30,061
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEY)E IR KB
plant and equipment Fri§ ™18 31,998 90
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries &M B A B Frigmia 38 92,824 1,943,165
Repayment from a joint venture RE—REEtES
BN 270,035 -
Proceeds from disposal of investment  HE & EY) 2 FR{EIE
properties 331,874 138,793
Net cash from investing activities KEKE LR ZIREFEE 422,892 2,176,366
Financing activities MEEE
Bank borrowings raised MEEZIRTEE 1,256,553 7,357,765
Issue of shares upon rights issue HAGEFEIT 2 1D 456,246 -
Advances from a related company —EERB ZBR 394,654 842,682
Interest paid for lease liabilities THNBEESENR (438) (1,237)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEaE (2,979) (2,448)
Dividends paid to non-controling BARNE)IFERER
interests of the Company THZRE (5,056) -
Dividends paid to owners of the BARBEBEAZNGZ
Company [35) (11,033) (22,066)
Repayment to a related company BRT—EREERXT (299,885) (744,585)
Redemption of unsecured notes BOIEKARE (300,000) (868,553)
Interest paid for financial liabilities ANk RERS (993,208) (1,246,969)
Repayments of bank borrowings BERIBTEE (2,949,829) (8,840,036)
Net cash used in financing activities BreE s IREF5 (2,454,975) (3,525,447)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EFARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

Net decrease in cash and HeERREEBYZ

cash equivalents R ER (853,030) (813,376)
Cash and cash equivalents at RIERVZIRER

beginning of the reporting period REEHEY 1,479,449 2,311,133
Effect of foreign exchange EXEEsH s 8

13,169 (18,308)

rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of RIREHARZIHES K

the reporting period, representing REEBEBY
bank balances and cash BRER1TAG R IR & 639,588 1,479,449

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT 77
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE
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General Information

Emperor International Holdings Limited (the *Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and ifts shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s immediate holding company
is Emperor International Group Holdings Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI?). The ultimate holding company of the Company
is Albert Yeung Holdings Limited ("AY Holdings”), a limited
liability company incorporated in the BVI which is in turn
held by First Trust Services AG, being the trustee of The
Albert Yeung Discretionary Trust ("AY Trust”), the settlor and
founder of which is Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert ("Dr. Yeung”).
The address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$™), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 47.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

FE 318 R ARME ST B B M TR

2. Application of New and Amendments To 2.

HKFRS Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation & (2020)

Amendments fo HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set outf in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The 2020 Amendments provide clarification
and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
classification should not be affected by management
infentions or expectations to settle the liability within
twelve months.

SERAFHER
RAEFEERFNERZEETE
AMBRSEN G ER

REFE - AEBEEREATIER
GEAIAE (TEEBGFRAE)) MM
Rt 2024F 48 1 HF G 2 F EHIRE 98
RIERZEETEBM B RS ER G
SHEER] DR IR G M B WK

EAMERSEN ERENREZ
F165E 2 5] HEERE
BREAENB IR REE2EARY
A FIFRFREE
212555 (2020%)
ZERER]
BEEGEREIR  NEZENIRD
pAH) afR
BERGHEETS HEBHERH
REBHBRS
ZRBTHR 2]

PR T CFRiE S IR A F B R AEERT
BEEMBHRESEA G ENHAER
RAEFERBEFEZHBRRRE
B/ SR GETHREAEZKE
WHERE AR E-

FEREBGHENFIRZEIEE
BREARDIIERE I REARES
53% (2020%F) 2 B RAEET (T1202051&
) REBGHERNE IR ST
BEEZIEREAME (T12022F 1%
HI:S A
AEBREAEEERERZSEET-
2020 BT I A A B BELERE
WEHBBED T+ _@EB A RM
BEREEIMES BB BNEA TS
FIEARE) Hep:

s SEREENEARBWIFRHE
BENREPRTFEEN - BREEM
SNEAERTEEENRTZEA
NEEERNERNTAMREE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments To

80

HKFRS Accounting Standards (confinued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
yedar (confinued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (confinued)

e clarify that the seftlement of a liability can be a fransfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its seftlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as
current or non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 Financial Instruments. Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify
that only covenants that an entity is required to comply
with on or before the end of the reporting period affect the
entity’s right to defer sefflement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date, even if compliance with
the covenant is assessed only affer the reporting date. The
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with which
an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability as
current or non-current at the reporting date. However, if the
entity’s right to defer seftflement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve months aofter
the reporting period, an entity discloses information that
enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of
the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities and
facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity
may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the fransition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments To
HKFRS Accounting Standards (confinued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments o the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture!
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards
Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Accounting Standards - Volume 113
Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financiall
Statements*

FE 318 R ARME ST B B M TR

=
=1

SERGHEER 4

0 45 L 14 o 2 3 0 R £
s BB RS ER G

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a dafe to be
determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned
below, the directors of the Company ("Directors™) anticipate
that the application of all the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

2. Application of New and Amendments To

82

HKFRS Accounting Standards (confinued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
("HKFRS 187), which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements ("HKAS 17). This new
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many
of the requirements in HKAS 1, infroduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals
in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosure. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBHRZGHNEBERE
KEHERER

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated QI EMBRRZENEE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules™) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("CO").

3.1.1 Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
reported a loss of HKS4,840,929,000. As at 31 March
2025, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying
amounts of HKS$16,604,981,000 in aggregate have
become overdue and/or the Group has breached
certain terms of the loan agreements. The banks
may request immediate repayment of these bank
borrowings. Accordingly, these bank borrowings
have been classified as current liabilities as at 31
March 2025.

The following plans and measures are formulated to
mitigate the Group’s liquidity risk and improve the
Group’s financial position:

e The Group is negotiating with banks to agree
on the financial restructuring plan. The Group'’s
robust asset base, established track records
and solid relationship with banks facilitate the
Group to secure agreement on the financial
restructuring plan.

e The Group will monitor its status of the financial
restructuring plan and is confident that sufficient
financing can be arranged from the sales of
investment properties according to schedule
as set out in the financial restructuring plan.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBBRZGHNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

84

Financial Statements and Material KEHHRER @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated IR EMBHRRZENEE
financial statements (continued) (#
3.1.1 Going concern (continued) JIFERE (8)
«  The Group will continue to enhance its liquidity o AEBEFRNEKRE+ZMEA

and operating cash flows for the next twelve BBHEMERLEYE
months from sales of properties and rentals from HEFENRREET N
investment properties. KEREME o

*  The Group will continue to take active measures
to control administrative and operating costs
through various channels.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecasts prepared by management of the Group,
which cover a period of not less than twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Taking into
account of the plans and measures as described
above, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to
maintain its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for at least
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
The Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, the execution of the
plans and measures by the Group is in preliminary
stfage or in progress and no written contractual
agreements or other documentary supporting
evidence from the relevant banks and potential
buyers that are available as at the date of the
consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue for extending the going
concern assessment, material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group can (i) successfully negotiating
with banks to agree on the financial restructuring
plan; (i) successfully identifying buyers for disposal
of specific properties; and (iii) successfully
implementing costs controls.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able
tfo contfinue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments might have to be made to write down
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-current
liabilities as current liabilities with consideration
of the contractual terms or to make provision for
any confractual commitments that may have
become onerous, where appropriate. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBHRZGHNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material KEFHRER @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated NEEMBHRRZENEE
financial statements (continued) (#)
3.1.2 Basis of Preparation 2B R
The consolidated financial statements have been ?? é R R TR E £ B AR

prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties which are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

For investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation ftechnique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure
fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at inifial recognition
the results of the valuation tfechnique equals the
fransaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
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follows:

* Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (Unadjusted) e FIHWMABBEABET
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities FrEHARERETIZ AU
that the entity can access af the measurement NSHEFBEEHERZR

date; B (R&HRE) ;
e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted o F2MMABIBANEE

FEREZENEEAIEE
ZHWABE(F1RAE

prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and EZRERRIN s &
e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the e FHIMWMABBABEL
asset or liability. BREZELBEZRE AN
o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHEBEKREN

86

Bassis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

* has power over the investee;

* s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

¢ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss is atftributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-conftrolling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

All infragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests enfitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (confinued)

Changes in the Group’s inferests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group'’s relevant components of equity
and the non-conftrolling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests” proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
C"OCI") in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)
Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

Ajoint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and
a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of an associate
and a joint venture used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and OCI of the associate or
joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or ajoint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets ("HKAS
36") as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

Acquisition of additional interest in a joint venture

When the Group increases its ownership interest in a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if
there is excess of the consideration paid over the share
of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
addifional interests in joint ventures acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional inferests in joint ventures acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of confrol of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses.
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3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)

90

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is fransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in fime
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
fransfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBHRZGHNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material AEHHEEH @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) RKEEFEREHNZHA (&)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement HR—ERBFRIERIRA Gt EZRE
of progress fowards complete satisfaction of a RBAIE R EE
performance obligation
Output method &

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is fo recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
tfransferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the confract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the fransaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the
effects of the time value of money if the timing of
payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit
of financing the tfransfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the confract contains
a significant financing component. For contracts where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised property or service exceeds
one year, the transaction price is adjusted for the effects
of a financing component, if significant, and is included
in contract liabilities before the transfer of the promised
property or services. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed o by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
tfransfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the fransaction price for any significant
financing component.
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3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) RKEEFEREHNZHA (&)
Revenue recognition KA tEER

Sale of properties is recognised at a point in time when
control of the completed properties is delivered to
buyers. The Group receives deposits from buyers when
they sign the sale and purchase agreement. The deposits
received from the contracts prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are recognised as
contract liabilities.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation including investment
properties under development for such purposes.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly aftfributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair values, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under development are capitalised as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under
development.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which
the property is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
including buildings that are held for use in the supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost or
deemed cost upon fransfer from investment properties,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
deemed cost of items of property, plant and equipment
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or refirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use
assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be fransferred directly to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assetfs that necessarily take a substantial period of
fime to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their infended use
or sale. For investment properties under development
and properties under development for sale, the Group
ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s infended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding aofter
the related asset is ready for its infended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBHRZGHNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material KEHABRER @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)
(continued)
Leases HE

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more addifional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests
of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation
cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Shortterm leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assetfs are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability af the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement dafe if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBHRZGHNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material KEFHRER @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)
(continued)
Leases (continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessor KEFELSHFAA
Classification and measurement of leases HEZDEKRTE

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negoftiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Confracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15") to allocate
consideration in a contfract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. REMBRRZENEERE
Financial Statements and Material KEHABEREH @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

98

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generatfing units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unif, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EAREHEBREN @
(continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and ME- BBRRERERAEEE
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (continued) (BRI RfE (&)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories
Catering goods

Catering goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and
are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold
land element which is measured at cost model in
accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use
assets, properties held for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net redlisable value. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attfributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
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3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Inventories (continued)
Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are classified as current assets. Except
for the leasehold land element which is measured at
cost model in accordance with the accounting policies
of right-of-use assets, properties under development for
sale are carried at the lower of cost (or deemed cost for
those tfransferred from investment properties) and net
redlisable value. Costs relating to the development of the
properties include land cost, construction cost and other
direct development expenditure. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary o make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are tfransferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

The Group fransfers a property from properties under
development for sale to investment property when there
is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals
or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by
the inception of an operating lease to another party.
Any difference between the fair value of the property
at the date of fransfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating inferest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, tfransaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

¢ the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contfractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount oufstanding.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS @

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including receivables related to a development project,
amount due from a joint venture, trade and other
receivables, deposit in designated bank account for
development properties, pledged bank deposits, short-
term bank deposits and bank balances), and other
items (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instrument ("HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in crediit risk
since inifial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
"12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months affer the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

I2EARGHEBREN ®

EMIA (@)

EHMEE (&)
REFREMBRELENFOREAE
TRENEZEMEEREME
BZim{E (%)

@ Significant increase in credit risk () EERRREEIEN

104

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as atf the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contfractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. FAMBRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

I2EARGHEBRER @

THMIA#E)

EHEE (8)
RBFEBMBREGERFORAE
TRENEZEMEERRMIE
BZim{E (&)

(i) BHNZER

(i) Definition of default

iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
tfo pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without ftaking info account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(o) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted fo the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ERITAE#E)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (B)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

()

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no redlistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entfered intfo bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, faking info account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generadlly, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (confinued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken intfo account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) ERITAE#E)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (B)
Derecognition of financial assets BIFEREMEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contfractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

rEBERBEEWERERE
WEAREFEmE HmHE M5
EEMEEURZEEERAEE
R BB B B Fe O] 4R B 4% LE HE SR =
MEE-

R LR RBIENAStEZE
MEER EERBERASKRE
WA B R ERS N EmE

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. Ao
Financial liabilities and equity THEERERD
Classification as debt or equity NiEABERER

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received,

net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including tfrade and other payables,
amount(s) due to an associate/a related company/
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, unsecured notes
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

BEHEREaETADBRESGOR
ztEREMEBERERET
B EENEATREREN Em-

EmMTITAR

BmE T RISEEPEREERT
R EFFEEERNEETBF
FEmZERGHN-ARTEITZ
BmE T AEREWZ SRR
PREZEITRARRER

RIBIHRAINEZERMERE

THE R (BEES REMENR
B RN —BEE AT — R E
RE M B R Bz IR A
B EERRBENRTHEE) HE
Y91 A B IR A SRR 3 85 R A 5t

=
g=°

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
Annual Report 2024/2025 F %k




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

HAMBRRZGRELERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material KEHBEEH @)
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBREN @
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ERTH#E)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERER (&)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (continued) REBER A EzEREE (&

For the amounts due to non-controlling inferests of
subsidiaries and amount due to a related company, if the
Group revises its estimates of the timing of repayments,
the carrying amounts are adjusted to reflect the
revised estimated cash flows. Where the modifications
of financial liabilities are non-substantial, the Group
recalculates the carrying amounts by computing the
present value of estimated future cash flows at the
balance’s original effective interest rate. The difference
is adjusted as deemed capital contribution by the non-
controlling inferests and the owners of the Company in
equity.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts issued by the Group are measured initially at
their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

¢ the amount of the loss allowance defermined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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3. FAMBHRRZENEERE
KEHABRER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balance and cash and pledged bank deposits
presented on the consolidated statement of financial
position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less).

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank
balances and cash.
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Taxation HE
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current FTiEMN A IERN I RIELFTIETR
and deferred income tax (credit) expense. (E%R) B Z48H -

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBBRZGNEBERE
RESBERER @

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

I2EKREHBREN @)

(continued)
Taxation (confinued)

Deferred tax is recognised on ftemporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a fransaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal faxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, interest in an associate and interest in
a joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the bbenefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is seftled or the asset is redlised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or setftle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in HKAS 12 Income
Taxes ("HKAS 12) (i.e. based on the expected manner
as to how the properties will be recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

(o) the same taxable entity; or

(b) different taxable entities which intend either to
seftle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to redlise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
OCI or directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in OCI or directly in
equity respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBBRZGNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material KEHFHRER @
Accounting Policy Information (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information I2EKRGHBRENR @)
(continued)
Foreign currencies ShiEE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the fransactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are refranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated info the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are franslated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of fransactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in OCI and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32EKRGHBRENR @)
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(continued)
Share-based payment transactions
Share options granted fo employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
info consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve, For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entiting them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

3. REMBBRZGNEBERE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered 1o be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the crifical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

4. Critical Accounting Judgement and Key
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Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (confinued)
Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
assetfs arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the People’s
Republic of China ("The PRC") and Macau in the aggregate
carrying amounts of HK$9,941,400,000 as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$10,892,500,000) are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of such investment properties located in The PRC
and Macau are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a
result, the Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$1,469,736,000 (2024: HKS$1,599,531,000) on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is subject to
income tax in the respective jurisdictions, on the assumption
that these investment properties will be recovered through use.

In respect of investment properties that are located in Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region ("Hong Kong”) and the
United Kingdom ("UK") with aggregate carrying amounts of
HK$19,849,550,000 (2024: HK$23,501,534,000), the Directors
concluded that these investment properties are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation in investment properties,
the Directors have determined the carrying amounts of
the investment properties located in Hong Kong and UK
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale. As a result, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment
properties situated in Hong Kong, as it is expected that the
Group will not subject to any income taxes on disposal of its
investment properties situated in Hong Kong. From Agpril 2019,
the Group’s investment properties in UK are subject to UK tax
on gains arising from disposals because of the changes in UK
tax rule. As a result, the Group has considered the impact of
deferred tax on changes in fair value of investment properties
as the Group is subject to income tax in UK. As fair value
losses have been recognised on investment properties in UK
during the year ended 31 March 2025, no deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to unpredictability of future profit
streams.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

4. EXGEFIETR (G5 FEARAE

4. Critical Accounting Judgement and Key

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (confinued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

The investment properties of HK$29,790,950,000 at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$34,394,034,000) are measured at fair value.
The amount is based on a valuation on these properties
conducted by the independent firms of qualified professional
property valuers (the “Valuers”) engaged by the Company
and approved by the Directors using property valuation
techniques which are dependent on key inputs and
significant unobservable inputs and assumptions that involve
judgement of market conditions. The relevant inputs and
conditions include:

e capitalisation rates, discounted rate and comparable
market transactions with adjustments to reflect different
locations or condifions for completed investment
properties; and

e comparable market transactions, developer’s profit and
cost to be incurred to complete the development for
investment properties under development.

The basis of valuation is disclosed in note 15. Changes to
these assumptions and inputs would result in changes in
the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. At the end of each reporting period, a
designated team works closely with the Valuers to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation tfechniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key
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Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (confinued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(confinued)

Estimated net realisable value on properties under
development for sale

The Group'’s properties under development for sale are stated
at lower of cost and net redlisable value. The determination
of the net redlisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less estimated costs fo completion and estimated
costs necessary to make the sale of these properties. The
selling prices are estimated by reference to the market prices
of similar properties in prevailing market environment. The
costs to completion of the properties under development
for sale are estimated by reference to the development
budget, actual development cost of similar properties with
adjustments based on current market data. If the actual net
redlisable value on properties under development for sale is
less than expected as a result of change in market condition
and/or significant variation in the budgeted development
cost, material write-down may result.

The carrying amount of properties under development
for sale as at 31 March 2025 is HKS3,118,812,000 (2024:
HKS$5,163,576,000). During the vyear, write-downs of
HKS$314,993,000 (2024: HK$446,508,000) and reversal on
previously recognised write-down of nil (2024: HK$28,633,000)
are recognised for properties under development for sale.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024/2025 3k

4.

BEAEHHIE R (&5t AREARA A
ZZ2FEERE®
HEtAHBREEZETERRE

(&)
FEHEZERPMEZ G AT EIR
FE
AEBZFEHEZERPYEIZN
BRI EIF B EME R ZBREE R
EERERFEDERZSIVEZ ML
StEBRMEt T TR A RETHEFRR
B2 AR A -EESEZRTHBIRE
THELMMEZ TS ERMAE -FHIFHE
ZERTYEZ T IAFESEHBL
MEZRERE BRAEMSEE
WARRIRTT 35 B FH AR - (15 (F
HEZERPYEZERITEHFE
EHiERR B HEHEREN
AEEREHM IR TER BIFSE(FH
B5 R HURL ©

FEHEZERPYEN2025F34
31THZKRMEEA3,118,812,000%
70 (20244 :5,163,576,00087T) ©
FR AFFHEZERETYEME
MR 314,993,0008 5T (20244 -
446,508,0007% 7t) K # [l oAl B
B HRL 2 B (20244 :28,633,000%
7o) ©

REEREEERDE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

5. Revenue 5. IA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBZWADTUT:
(a) Contracts with customers from continuing () FBREEBZEREHN
operations

Sales of properties recognised REERFERRZ
at a point in time YEHE 641,186 141,773
Transaction price allocated to the remaining PREERENPZRGENE
performance obligations for contracts with customers ENRZE
The transaction price allocated to the remaining PEEFGENEENRZE R
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially BITHE D REIT) UM FEETFERD
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising WA BB T

revenue are as follows:

Within one year

(b) Leases (b) E

Total revenue arising from leases FBREEHZHEE
from continuing operations: EEZHBBA:

For operating leases: MEEHREMS -
Lease payments that are fixed or &l E Sk Ik FR I 15 8Lk
depend on an index or a rate FEZAERIE 728,773 819,008
Variable lease payments that do not EN ISR S E R ES
depend on an index or a rate Z oA ERIE 5,919 11,772

734,692 830,780

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6. Segment Information

120

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are lease
of properties and properties development for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of performance.

The segment information reported externally was analysed
on the basis of their products and services provided by
the Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with
the infernal information that is regularly reviewed by the
executive directors of the Company, the chief operating
decision makers ("CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance. This is also the
basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management
has chosen to organise the Group around differences in
products and services.

Principal activities of the operating and reportable segments
are as follows:

Lease of properties Completed investment
properties held for rental
purpose

Properties development Properties development and
redevelopment for sale

purpose

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
earned by or loss from contfinuing operations by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
interest income, finance costs, share of result of an associate,
share of result of a joint venture and unallocated other gains
and losses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6. DEEH =
BN EER 2R T:

BE2025F3H31HILFE
DA R

6. Segment Information (continued)
Information regarding the above segments is reported below:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Segment revenue and results

Segment revenue

DEBA

- from external customers —RBIEFEE 734,692 641,186 1,375,878
Segment results before fair STERABEZES K

value change and WoRRI 2 DEEXR

write-downs 594,505 (245,896) 348,609
Fair value decrement in REMEAREBEZRE

investment properties (1,540,936) - (1,540,936)
Write-downs of properties under FEHEZ BRAYE Y

development for sale R - (314,993) (314,993)
Write-downs of properties held — #F{EHE Z ¥ 2 2 #UR

for sale - (200,012) (200,012)
Segment results DELE (946,431) (760,901)  (1,707,332)
Interest income HIISCON 12,230
Corporate expenses, net TCEER T8 (120,160)
Finance costs M%ER (729,831)

Share of result of an associate
Share of result of a joint venture

Loss before taxation from
continuing operations
Taxation credit

Loss for the year from
confinuing operations

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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197,492

(2,356,463)
35,591

(2,320,872)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. FHEHEN®
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2025F3HA31HILLFE
Other information Hih&gs

122

Amounts included in the SEREBREER NS
measure of segment results EBRTAZRIE:
from continuing operations:

Impairment allowance recognised 8 5 EWFIE

for frade receivables BB
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EMREHEFEBEERREBHED
in the measure of segment results (included in corporate | Q’E BRI AR T A ZAIE Gt AR XS
expenses, net): FA—%%8) !

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, tX%BEITHE 2 E B K
at corporate level R ITE

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZEIMEBEAR QA
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6.

Segment Information (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024
(Restated)

Segment revenue and results

6. HEEHN @
HE2024%38318 L%
(8REY)

SEARLEE

Kt

Segment revenue DA

- from external customers —REIIEE P 830,780 141,773 972,553
Segment results before fair value SAEANBEZESK

change and write-downs WoRAT 2 DHEXE 679,619 (21,818) 657,801
Fair value decrement in RENERAREBEZRE

investment properties (1,298,022) - (1,298,022)
Write-downs of properties under FEHEZZEDY XY

development for sale, net o — P RE - (417,875) (417,875)
Write-downs of properties held FEHEZMEZ A

for sale - (16,761) (16,761)
Segment resuls DL (618,403) 456,454)  (1,074,857)
Interest income FEUWA 30,967
Corporate expenses, net TEER T (146,755)
Finance costs M EH (918,105)
Share of result of an associate DME—BBHERTZEE (344)
Share of result of a joint venture NME—BEEhEZEE (12,675)
Loss before taxation from FERE LB 2 BRRA

continuing operations EiE (2.121,769)
Taxation credit RIS 30,361
Loss for the year from FEREER 2 FEBR

continuing operations (2,091,408)

Other information HthEH

Amounts included in the

SFEREEEEBNE

measure of segment results EEEFAZRIE:
from continuing operations:
Impairment allowance recognised R E ZEWRFIEZ
for frade receivables B E 135 - 135

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6. Segment Information (confinued) 6. DHEEN ®
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B8 EF202453831HILEEE
(Restated) (RE5)
Other information (continued) HE R (&
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHREFTIELERAKREECTED
in the measure of segment results (included in corporate BEBRITRFAZTIE GEALESE
expenses, net): A —%%) !

124

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, % EBEITA 2 ¥E B K

at corporate level BB ZITE 25,289
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEERER
No analysis of the Group’s assefs and liabilities by operating B A5 ?EE CEKIBNZHER
segment is disclosed as they are not regularly provided fo BEDMILMERRMR T EZLER
the CODM for review. REFRE BULT BB EZE DT
Geographical information Hh 35y 5 4
The Group’s continuing operations are located in Hong Kong, AEERERPESRFIRREFE
The PRC, Macau and UK. KE o
The Group’s revenue from external customers and information AEERBNHERZIWAKRBRAR
about its non-current assets, other than receivables related E Z‘ﬁ@]fﬁﬁ (FEER %@_—I%%JEE B
to a development project and pledged bank deposits, by 2 FE WA IA e B IR IRIT A 7R) Z E
geographical location of the assets are detailed below: (REEZHIBUES D) FMuWT:

Hong Kong &8 1,065,464 647,517 [ACIIpALLlT 23,766,181
The PRC # 187,292 VWAV 8,669,366 8,053,284

Macau RFI py 26,592 K EZED 3,648,303
UK SR 95,778 WK 2,604,590 2,511,689

1,375,878 972,653 =l ivl 38,879,457
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

6. Segment Information (confinued) 6. DHEEN ®

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no revenue from
a single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s
total revenue. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
revenue derived from one customer contributed more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group amounted to
HK$109,960,000 (restated). The revenue is related to the
properties development operations.

7. Other Gains and Losses 7.

FEERZEHM
HZE202543531 B IR B RRA
B—EF 2 WA A E AR AT0%
WL LB E202443A31 HIEFEE
RE—EEF 2 WA A E B EIRA
10%LL £-3#E109,960,000% 7T (K&
5)) B WA B R B REHARM-

H fthUlz B 548

Continuing operations FBREER
Write-downs of properties under REREZEERYES

development for sale, net (Note a) WoR - $ %8 (Ffata) (314,993) (417.875)
Write-downs of properties held for sale FIERE W EZ MU

(Note b) (Ktztb) (200,012) (16,7671)
Net exchange gain (loss) PE @ U (B518) $%58 3,601 (9.497)

(511,404) (444,133)
Notes: Maz:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors reviewed the
net readlisable value of the properties under development for sale
with reference to the current market environment and recognised
write-downs of HK$314,993,000 (2024: recognised write-downs of
HK$446,508,000 and reversed previously recognised write-down of
HK$28,633,000).

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors reviewed the
net realisable value of the properties held for sale with reference
to the current market environment and recognised write-downs of
HK$200,012,000 (2024: HK$16,761,000).

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

8. Finance Costs

8. MBER

Continuing operations FEREER
Interests on: FME:

- bank borrowings —iR1TEBE 1,027,874 1,149,972
- lease liabilities —HEaRE 203 289
- unsecured notes —EIRRRE 5,960 34,959
- amount due to a related company — N —EREA R RIE 61,421 73,025
1,095,458 1,258,245

Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of R EEREENAF

qualifying assets BEAXR{EZ &% (399,906) (362,203)

695,552 896,042
Bank charges R1TEHR 34,279 22,063
729,831 918,105

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying
capitalisation rates ranging from 6.21% to 6.99% (2024: 4.61%
1o 6.95%) per annum.

REFEZERECEBERAET IR —
REEBRBEPEL TBFRERE
EO.21%E6.99% (2024F 1 4.61%E
6.95%) stH-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

9. Loss Before Taxation 9. BRIRAIESIE

Continuing operations
Loss before taxation has been arrived PRI AIES B EBR:
at after charging:

FRIEEER

Staff cost, including directors’ remuneration 2 T (BIEEESE) 148,999 170,252
Retirement benefit schnemes contributions iR 4@ FIl 1 23X 4,485 5,205
153,484 175,457
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BREM B & 2,948 4,209
Cost of properties held for sale ERRARZIZFIEHE
recognised as an expense LY EADWIN 782,986 119,040
Depreciation of property, YIE R RREZITE
plant and equipment 22,953 25,289
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 2,111 4,233
Loss on disposal of property, HEYZE - HE X
plant and equipment REZEE 48 -
and after crediting: KB A:
Other interest income HAF WA 12,013
Interest income from a joint venture E—EaEtEREZ
FIEUA 18,954
Government subsidies (Note) BT #5Bh (K a%) 2,069
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the government grants ffaE: MEZE202553B31HIEEFEE K

of HKS$1,067,000 (2024: HKS$2,069,000) are related to rental-
related subsidies from PRC government. There are no unfulfilled

conditions atfached to these grants.
BRI Mo

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #E2BIFREBAR QT
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fF#Bh1,067,000% 7t (20244 :
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid Individual’s 10.EERAZRSHMA LT ZME

Emoluments

(i) Directors’ emoluments () EEM=E
Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments for the year, REFE BEEREESTEHRAERZ
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and B2 RBER LR RABE
CO, are as follows: B BUIT -

2025 20255
Fees e
Other emoluments: Hitie:
Salaries and ofher HeREMER
benefits (Nofe ) (Hiza)

Retirement benefit RixRFIEE
schemes confributions {51

Total emoluments s

2024 20245
Fees ik
Other emoluments; EiEe: - 105 430 430 250 280 280 280 2,055
Salaries and other HeREMER
benefits (Note g) (fizta) - 2,794 3,687 1,512 3,900 - - - 11,898
Refirement benefit RAEREE
schemes contrioutions {31 - - 257 106 60 - - - 423
Total emoluments BE% - 2899 4,374 2,048 4210 280 280 280 14,371

Emperor International Holdings Limited # 2B EEER A E
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

10. EE R AR EaiA LT ZEE

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid Individual’s

Emoluments (continued) &)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) EEME @

Notes: Myat:

(a) Other benefits include non-exclusive use of motor vehicles, (o) HEttEFEEEAIEERR[E
yacht, club debentures and membership. HMgrEsREE-

(o) Re-designated as non-executive director with effect from 1 (b) #2023FE9R 1HAMEAERITE
September 2023 and retired as non-executive director on 1 £ %BA2024598 1 BEEIEHIT
September 2024. 5o

(c) Retired as executive director on 1 April 2025. (c) M2025FAB 1 HEFHITES-

(d) Retired as independent non-executive director on 20 August (d) H2024E8F20H BEBILIERTT
2024, L

(e) Elected as independent non-executive director on 20 August (e) H2024FE8820H % 5 A ¥H T FEH
2024, TES-

) The performance related incentive payment is determined (f) BRBEMAZEBMARBILZSRES

with reference to the operating results taking info account
certain adjustments, individual performance and comparable
market statistics for the year.

The chief executives are also executive directors of
the Company and their emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as chief
executives.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors.

(i) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2024: three) was Directors whose
emoluments is set out above. The total emoluments of
the remaining four (2024: two) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Retfirement benefit schemes
contributions

#re R H AR
RIREF SRR

(i)

EREXBUEEFENETH
B EAFRIFERA LR T 5 U8B E
EO

BETHABTAXATZHT
B RER EXREZHE0E
REEABBTHADIRERS
FRIESB0B & o

WEFRMATEENEETEAR
SMEBEARD RAEBEFHF
TR HARTS 2 M o L EFT R IF 8T
ESKBUFATESNMNEE
EEAREFBEEEFREZRS
YR AN o

hEEEFMAL

ErEELZRRSHIMA TP —
#2024 =R) BEF KEZ
Al <= B X o8R0 (20244 :
“R)EeHFMA Tz E 4RI
e
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid Individual’s 10.EERARRESHMALTZEME
Emoluments (continued) #
(i) Five highest paid individuals (confinued) (IWERESHMAL @

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEMENFTUTEHE:

Number of individuals
A8
2025 2024

2

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t % 3,000,000 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HKS$3,500,000 3,000,001 7t % 3,500,000 7T
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000  9,500,0017% 7t = 10,000,0007% 7T

130

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the Directors
and the five highest paid employees as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for both years. None of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals has waived any
emoluments during both years.

(iii) Retirement benefit schemes

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the "ORSO” Scheme)
and the mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance in December
2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
independent tfrustees. Employees who were members
of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the
MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within
the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after
1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit cost charged to profit or loss
represents contributions payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the
contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
amount of forfeited contributions.

RmEFE AEERESNTE
ERSBEREHMA TR FS
MMAEEBIR AR ZFEL
ERREBUME-EFROBR
S AT MEFERERE
BN

(iil) B AR 512

FEE2HE—ETBEMERE
ARBEBBFERIKNE RO
iz B R IR AR5 B (TH R RS
#))) IR 2000F 128 IREFER
1% 2 78 & 51 8 % B 3R 12 2 58
MAEEE (MREEEE))) o5&
EHE EEHBUREAER
ZEERA THAERZEED
Fe N REE s8I RIIATBRE
RNFFEI B Z BB F] EER
BEBERASEIAIEmMS M
wiEEEt ) H2000F1281H
HUABFRAENABETERZES
7R MR 5T &l

REmANRZRIKEFNERT
AAEEZARERAEEZ
EEXRHWZSESEI MR MHE
BENER T2 HHMAIRHE
FRIEE REBRAZ N Z MR
R E R UM R ER(F R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid Individual’s 10.EERARERSHMALTZEME

Emoluments (continued)

(iii) Retirement benefit schemes (continuea)

The Group also operates a defined contribution
refirement scheme for all qualifying employees of a
subsidiary of the Group in Macau since 1 September
2014. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under control of independent
frustees. The retirement scheme cost recognised in profit
or loss represents contributions payable to funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.
Where there are employees of the Group who leave
the scheme prior to vesting fully in the conftributions, the
contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Macau
and The PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the Macau and The PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute @
certain percentage of its payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is
to make the required contributions under the schemes.

During the year, the retirement benefit schemes
contributions were HKS$4,485,000 (2024: HKS$5,205,000
(restated)).

&)

(i) BIRE@FIE 8 @)

AEBB2014F98 1 BET A
EERMURRMZ —ENE QS
FFECEREEENERHMR
REt8-ZEt B 2 EERBIUR
ANEFIZESHFA TRAERZ
BEDM -REm AR ZIRIRE
B s A E B LS EIR RIS
EEREmEEPAEZ R A&
E & & i MRS 85 B A1 iR W 5t
B> AEE M HRAIZE R I
e RRF R e

FEBZAMAKRTENBELATZ
BETH D B 2 BB P BT K H E
B EEZ R EERKEHN S
BB AEBEARESHINZ
REFDEAZEFRKEH S
HEOUSERENREREES K
EEHZFRANBA B AKIE
ZERERNREFEZEEE
TR

0]

RAEERKEF S HR
£ EE 44,485,000/ 7T (20244 -
5,205,000 7T (A& E751) ) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

11.Taxation Credit

132

RREERY

Continuing operations

11.7RIAHE %

Taxation credit comprises: RIBIK R BIE:
Current tax HEARR IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEENER (7,406)
UK Income Tax HEFTFIR (7.417)
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax A EE ST (1,066)
The PRC withholding tax REIENR (5,873)
(21,762)
(Underprovision) overprovision in respect {EE##E (&) B%
of prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENE 273
UK Income Tax HEIFTE (245)
28
Deferred taxation credit (note 35) EERIBIR R (ff5135) 52,095
30,361

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

UK Income Tax is calculated at the applicable rate of 25% of
the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of The PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law™) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of The PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The withholding tax represented taxation recognised in
respect of inferest income derived from loan to a subsidiary
in the PRC and dividends distributed from profit earned
by subsidiary in the PRC starting from 1 January 2008. The
withholding tax is recognised for inferest income derived from
the PRC aft tax rate of 10% dividends to be distributed from
profit earned by subsidiary in the PRC in accordance with
the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law of the PRC that
requires withholding tax with tax rate at 5% for dividend upon
the distribution of such profits to the shareholders.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

11.Taxation Credit (continued) 11.#IEIER @
The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled to the FRARERRZJHEGESEBRRMEZ
results from continuing operations per consolidated statement REREXR 2 XEBHRUT:

of profit or loss as follows:

Loss before taxation PRI A ES 18 (2,356,463) (2,121,769)

Taxation credit at Hong Kong Profits Tax 2 & B 1581 16.5%:t &

of 16.5% ZIRIEIK R 388.816 350,092
Tax effect of share of result of PMh— F'aﬁﬂ [ENEIES: |

an associate 2B E (1,462) (57)
Tax effect of share of result of PMh— F'eﬁéﬁ hEXS

ajoint venture ZMBEE 32,586 (2,091)
Tax effect of income not taxable MRBME ﬂé‘c ZEE iV ON

for tax purpose ZRBEEE 17,475 21,975
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TMIRBME TT?D B

for tax purpose ZRBEE (357,955) (251,670)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B A AR R 2 #R 18

recognised E518 39,579 -
Tax effect of deductible temporary REESR AT Wﬁ’* iS5

differences not recognised ZRBEE (26,531)
Utilisation of deductible temporary =R Y )

differences previously not recognised R B P = %E -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REBREBEBBZMBEE (73,207)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries B AT N EME L&

operating in other jurisdictions REMERBZFE 5917
(Underprovision) overprovision in respect  FE## (F2) B%

of prior years 28
Effect of withholding tax on BENkiat 2 FBilR 2

distributed profit FE (5,873)
Others H 11,778
Taxation credit for the year FRRBER 30,361
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

12.Discontinued Operation 12. B4R IS EE

During the year, the Board has declared a special interim RAEAFE EFEUBYDIKENER
dividend by way of distribution in specie of its shares in IRECEIEBRAR (THEREBEE))
Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Emperor E Hotel”) RGN AXNERSENFIHRE S5
and in turn result in discontinued hotel and hotel related RIEEEHE RBISHEBAER - 2IKE
operations. The distribution was completed on 30 August R2024F8830H M BER IR EH
2024. The loss for the period from 1 April 2024 to 30 August &R BIEEAERR2024F4818E
2024 from the discontinued hotel and hotel related operations 20248 B30 AR BB EH YW T o
is set out below. The comparative figures in the consolidated GeEmkEMEERERANLER
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income HFEEY UFRBIE BB HEAZER
have been restated to represent the hotel and hotel related B ABRKRIEREERK-

operations as disconfinued operation.

(Loss) profit for the period/year of hotel BIERBEEREER

and hotel related operations 1R E (B518) a7 (225,319) 62,831
Loss on deemed disposal of hotel and RIEHEBE KBS HE

hotel related operations (Nofe q) %2 18 (Fita) (2,294,738) -

(2,520,057) 62,831

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

12. B4R IS B X @)

12.Discontinued Operation (continued)

The results of the hotel and hotel related operations for the
period from T April 2024 to 30 August 2024 and its preceding
year, which has been included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income were as
follows:

BIE RGBSR 2024481
F2024F 830 B KA E—EF
ENFEE (Bt AGeEakEME2E

W) g

Revenue WA

Contracts with customers EREH 321,755 740,737

Leases HE 21,218 48,525
Total revenue RGN 342,973 789,262
Cost of hotel and hotel related B IS KB I AE R S A A

operations (206,694) (481,413)
Gross profit EF 136,279 307,849
Other income HMUA 27,562 20,741
Fair value changes of investment BREMEAREBEZES

properties (263,097) (20,300)
Other gain and losses Hittl g k8518 9 78
Impairment allowance reversed EBOEZENmIEZ

for trade receivables RERE 590 -
Selling and marketing expenses HERTIGHEEER (66,916) (146,369)
Administrative expenses THRER (55,766) (125,360)
Finance costs MBER ((L7)) (1,073)
(Loss) profit before taxation (Note b) PRiRAD (B518) WA (fY5ED) (221,809) 35,410
Taxation (charge) credit I (ZH) HR (3,510) 27421
(Loss) profit after taxation PRI (B518) m 7 (225,319) 62,831
Non-controlling interests FEER S 97,725 (18,089)
(Loss) profit attributable to owners P UNCIE 2 DN

of the Company (&518) & F (127,594) 44,742
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

12.Discontinued Operation (continued) 12. BRILESEERE @
Notes: BitaE:
(a) Loss on deemed disposal of hotel and hotel related operations as a (a) M2024FE8H30HEY D IKE 2 IRETH
result of distribution in specie of Emperor E Hotel shares on 30 August [E B0 B EAR(F & B TS R B S B R
2024 b St

RERFAEFEY ML EE:

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash consideration RERE

Bank balances and cash disposed of FrHERITHER MRS
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BeRIReEEY) R $28
The net assets at the date of distribution HEREEERBEYDIKBRNE EFE:

in specie of Emperor E Hotel shares:
Investment properties (note 15) KEME W15 1,914,600
Property, plant and equipment (nofe 16) M2 BR R E (WEE16) 2,217,660
Right-of-use assets (note 17) EREEE (WeE17) 431,727
Pledged bank deposits BIRRIRITTER 31,767
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, MUEE R R B

plant and equipment iz #%E 6,005
Inventories =75 11,794
Trade and other receivables B 5 KR EE RIS 74,825
Bank balances and cash RITHBRIRE 208,151
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAFE T RIE (300,704)
Dividend payable FERRRE (17,827)
Taxation payable fE(ITRIE (53,718)
Lease liabilities HE&SE (26,238)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests (note 31)  FE{t JE1%=AG 4 25 7R0IE (ff5£31) (39,523)
Deferred taxation (note 35) IEIEFRIE (f5£35) (71,941)

4,386,578

Non-controlling interests E|295 0 (1,836,434)

2,550,144

Loss on discontinued operation: [EEJIN S -E -4 E =N

Dividend in specie of Emperor E Hotel HEWREHERDEY
shares (Note d) [23=S(if=2e)) 255,406
Net assets disposed of Fr&E&EEFE (2,550,144)

(2,294,738)

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

12.Discontinued Operation (continued) 12. BARILESESERE )
Notes: (continued) BiEE: (&
(b) (Loss) profit before taxation has been arrived at affer charging (b) B&#MAT (BB AR B GTA) -
(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and ME B RREZINE
equipment 120,457
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 17,024
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME B RERE 2 (W)
plant and equipment 518 54
() Cash flows from hotel and hotel related operations: (c) BEKRBEHEEEBZRERE

Net cash from operating activities RERKEESH RS FEE 147,877

Net cash from investment activities REREEHZIREFE 72,888

Net cash used in financing activities ARRME SR 25 (1.305)
(d) Dividend in specie of Emperor E Hotel shares: (d) HRERLEBERNBEVKRE

Number of Emperor E Hotel shares held AEMBFANESIREAEE RN EE
by the Group 851,353,645

Five days (26 August 2024 to 30 August 2024) HERESHEERD H H (2024588 26H
average price of Emperor E Hotel shares Z 2024588 30R) FHIER 0.30

255,406,094

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

13.Dividends 13.(88

Dividends recognised as distribution FREIMEDIRZKRE:

during the year:

Final dividend paid in respect of 2024: BEIR2024FFREAR E
HKS$0.003 per share (2024: HKS0.003 per & F20.00378 7T (20244 :

share in respect of 2023) Fh2023F 2 KRG B
A&R20.00378 1) 11,033
Interim dividend paid in respect of 2024: B Jk2024F S HARE B
HKS$0.003 per share & 020,003 7T
(2025; nil) (20255 : #%) 11,033
Special interim dividend by way of YDA VK EF R
distribution in specie (Nofe a) RERRR S (MYata) 255,406 -
266,439 22,066

Notes: Byat:

(@) On 31 July 2024, the Board has declared a special interim dividend (@) M2024F7831H EFEGUBY N IKHE
by way of distribution in specie of its shares in Emperor E Hotel to SIRBRIERND 2 H T B 2024F8H
the qualifying shareholders whose names appear on the register 15BN EAANBRERMzEERKE
of members of the Company on 15 August 2024 (*Qualifying (TEEBKRE)) REFRFHRE-F
Shareholders”). The distribution was made by way of allocating 463 DIk G ERIREERFE2,0001D
Emperor E Hotel shares for every 2,000 shares held by the Qualifying AR A IR B E DT o
Shareholders.

() The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for (b)) ESEERRATEERAFEIRMNGEM
the year (2024: HK$0.003 per share). FEARR B (202445 1 & /R0.003 8 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

14.Loss Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

From continuing and discontinued
operations

(Loss) profit ((loss) profit attrioutable to
owners of the Company)

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per
share from continuing operations

(Loss) profit for the purpose of basic
(loss) earnings per share from
discontinued operation

14. 52548

BUTHEE:

REFEEERBAL
BEXH

(B18) m A (A RFHEA A
e (B518) iEH)

Mt ESRERBEMS
REFBEEEBZER

st EERER (B1R) BT
MEREERIEEEER

(2,320,872)

Loss for the purpose of basic loss per
share from continuing and
discontinued operations

2 (§518) %7 (2,422,332)
Mt EBREXRBEEMS

REFELSERER L

e o (4,743,204)

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue for the purpose of
basic loss per share (Note)

ARBEEANBLEESRERBIRDE

(2,091,408)

44,742

(2,046,666)

Rz {n 8B

EtEESRERBEMEZ
BETEERINEFIIHN
(fy&t) 4,629,677,353

From continuing operations
Loss aftributable to owners of the

Company for the purpose of basic loss
per share from continuing operations

KEAFREERS
st EERERBIEMS
REFBEEER

TABHEANBIEER

The denominators used are the same as those detailed

above for basic loss per share.

3,677.545,667

(2,091,408)

AEBEZ D BHEF-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

14.Loss Per Share (continued) 14. ShgE5E (=

From discontinued operation RECHRIEEBEERE

Basic loss per share from discontinued operation is HKS0.52 BRI EEXEFE 2 SREXEES

(2024: earnings per share of HKS0.01), based on the loss 0.52%87 (2024F B8R EF0.018

aftributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 7o) LR E E2025F3H31HIEE

March 2025 from discontinued operation of HK$2,422,332,000 ERBERLEREXHE 2 ANBIHEER

(2024: profit attributable to owners of the Company AFE{EE5182,422,332,00058 7T (2024

from discontinued operation of HKS$44,742,000) and the F REERIEREEFE AN BDEER

denominators used are the same as those detailed above ANFE(GE 44,742,000 7T) &FRFAD

for basic loss per share. B ENERARGTEESRELRESR

2 BHEE e

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose KizE: #ZE20255F3831HIEFE BRET
of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2025 has HEREABENZTERMNEFIIH
been adjusted for rights issue on 24 September 2024. For the year E2024E9 824 A #THHRESL
ended 31 March 2024, the weighted average number of ordinary FHEEHE2024F3831HIEEE H
shares for the purpose of basic loss per share has not been REENITEESNRREERENT
adjusted and restated for rights issue because the exercise price FRITNERAAER WARAESR
of rights issue was higher than fair value per share immediately EARE IR L @ IR 0 fe 9 8t A L
before the exercise of rights. HRIELAERETS

Diluted loss per share is not presented as there was no dilutive HEMEFERNLEEAETEEE

potential ordinary share for both years. BRSO EZINEREEEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15. 18 B

15.Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices premises, industrial
premises, residential premises and retail shops/complexes
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years, with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period
held by lessees only. Majority of the lease contfracts contain
market review clauses in the event the lessee exercises the
option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of the relevant group
entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property
at the end of lease term.

FAIR VALUE AnERE
At beginning of the year REA 32,749,034 1,645,000
Exchange realignment SMERE (83,774) (21,081)
Addifions AE 3,356
Disposals HE (331,874) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (nofe 38) SE0FVASI(ER - (714,800) (428,000)
Derecognised on disposal of HERBARRHER

subsidiaries (nofe 12) (Hi5#12) (1,914,600)
Transfer from properties held BREHEZNEER

for sale (Nofe @) (Mizta) -
Transfer from properties under ERFHEZEER

development for sale (Nofe b) mEEE (b 700,000
Transfer o property, plant and BRENE BBERRE

equipment (8,800)
Net decrease in fair value RERRERZAAE

recognised in profit or loss B2 (1,697,592) (106,441)
At end of the year REX 28,700,950 1,090,000

Noftes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain properties held for
sale originally held for sale purpose, upon the change in use to
held for rental purpose, were reclassified to completed investment
properties at fair value of HK$164,359,000 at the date of transfer.

() During the year ended 31 March 2025, certain properties under
development for sale originally held for sale purpose, upon the
change in use to held for rental purpose, were reclassified fo
completed investment properties at fair value of HK$700,000,000

at the date of transfer.

Emperor International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024/2025 F %R

FEERBEEHEHBESERAE
ME-TEME - ETTHWERTED
#HBW% A NEREE HE &Y
TR E1SF AREABAFTAENE
HEEMNGHEEHIEREVNRHARU
She REB DB B AE A AT A A LU
BRI IR ETEB IR

MRFTAEEINUERERERS S
2R ERE HAERTERNES
LHMAZINERR - HESHOLES
BRERERRNEABARBERL
BEYENEZRE

SRV 36190753 1754000 37,944753
(104,355) VALY @105 (263101
3,878 4678 460 5138
EARIO  (138799) - (138799)
(1,142,800) JEEX0J000) - (2000000)
(1,914,600) - - _
- 164,359 - 164,359

700,000 - - -
(8,800) - - -
N (1.252967) (€5355)  (1,318322)
LN 32749034 1645000 34394034

Hifat:

(a) BE2024F3A31HILEFE 5EFRA
REHERRNBEHEZMERBR
BELSFFHER RERANAREE
164,359,000 B TEM DR EEMIKL
ELYEL

(b) #ZE202543A31HIEFE BTERARF
FHERBRMBHEHEZERDYER
AREEAFFELER HBEAHAQR
{EfE700,000,000B TEM DERER
AR EY -

REFBEBEERAF
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15.Investment Properties (confinued)

142

The carrying amount of investment properties comprises
properties situated in:

Hong Kong 5%
The PRC H
Macau R
UK HE

15. 18 EM%E =

REVEZREESEMUNRU TS
ESEYEp

2025 2024
HK$°000 HKS'000
FHEx THET
17,244,960 20,989,845
8,306,900 8,659,900
1,634,500 2,332,600
2,604,590 2,511,689
29,790,950 34,394,034

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at the end
of each reporting period have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on those dates by Knight Frank Petty
Limited and Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (2024:
Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited, Savills (Macau)
Limited and Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited), in
accordance with the HKIS Valuation Standards 2024 (2024:
HKIS Valuation Standards 2020) issued by Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors or International Valuation Standards 2022 issued
by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The Valuers
are not connected with the Group.

For completed investment properties, the valuations have
been arrived at with reference to market evidence of recent
fransaction prices for similar properties or rental income using
the applicable market yields for the respective locations
and types of properties. There is no change in the valuation
techniques for completed investment properties.

AEBEMARBEEHEER B FRI
HENEXEERRZY ERTHE
BARBEEREAFELDERARS
BREYE-

FEEREVENRBEREHARZLD
BEDRERDAEMTERAT KR
Bhz B R EARAR (2024%F 15
NERYEER (B8 BRAEH—
KFEAEH CRPI) BRAR Kksh=E
ARFLEAERRRE) R&FHARES
BREBMBGRMGZEBAEMRES
HEZER2024 (20244F : H B B S 6L
FhEZER2020) 3 2 R4FFRI BN E
G iR 2 BIFR(EERE2022E T 2 4
BEMmEE-HEMEARERMERE

MEBNREMEMS  GEDRERT
HBLUMEZ TSR 5 ERERIE
BMESBZUEREREZBRATS
WmzHEWRAEE - BENKRENE
ZEERMEEES-

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15. 1 EME &

15.Investment Properties (confinued)

For investment properties under development, the valuations
have been arrived at assuming that the investment properties
will be completed in accordance with the development
proposals and the relevant approvals for the proposals have
been obtained. The valuations include key factors such as
the market value of the completed investment properties,
which are estimated with reference to comparable market
tfransactions in the nearest locality as available in the relevant
market with adjustments made by the Valuers to account for
differences in the locations and other factors including the
level adjustments to determine the potential sales proceeds,
and deducting the cost to be incurred to complete the
development and developer’s profit from the investment
properties which are derived from the interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations at the
valuation dates.

The fair value decrease on property revaluation included
in profit or loss from continuing operations of the year is
HK$1,540,936,000 (2024; HKS1,298,022,000 (restated)).

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use. The fair values of
certain investment properties have been adjusted to exclude
prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid double
counting.

There were no fransfers intfo or out of Level 3 during both
years.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and key inputs used),
as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable.

MERPREVEMS  HEDHRRKE
BEY)ERIRBEERSEEAMEL
B¥EStICEEBARE-HERER
ERRBEMECHESETERRAER
2 RITHR R 5 A B &
&R Z AL R IH R Z ETHR > T
LEMZABUEEEREMEAR (8
ERERE) FLBEE MUETEETH
& ZFrSRIA B0 5T B % P 7R A
AREEMEZFREBHNE (LFHF
BDIRBERERBEENGHERRZEX
HIBAMERF L) ©

AR FEFBESEFTEmYE
ERERAREERD71,5640,936,0007%
70 (20244 :1,298,022,00078 7T (&K &
5)) e

RESHREMEZARBER KEZ
RERRERBRIA/RFRAR -ETR
BEYENRAAEEDFRE LBHRRA
T ERE WA U REES
o

RWmEEERN BESAREHEIR

TRIEHABILELSREMEZ LB
BENAEEZER (CEERRABZME
ERTREZHABER)  URRER
AEBEEFBZOABBZAREIZE
RARBESAEMBAZANBESTR
(B1E34R) °
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15.Investment Properties (confinued)

Hong Kong

Retail shops/complexes 11,939,015
SERS/ B

Offices premises 4,718,190
WAENE

Indlustrial premises 15,445
N/

Residential premises 572,310

[ERSVES

144

13,308,450

5,096,410

214,545

946,440

Level 3

Level 3

Level 3

FIR

Level3

Emperor International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024/2025 &1k

15. 15V &)

Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking into account the
market unif rate as the key fime, location, frontage and size, befween the
input comparables, which ranged from HK$3,650 fo

HK$500,200 (2024: HK$3,800 fo HK$544,000) per
square foof

ERUBE UHHEMERES THEABR TREH RN 2B/
ESLIN G EBHERANENTETHRI60ETE
500,200 7% (20244 : 3,80078 75 £ 544,000/ 7t)

Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking into account the
market unif rate as the key fime, location, quality, floor level and size,
input between the comparables, which ranged

from HK$7,460 to HK$38,685 (2024: HKS7,960 to
HK$36,600) per square foot

EREED UFRENEREA DTREMER IREHRILBNER KR
ESLIN 16
38,6857 7T (20047 17,960 T £ 36,600 7T)

Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly taking into account the
market unif rate as the key fime, location, quality, floor level and size,
input between the comparables, which is HK$3,110

(2024: ranged from HK$3,240 to HKS$8,400) per
square foot

EREED UARENERES DREMER IREHRILRNEH KR
N6 EERBERA BT AR N0ET (2024
FIEANT3 2408w 84005 7T)

Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking info account the
market unif rate as the key time, location, quality, view, floor level and

input size, between the comparables, which ranged

from HK$4,500 fo HK$26,080 (2024: HK$4,700 to
HK$33,361) per square foot

BRUBH UHREAERES THEAER TREHRULBNEH 2B/
E2LIN 6

REFBREEERAF

EHRBERAN ENFETARTA0ETE

EERRBBERNNTETHRAN00E
TEE 26,0807 70 (20245 4,700 T E 33,3618 70)

Asignificant increase in the

market unif rate used would
result in a significant increase
in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.

kAT R EABRXEEIR

SIERENEZ ARBEKE
B K2 ke

Assignificant increase in the

market unif rate used would
result in a significant increase:
in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.

FriR AR E A ERARE NS

SIERENEZ ARBEXE
I R 2Tk

Asignificant increase in the

market unif rate used would
result in a significant increase
in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.

FrR BB E A ERARE NG

SIERENEZAREBERE
I RZ ke

Asignificant increase in the

market unif rate used would
result in a significant increase
in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.

FrRATREAERAEEE

SIEREME L AREEKE
B RZT %
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15.Investment Properties (continued) 15.188ME »

Serviced apartments 974,000 Level 3 Income capitalisation method  Monthly unif rent, based on saleable floor area The higher the monthly unif rent,
with market unit rent ond using direct market comparable and taking info the higher the fair value,
capifalisation rate asthe key  account of fime, location, quality, view, floor and vice versa.
inpuf level and size of properties, which ranged from

HKS30 fo HK$92 per square foot
RHEIAE F3M BABREE UHREMRER BUAR RESSERTHENEZIELEER Alls IAAEEES RZ

BRLREAIEBANR BEHREZERVIE BER REBERA Tizke
N ENFETHFROETERET

Capitalisation rate, taking info account the The higher the capitalisation
capifalisation of renfal income potential, nature e, the lower the fair value,
of properties, prevailing market condition, which  and vice versa.
was ranged from 3% fo 3.25%

BRbR EHRERREMAZEREYEZYE  BAGEES AREBEED

B RAHERR BN FEFEINE325% RZ7ke
Industricl premise under 450,000 Level3 Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking info account the A significant increase in the
development market unif rate as the key fime, location, quality, view, floor level ond size, market unif rate used would
input between the comparables, which ranged from result in a significant increase:
HK$4,100 to HK$12,400 per square foot in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.
BEPIEYE ER ERULSH UHHREMBEEA TREAER TREHRTLBMERMZEE M ARATHREMBRABENH
TEBNE B EZ BB BERAVNTETARAI00E  SIBRENEZAREBEKRE
TEI2400%T I k2R
The PRC
HE
Retail shops/complexes 125300 Level 3 Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking into accountthe A significant increase in the
market unif rafe as the key fime, location, frontage and size, between market unif rate used would
input the comparables, which is HK$1,735 (2024: result in a significant increase
HK$1,932) per square foot in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.
TERR/B5 B3k EREEH UTSEMEREA TREMER IELHRTLEMER2KE M ARATSEMERKEENG
ELE DN 6 B BEERAI ST AR736E T (20245 SIRRENEZARBEAR
1,932%7) B R 2T 4Re

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
Annual Report 2024/2025 F3R
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15.Investment Properties (confinued)

15. 15V &)

Retail/commercial properties 1,090,000 1,195000 Level 3 Residual method
under development The key inputs are:
BETDE/BENE ER REZIERATEA:

(1) Gross development value

(OREREE

(2) Level adjustments

QBESRE

(3) Developer's profit

OEEBET

Retail shops/complexes 1,187,400 1,208,000 Level 3 Income capitalisation method
with market unit rent ond

capifalisation rate as the key

input and discounted cash

flow analysis with market unit
rent and discount rate as the

key input

SERS/ B ER WABRIEE UHREMRER
BAEEEATEHASR
NURERREREN T U
GEIASREREATEY
N6

146

Gross development value on completion basis, The higher the gross
mainly taking info account the fime, location, development value, the
design, frontage, layout and size between the higher the fair value, and
comparables and the properties, which ranged  vice versa.
from HK$4,377 to HK$8,112 (2024: HKS4,519 to
HKS6,765) per square foot

FRNAENFEAEE IRCHRALENEE BEEEEES AAEEY
ZEMEM R MLE Rt BEHE VR RA B R2ZIRe
I ENFETRRAITTETES 11287 (2024
F451987E6,765%7T)

Level adjustment on individual floor of the The higher the upward level
properties ranged from about 50% fo 95% (2024:  adjustment, the higher the
50% to 95%) on specific levels fair volue, and vice versa.

NEERIEEZRERL NTREREZANE RELEEEES YLAAEEY
95% (20244  50%Z 95%) B RZ e

Developer's profit af 30% (2024: 30%), fakinginto  The higher the developer's

account the construction progress of the profit, the lower the fair
property value, and vice versa.

BEHZIENHI0% (2024E :30%)  KitkZEz EREzENES YLAREEE
TRER & R 277k

Monthly unif rent, based on saleable floor area The higher the monthly unit rent,
using direct market comparable and taking info - the higher the fair value,
account of fime, location, fronfage and size of and vice versa.
properties, which ranged from HKS61 to HKS89
(2024: HKS57 to HKS79) per square foot

BUAR RETHEZILENEZIEEARR ARUS AIALBEER RZ
BEHREZBRVIE BEERANVENT B
ST HROVETES0ET (0245 5TETETE
7T

Capitalisation rate, taking into account the The higher the capitalisation
capifalisation of rental income potential, nature  rate, the lower the fair value,
of properties, prevaling market condition, which ~ and vice versa.
was 3.10% (2024: 4.25%) per annum

BEACR EHRETRSUAZER L NEZE  ENMZER AARBERE
B RAMBHM EASEI0%(20045:425%)  R2Me

Discount rafe, taking info account the net The higher the discount rate,
capitalisation rate and stabilised annual rental the lower the fair value, and
growth rate, which was 5% (2024: 6%) vice versa.

FRE GHARFEMERBEFASRRLD HA BRZUD AALBELE R
5% (2024 16%) ) /3

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15.Investment Properties (continued) 15.188ME »

Office premises 5,916,600 6,020,000 Level3 Income capitalisation method  Monthly unif rent, based on saleable floor area The higher the monthly unit rent,
with market unit rent ond using direct market comparable and faking the higher the fair value,
capitalisation rate s the key  info account of fime, location, fronfage, size of and vice versa.
inpuf and discounted cash properties, prevailing market condition, which
flow analysis with market unit - ranged from HK$61 fo HKS83 (2024: HK$45 o
rent and discount rate asthe  HKS$74) per square foot
key input

WAENE ER BABRGE UTRENRSR EUAR RETHERTHENEZIEREER ARUS IALEEES R
BACEATES NS  DEGRMEZERVIE BERANRTD Ti#he
NEERREREMOUT B ENTELHROVETESIET (20245 465
GEMRERURZATEE nEMER)

N6
Capitalisation rate, taking into account the The higher the discount rafe,
capifalisation of rental income potential, nature e lower the fair value, and
of properties, prevaling market condition, which — vice versa.
was 3.10% (2024: 4.25%) per annum
BAE BHRECHEUAZER L YEZY  BAGEER IALEEEED
BROMBRT HASEI0%(0U4F 425%  RZM%e
Discount rafe, taking info account the net The higher the capitalisation
capitalisation rate and stabilised annual rental rate, the lower the fair value,
growth rate, which was 5% (2024: 6%) and vice versa.
BRB L RPEACERERERERRT BA ERZUs AAEENE R
5% (200441 6%) 2T57ke
Residential premises - 11,600 Level3 Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking info accountthe A significant increase in the
market unif rate os the key time, floor, bullding condition and size, befween  market unit rate used would
input the comparable, which was HK$8,008 per result in a significant increase
square foot in the fair value of the
investment properties, and
vice versa.
FEYE EKil EREEH UNSEMERES TREMER IBLHRITLBNER 2 KEE  ARATSEMERKBENG
E2E PNt BBFRRRA) ETFARE008E T SIBMRENEZARBEAR
B R2 4R
Macau
il
Retail shops/complexes 1,600,200 1,783400 Level3 Direct comparison method with - Market unif rate, mainly faking info accountthe A significant increase in the
market unif rate as the key fime, location, fronfage and size, between the market unif rate used would
input comparables, which ranged from HK$6,068 fo result in a significant increase
HK$130,200 (2024: HK$8,700 to HK$148,000) per in the fair value of the
square foot investment properties, and
vice versa.
TEBR/ER ER EREEH UNSEMERES TREMER IBLHRILBNER2BE M ARATSEMERKBEMG
E2EPNt BEBHARK ENFETHRO08ETE SIBRENEZAREEXE

130,2007 7 (20244 : 8,7007% 70 & 148,000% 70) B R 25 4Re

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT 147
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15. 15V &)

15.Investment Properties (confinued)

Commercial properties - 511,900 Level3 Income capitalisation method  Monthly unif rent, based on saleable floor area The higher the monthly unit renf,
with market unit rent ond using direct market comparables and taking the higher the fair value,
capifalisation rate as the key  info account of time, location, fronfage and and vice versa.
input size of properties, which ranged from HK$22 to

HK$98 per square foot.
fEESYE E3 BABRLE UTREMESR EUAR RETHERTHBNEZTEREER ARUR IALEEES R

BRCREAIEBANR BEHRMEZERVIE BEERAVENT B

BTAR2ETENEL

Capitalisation rate, taking into account the The higher the capitalisation
capifalisation of rental income potential, nature  rate, the lower the fair value,
of properties, prevailing market condition, which ~ and vice versa.
was ranged from 3% to 4% per annum

BERR SHRECHEUAZER L YEZY  BERGEER AALBEEED

BERAMEHR ENTEEINELS 277k
Residential premises 34,300 37,300 Level3 Direct comparison method with - Market unit rate, mainly faking info account the A significant increase in the
market unif rate as the key fime, location, quality, view, floor level and size, ~ market unif rate used would
input between the comparables, which was ranged result in a significant increase
from HK$6,189 to HK$6,251 (2024: HK$6,800) per in the fair value of the
square foof investment properties, and
vice versa.
FEME 234 ERESD UTBEMBRES TREMER FELHRILENERZBEVL  MEETBEMERABENG
FTEHALE BER BB BERANENTETARGIS  SIBRENEZAREEKE
BTE6,25187T (20046 :6,800787T) I RZ 4R
UK
5E

Retail shops/complexes/offices/ A ILELN) 2,511,689 Level 3
residential premises

Income capifalisation method  Monthly unit rent, based on infernal floor area using A significant increase in the
with market unit rent and direct market comparables and taking info market unif rent used would
capifalisation rate as the key  account of time, location, fronfage and size of result in a significant increase
input properties, which ranged from HK$14 to HK$211 in the fair value of the
(2024: HKS13 to HKS197) per square foot investment properties, and
vice versa.

TEBS/BR/HAE/ 35 BAERER UHREMEER EMAR RETRERILENEZIEREER MRATHENMABABENR
[RSVES BRLEEAIEBANR BEHRMEZHHVIE BERRANRTT  SIRRENEZARBEKE

RENTETARUBTENVET (024513 EIRZT%Ae
BTEI97ET)

Capitalisation rate, taking info account the The higher the capitalisation
capitalisation of renfal income potential nature rate, the lower the fair value,
of properties, prevailing market condition, which ~ and vice versa.
ranged from 3.75% to 4.5% (2024: 3.75% to 4.5%)
per annum

ERR SHRECASUAZER L EZYE  ERGEER IALBEEE
BROTERT ANFEEITNEASH(204  RZIFHR
F13T5%E45%)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group'’s investment properties with
fair value of HK$27,216,634,000 (2024: HK$29,200,308,000)
have been pledged o secure banking facilities granted to
the Group (details are set out in note 42).

148

R2025FE3A31H AEBERAE
E427,216,634,000/ 7t (20244 :
29,200,308,000%& 7T) WK EMEE T
B ERAEBERRITMENER
(FFBHRMNHEEA2) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

15. 1 EME &

15.Investment Properties (confinued)

Joint operation relating to investment
properties under development in The PRC

Some subsidiaries of the Company, Expert Pearl Investments
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Expert Pearl Group”) entered into a joint operation
agreement (the “JO Agreement”) with Shanghai Zhangxi
Investment Development Co., Ltd. (the “JO Partner”) to
jointly develop investment properties under development
located in Shanghai (the “Shanghai Property”). Expert Pearl
Group and the JO Partner intend to develop the Shanghai
Property infto a commercial complex ("The PRC Project”).
Under the JO Agreement, the saleable floor area would be
split between the parties in equal shares after the completion
of the development of The PRC Project. Pursuant to the terms
of the JO Agreement, The PRC Project is accounted for as
a joint operation.

There was litigation between Expert Pearl Group and the JO
Partner since 2006. In 2012, the Group received the court
judgement that the JO Agreement shall contfinue to have
effect. Details of these are disclosed in 2011/2012 annual
report.

As at 31 March 2025, the major asset in The PRC Project
is the investment properties under development with fair
value of HK$1,090,000,000 (2024: HKS1,195,000,000). The site
preparation work had been completed at the end of the
reporting period, the valuation has been arrived at by
adopting residual method.

As at 31 March 2025, the receivables related to a development
project of HK$160,911,000 (2024: HK$163,801,000) represent
the construction cost incurred by the Group and receivable
from the JO Partner,

ERPBEIRAERPIREME
ZEEER
XABZHBASEXpert Pearl
Investments Limited R EH B AT
(4B ATExpert Pearl®E ) B i
EBEREERABRAB (TI&EBH))
SluaEmE ((aEmE)  UHERE
BURLEmZzERPREY X (TL
BY)E ) cExpert PearlEEREGE
BHREE LB EEREABERAGAE
(MTPEIEE)) - REGEHZE FTNE
FHRERERPEIER ZEREZRZER
REHDTEZDEB - RIESEWE
ZBEFOHPEIBEEARASE X

H20064F#E Expert PearlEE &S
BB ZEEEREAR20125F K&
EZIERAR S EREEBEN
BRI IBIRER2011/20125F K-

02025 3R831H AEEENE
BEEAMERTREVE HANE
f£%41,090,000,000%8 7T (20244 :
1,195,000,0007% 71) - #th 3 25 T{FE
REREIART RN I ERAREEET
fifEe

F2026F 3831 H HERIBEE BB
FEUNFIE#160,911,0008 5T (2024
%:163,801,000% 7T) fEAEBEBE
ENREMRAREWESEBHEZRIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

16. 4% 1833 R 551

150

16.Property, Plant and Equipment

COST [5%:
At 1 April 2023 1202348 1H 502,873 3,033,597 545,424 669,320 4,751,214
Exchange realignment SRR (3.464) - (1.203) (363) (5,030)
Additions NE - - 4,140 13,067 17,207
Disposals HE - - - (8,573) (8,573)
At 31 March 2024 12024538 31H 499,409 3,033,597 548,361 673,451 4,754,818
Exchange realignment SMEZRE (5,676) - (608) (192) (6,476)
Additions HE 8 - 1,477 4,255 5,732
Disposals/written off WE /s (16,091) - - (6,201)  (22,292)
Transfer from investment properties  B#& B8

(nofe 15) (Hf3£15) 8,800 8,800
Derecognised on disposal of HEWB R BBHER

subsidiaries (nofe 12) (Hizt12) (74,508)  (3,042,397) (465,103)  (552,788)  (4,134,796)
At 31 March 2025 142025538 31H 403,134 - 84,127 118,525 605,786
DEPRECIATION ineE
At 1 April 2023 R2023F481H 123,640 797,607 496,046 610,402 2,027,695
Exchange realignment SRR (2.237) - (660) (284) (3.181)
Provided for the year BEE Y B 16,125 73,904 23,520 32,197 145,746
Eliminated on disposal H & RFIg 8 - - (8,429) (8.429)
Af 31 March 2024 12024538318 137,528 871,511 518,906 633,886 2,161,831
Exchange realignment SMEFRE (1,436) - (CYE)) (148) (2,057)
Provided for the year EFEZBE 14,482 30,542 10,922 14,102 70,048
Eliminated on disposal/written off — H& /i S5EE (5,235) - - (4,890) (10,125)
Eliminated on disposal of HEWBA BRI

subsidliaries (nofe 12) (Hs12) (28,597)  (902,053) (453,000)  (533,486) (1,917,136)
At 31 March 2025 142025538 31H 116,742 76,355 109,464 302,561
CARRYING VALUE IRE(E
At 31 March 2025 12025538 31H 286,392 7,772 9,061 303,225

At 31 March 2024

12024838318

361,881

2,162,086 29,455

39,565 2,592,987

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZEIMEBEAR QA
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

16.Property, Plant and Equipment (confinued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, at
the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and Over the estimated useful lives of
buildings 40 years or the unexpired ferms
of the relevant leases, whichever

is shorter

Over the estimated useful lives of
40 years or the unexpired fterms
of the relevant leases, whichever

Hotel properties

is shorter
Leasehold 10 - 20%
improvements
Others 10 - 33'3%

As lease payments for land and buildings elements cannot
be allocated reliably, the entire lease includes in the carrying
amount of the leasehold land and buildings.

The locations of leasehold land and buildings and hotel
properties shown above are as follows:

16. 4% W3 st @)

TEDME KB RREREGSEIE
BERNEGR LR T SFLERES

DU S EL Y A HL SR A

HE R st R E R EH

BF PO+ F S AEREA
ZAREmER
(UBIEE » %)

BEY)ZE st Rl A FH
PO+ F e AEREAY
ZARJEmEH
(UBIEE %)

HEYEEE  10-20%

Hth 10-33"/3%

MRt RIEFE D 2 HERBEZE
RO B ENESREE T
RiEFZIREE

R 0 R N S R 2 A
BT

Leasehold land and buildings ERAZHE L MRIEF
in Hong Kong 27,974 29,243
Buildings in The PRC BT 258,418 275,067
Buildings in Macau B2 BT - 57,571
286,392 361,881
Hotel properties in Hong Kong BB ZBIEME 1,372,140
Hotel properties in Macau B2 BIEY) 789,946
2,162,086
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

17.Right-of-Use Assets

152

17.ERESE

COST s
At 1 April 2023 and 202348 1TH &

31 March 2024 202438315 558,046
Derecognised on disposal  HE B A E & iHER

of subsidiaries (note 12) (ftat12) (558,046)
At 31 March 2025 5220255 3H31H -
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2023 R2023F 48 1H 100,723
Provided for the year KEE 7B HE 18,717
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3831H 119,440
Provided for the year KEE 2 EHE 6,915
Derecognised on disposal  HEMIE A B & IHER

of subsidiaries (note 12) (Hta%12) (126,355)
At 31 March 2025 202538 31H =
CARRYING VALUE IRMEE
At 31 March 2025 522025%3H31H

At 31 March 2024

12202435 31H

438,606

15,635 573,681
(857) (558,903)
14,778 14,778
6,723 107,446
2,540 21,257

9,263
2,290

128,703
9,205

(821) (127,176)

10,732

10,732

4,046
6,372

4,046
444,978

Expense relating to short-term leases

EREPEEZ A

Total cash outflow for leases

HEZREMHABEE

The Group leases certain leasehold lands and warehouse for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
for 10 years (2024 2 to 25 years). Certain leases of leasehold
lands in Macau are negotiated for an initial term of 25 years

with extension options exercisable by the Group.

Lease ferms are negofiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the contract

is enforceable.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024/2025 &1k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

17.Right-of-Use Assets (continued)

In addition, the Group owns certain commercial properties
classified as property, plant and equipment and investment
properties respectively. The Group is the registered owner of
these property interests, including the underlying leasehold
lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are not presented separately as the
payments made cannot be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office.
As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of leases disclosed
above.

18.Interest in an Associate

Interest in an associate represents the Group’s 50% equity
interest in Xinhui Hongsheng Property Development Company
Limited ("Xinhui Hongsheng”). In view of the composition
of board of directors of Xinhui Hongsheng, the Directors
consider that the Group has significant influence over Xinhui
Hongsheng. Xinhui Hongsheng is established in The PRC and
is engaged in property development in The PRC.

17.EREEE @

Ioh AEEMA BB ETHESY
EN Py ey AL E Y L LY
o AEEARSYERN (QEEY
METH) ZEMES A-BREZS
MR BEAS I —SBRIE-M
RRAEAI DB TS MR EE
W3 TR S 2R ) SR ES B 2 5o

AEBMMAEEMTLEHEE R
2025%3H31H &2024F3H318 %
HEEHSHE EXEREHEHEGHE
o

18. ¥ —RIBE QT 2
R—EBE ARz BoniE S EBIRH
ERRMEZRBARAR (THIH
BB %Em-ENMEBRE
SN EFR/EERHMGE
BREABATZE - HEEENPERNL
I RREREYEERER-

Cost of investment in an associate,

unlisted JEET
Share of translation reserve DIEE R E
Share of post-acquisition profits eI EE R ET

R—FEME AR ZRERE

75,978
(6.937)
36,058

106,099

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in associate’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards.

ZHMERR U At AR
wRe

AEEBHBEATD ZVBEMBEZHN
TX-THHBER R ZIERIBEE B/
BREZENGHENRROBERT
MBHRERANTIRZ 8 EE

Current assets MENEE 341,084 378,395
Non-current assets ERBNEE 21,400 25,014
Current liabilities mENAaE (171,628) (199,363)
Revenue WA 16,402 424
Loss for the year FEEBEE (9,655) (529)
Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT 153
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

18.Interest in an Associate (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in an associate and
share of result recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

18. R—RtE AT 2 1Ex% @)
R A M BREDEDNN —
AEEH T EABROIEEESR it
BRI B ER T

Net assets of an associate —HBE R 2 EEZRR 190,856 204,046
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBNR—EBZE AT
interest in an associate =l g n ol 50% 50%
95,428 102,023
Effect of fair value adjustment at WERANBERAR
acquisition (Note) & (K32) - 4,076
106,099

The exchange loss of HK$1,809,000 (2024: loss of HK$3,787,000)
arising from franslation of financial information of an associate
for the year ended 31 March 2025 is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in translation reserve.

Note: During the year, the fair value adjustment on properties under
development at acquisition released to profit and loss and
included in share of result of an associate upon sale of the
properties amounted to HK$4,034,000 (2024: HK$80,000).

19.Interest in a Joint Venture

Interest in a joint venture represents interest in Castle Horizon
Holdings Limited ("Castle Horizon™) in which the Group
holds 50% equity interest. All decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of all the joint
venture partners sharing control. Castle Horizon holds 100%
interest in Superb Land Limited and Summer Estate Enterprises
Limited together with their subsidiaries, being the property
development companies of a development project located
at No.15 Shouson Hill Road West, Hong Kong.

BE2026F3A31HILFE #HE
—BBEARDYMBENELESR
E5181,809,000%8 7t (20244 1 518
3,787,000 75) Jh 1S H fh 2 [ W o B
RN E RS Rt

Mat: RAFE WERBEEREDKNHEE
MEFBAADE—BBELATDZE
BZERTMEZLAABERES
4,034,000/ 7t (20244 :80,0007%
7o) °

19.R—RaELE 2
R—Eea8bE s nlerEBRFE
Castle Horizon Holdings Limited
(TCastle HorizonJ) 2 50%p&#E-48
FMEBI 2B RREBLKMEBERERZE
ZEHEZaEBH—HA R Castle
Horizon¥ASuperb Land Limited
kSummer Estate Enterprises
Limited (ERAKEZWBEBLE) 2
100% @M HI9auURNEASELE
ISz ERIBE ZMEER AT

Cost of investment in a joint venture,
unlisted
Share of post-acquisition gain (loss)

L

R—EaEhEzREMAE,
DM ER W ()

Amount due from a joint venture

BR—BEaEEEZINRE

65,002 65,002
136,534 (60,958)
201,536 4,044

1,059,780 1,329,815
1,261,316 1,333,859

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

19.Interest in a Joint Venture (continued) 19.—HSE ¥ 2D @)

As at 31 March 2025, the amount due from a joint venture is
interest-free (2024: carried interest at 2.2% per annum). It has
no fixed terms of repayment and the Group has no infention
to exercise ifs right to demand repayment of the advance
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the amount forms part of net investment and it
is shown as non-current.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
joint venture is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in joint venture’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards.

fR20253H31 R B —BEER%E
ZRIERRE (2024F (REFEK2.2%
5tR) o IR E B EE R A
EEESNBSHRET @A R
EEEFNUEREEZIB R AU &
g%ﬁ*ﬁﬁi%?&:ﬁﬁ’\]—%ﬁﬁ’ilﬁ?']%#iﬁ

iﬁg%ﬂ?%ﬁ%%ﬁ?iﬁ)\ﬁéﬁjﬁ
E o

FEBGECEZHWBERBEEHRN
T NAMBENRRIERIBEE B
BREZEN G EARROGERE
MBHRERNIIRZ # R

Current assets MENEE 2,522,732 4,468,444
Current liabilities mEEE (2,270,493) (4,611,188)
Revenue A 2,633,288 870,540
Profit (loss) for the year FE @A (518) 394,983 (25,350)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture and
share of result recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

inferest in a joint venture

Net assets (liabilities) of a joint venture —f&& %> EE (BE) F48
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  KREER —B &S %
AR Z

RGZEUBRETRIIN—BEEE
XD 2 REERDIEEER LR
MBENBEZHRNOT:

Amount due from a joint venture
Effect of fair value adjustment on

acquisition of additional interest BEZEE

Bl —BaEhEZRE
WEEgRIMEm 2 AR EE

252,239 (142,744)
50% 50%

126,120 (71,372)
1,059,780 1,329,815
75,416 75,416
1,261,316 1,333,859

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had given a corporate
guarantee of HKS1,165,000,000 to a bank in respect of banking
facilities granted to Talent Charm Corporation Limited, a
subsidiary of Superb Land Limited, of which HK$719,892,000
had been utilised. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value
of the financial guarantee was not significant.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the corporate
guarantee is released.

R2024F383 10 AEEMERE
/AT (Superb Land LimitedZ fff
BAE) EEZIBTHER —MIIRT
IRHE R, 165,000,0008 75 &
719,892,000 8 TEEENH-EER
A MBERZ ARNBEFREKC

B E2025F 3831 HIEFE  EER
B #ERR

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

20.Goodwill 20.HL

CcosT RS
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 1R2023F 45 15202438 31H
K2 2025534 31H

IMPAIRMENT wWE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 532023548 1H2024F3831H
2025538 31H

CARRYING VALUE IREE

At 31 March 2025 #2025%3H31H

At 31 March 2024 1202438 31H 1,940
Regarding the remaining goodwill of HK$1,940,000 (2024: FERT 1,940,000 7t (20244 :
HK$1,940,000) for the purpose of impairment test, it has been 1,940,000 7t) 2 EmEM s AEITH
allocated to the cash-generating unit in relation to the lease B ZEEENEEYEHEEZR
of properties, and no impairment is considered necessary. FTEAE BIERECETE-

21.Other Assets 21. Hith& &

Club debentures and memberships, at cost EFr{E%5 & 58 IR 72

The club debentures and memberships have indefinite life. ERfESRERAAERFH
22.Properties Held for Sale 22. FEHE 2%

The carrying amounts of properties held for sale comprise RFELREZYEZREESEMN YU

properties situated in: THI AR E

Hong Kong 1,253,480 281,796
the PRC == 432 438

1,253,912 282,234

156 Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

23. FHEhEZ B RPME

23.Properties Under Development for Sale

The amounts represent projects of properties under
development for sale in Hong Kong.

Included in the amounts are properties under development
for sale of approximately HKS$3,118,812,000 (2024:
HK$3,081,186,000) which are expected to be recovered affer
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

During the year, the net interest capitalised in properties
under development for sale amounted to HK$399,906,000
(2024: HKS$362,203,000).

24.Trade and Other Receivables
An analysis of frade and other receivables is as follows:

ERTRENEERFFLEZERER
ES

ZEMELEZFFEEZERDY
%¥%93,118,812,000% 7t (20244 :
3,081,186,000% 7o) AT HF 1L #8R & HA
REEFH+ @8 BAIU[El-

REFEE FELREZERTYEZ
BAREH B3 4399,906,000% 7T
(20244 :362,203,000/87T) ©

24. 8 5 R H thEYTIE

B REMBWRIEZ RN T:

Trade receivables (Note Q) B2 WA (Fita) 18,608 59,175
Other receivables (Note b) H e URIE (BYato) 347,217 245,540

Deposits and prepayments (Note ¢) ¥ & FBIIE (fifatc) 137,691 241,736

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — FEW—RERI &M B A S HIE

(Note d) (Krata)

117,978 -

621,494 546,451

As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables comprise receivables
from contfracts with customers and lease receivables of
HK$136,000 (2024: HK$49,326,000) and HKS18,472,000 (2024:
HK$9,849,000) respectively.

As at T April 2023, frade receivables from contfracts with
customers and lease receivables amounted to HK$33,314,000
and HK$22,755,000 respectively.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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R2025€E3831H B EKRAIESR
BREFEREGHZEWRRIERE WA
ERIBEH R A136,0008 T (20244 :
49,326,000/ 7T) 518,472,000 7T
(20244:9,849,000E 7T) ©

R2023F4B 1H REEREH
B BWRIEREREERED &
33,314,000 7552 22,755,0007%8 7.0

REFBEEEERLF

157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBI R M E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

24.Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of
impairment allowance) based on either the date of credit
granted or the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is set out below:

158

0 - 30 days 0Z30H
31 - 90 days 31E90H
91 - 180 days 912 180H
Over 180 days 180H MU k&

24. B 5 R H th FEUERIE (42

et
B Bl
H A

SR AEEEZ B WA (0

BEREE RERHEEERAER
Fir Rt Z Ml AT A0 T
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$"000
F#x TAET
43,555
2,650
15
12,955
59,175

Notes:

@

()

©

@

No credit period was granted to tenants for rental of premises.
Before accepting any new tenant, the Group will internally assess
the credit quality of the potential tenant. No credit period was
granted to hotel customers generally except for those high credit
rafing customers to whom an average credit period of 30 days
were granted.

For gaming operation, the Group normally allows credit periods of
up to 60 days fo its credit approved customers, except for certain
credit worthy customers with long term relationship and stable
repayment pattern, where the credit periods are extended to a
longer period.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the trade receivable balances in
respect of other operations are debtors with carrying amounts of
HK$18,472,000 (2024: HKS$9,849,000) which are past due atf the end
of the reporting period.

As af 31 March 2025, included in other receivables are amounts due
from related companies of HK$65,735,000 (2024: HK$39,746,000).
These related companies are indirectly controlled by private
discretionary trusts which were founded by Dr. Yeung, a deemed
substantial shareholder of the Company. The amounts are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2025, included in deposits and prepayments are
refundalble stamp duties in respect of redevelopment projects of
HK$71,729,000 (2024: HK$145,654,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the amount represented the amount due
from a fellow subsidiary of HK$117,978,000 (2024: nil) in respect of
consideration receivable of the property disposal transaction. The
amount is unsecured, interest-fee and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment of frade and other
receivables are set out in note 40(b).

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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NN

AERTEREEYEZ ABARHE
B REMERMABEAZR AER
KPR BERBAZEEER &
MERTAEREEERRUEER &
EERFzERRIN MAREZFIEE
BE#I&308-

MBEEBMS ~EB-—ROETHEE
EERNERRERZ0HZEEMR 1
ETEAARPMGAREBEEREREANGE
BREFER REZEERIELRE—
BB R

1R2025F3H31H  HMEH 2 B FfE
W IR S R LS BRE 218,472,000 7T
(20244 :9,849,0007%8 7T) 2 FEUERRR >
HRBREMARERR-

120253831 B HEWARIEEE
& U B iE A Bl 2 ®IE 65,735,000 7T
(20244 :39,746,000%E 70) cZ LR E
AEIEBELE (REAERTDZEER
R) Iz AR IBE B EES AR
MIERERP - REREERER-

2202563831 B & RANRBERE
BRBEEZAIRIEHIERT1,729,0008
70 (20244 : 145,654,000 73) ©

20253831 B ZRIEEMYE SN
EXZZREREREMEKR—BIR NS
NBZEIE117,978,000 7T (20244 :
M) oZNBAERF RERLERE
%0

Re ELfih FE WX =0 IE BB T 55 15 &
$£40(b)°
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

25.Deposit in Designated Bank Account for
Development Properties

The amount of HK$9,503,000 (2024:; HKS9,628,000) (equivalent
to approximately RMB8,769,000 (2024: RMB8,728,000)), was
deposited to a bank account designated under 165EA[G
BEEEIER as deposit for resettlement in relation to the
development of the investment properties in The PRC. Such
bank deposit is restricted for setflement in relation to the
resettlement work and carried interest at 0.2% (2024: 1.0%)
per annum. The deposit is expected to be released within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period and
classified as current assets.

26.Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-Term Bank
Deposits/Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 March 2025, pledged bank deposits comprise
a deposit of HK$92,746,000 (2024: HKS30,811,000 classified
as non-current asset and HK$311,000 classified as current
asset), details of which are set out in notes 42(a) and 42(b)
respectively. The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest
rates of 0.25% (2024 ranging from 3.55% to 4.20%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, short-term bank deposits with an original
maturity over 3 months carried interest at fixed interest rates
of 4.7% (2025: nil) per annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and bank deposits with an original maturity of 3 months
or less and carry interests at the prevailing market rate af
0.01% (2024: 0.01%) per annum or at fixed interest rates
which ranged from 2.52% to 4.50% (2024: 1.50% to 4.58%) per
annum.

Included in pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits
and bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than functional currency of
the relevant group entities:

25. M ERMEEFR R ERITHRRA
ZTEmR
FEBEALRABERREERE
ERITERFFA9,603,000% 7t (2024
9,628,000 7) (MAEER A
R158,769,0007T (2024F : AR
8,728,0007%) ) » F % E #1785 R ElR
EYEZ RS RRTEMERRABIE
EMEMEE T2 EEAR LRE
FI%0.2% (20244 :1.0%) 5 8 -t
R AR REBRESH + AR

REpLREARBEE
26. BEITIRITIFMRFEHRSRITERR
/RITRBRRERE

F22025F3H31 B ERMIWITEM
BIEFEMR92,746,000% 7t (20244 :
30.811,000 B TR ERIFRBEERK
311,000B TR RBEE) HEF1E
D RIEI M EE42(a) KR42(b) - B
IR1TERIZ0.25% K E E FFI= (2024
F I F3.55%FE4.20%) 5t E°

2024438315 REHEHBBE3ME
BREHRTERIEEEEMNERL 7%
(20254 1 &) 5T B.o

RTHEGABECEEAEEFEZR
EREREFNPHAIEAIUT ZIBIT
HIBEFZF0.01% (20244 :0.01%) 5,
BEFEMENF2.52%F4.50% (2024
F:1.50%E4.58%) 5t B Z tR1717 7

BIEMIRITER ERRTERERT
HERRIETAE T UAERERERE
ZREEBLUNEBEREZEEA:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#Ewx TET

Macau Pataca (*MOP") JEPS T (MEPY ) 23,168

US Dollar ("USD") FEt (M1E5T)) 320

Renminbi ("RMB") ARE(TARE)) 865

Pound Sterling ("GBP") sagE (TEsE ) 579

Euro ("EURO") Broo (TERT) -
Emperor International Holdings Limited #EZEMREEER A 7 159
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

27.Trade and Other Payables

An aging analysis of the Group’s frade payables based on
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is set out
below:

0 - 90 days
91 - 180 days

0Z90H
91% 180H

27. B 5 R EMETTRIE

REESHFR ~EEE 5 RORBRE
HEOMFTFHZRE DT

26,264

Amount due to a shareholder of

an associate (Note) (Htat)
Construction payables and accruals  FEf T2 RNIB R Est & A
Rental and other deposits received BWHEREMZS
Other payables and accruals Hih A IERESTER

PR —BIIE A B IRERARIE

2

26,266

1,286 1,309
344,537 277.725
276,306 397.734
218,862 213,431
840,991 916,465

Note: The amount due to a shareholder of an associate is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

28.Contract Liabilities

160

Pre-sales proceeds received

on sales of properties FRiS7RIB

HEYEFFRRZ A

Mizt: REA—EEEADRRRER BT

RERIBEREIE

AHaRE

689,474 3,169

As at 1 April 2023, contfract liabilities amounted to
HK$2,735,000.

During the year, the amount of HKS$3,169,000 (2024:
HK$2,735,000) which was included in contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year was recognised as
revenue.

The Group on average receives 10% of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. However, depending on market conditions, the
Group may offer customers a discount compared to the
listed sales price, provided that the customers agree to pay
the balance of the consideration early while construction is
still ongoing. The deposits and advance payment schemes
result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period until the customer obtains
control of the completed property.

R2023F4B1H &aHNEBER
2,735,000 50

REFEE FAFNENEEEFNE
83,169,000/ 7t (20244:2,735,000
B7T) BHERABUAC

AEEREFERI BEEWRR —
RREER10% SN EEEIERIZET A
meREHHIER WERREERT
ETHBRM I EZ &R EIHE
BELERT AEBEAEREFREMEIT
EomHBERANMSEEEZGNE
BEREEYMETZREES EERTR
S BEE B E 2 1 H -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

28.Contract Liabilities (continued) 28. a&a|E =

The Directors considered that the balance of contract
liabilities in relation to sales of properties at the end of the
reporting period will be recognised as revenue to profit or
loss as follows:

Current TREN

EXZBH RBESHRERBEENEL
BHREREHRFNIEmNESE S A
LI

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$"000
FEx TET

689,474 3,169

The changes in contract liabilities are due to i) changes in
the progress of sales of properties when the Group satisfies
the performance obligations under the contracts, or i)
increase in advance payments from customers for unsatisfied
performance obligation under the confracts.

29. Amount Due to an Associate

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

30. Amount Due to a Related Company

As aft 31 March 2025, the amount is unsecured and carry
interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") +
1.7% per annum (2024: HIBOR +1.7% per annum).

During the year, further advances from the related company
amounted to HK$394,654,000 (2024: HK$842,682,000) and
the Group partially repaid the principal of HKS1,348,197,000
(2024: HKS$744,585,000) to the related company. The principal
amount outstanding as at 31 March 2025 was HK$548,682,000
(2024: HKS$1,502,225,000). It was agreed with the related
company that the Group will repay the amount based on the
sufficiency of its operating cash flows. Therefore, the Group
revises its estimates on the timing and amount of repayment
to the related company and adjusts the carrying amounts
in accordance with the revised estimated cash flows with
the related company on regular basis. At the end of both
reporting periods, the total carrying amounts were classified
as current liabilities.

BHNEEEZFHHEN)EAERBTEY
ETENEXERYEHEEEEE =
iNERMENETRBETEOEEME
T BIRRIRLE MNP EL -

29. FE{3—RIBE 2B FRIE

BERMREABERT - REREEXRE
o

30. FEfI—FHRIEA B RIE

1220253831 B ARMRIET, A EK
HomAREBIRITRAZERE (TFAR
TREZEFEL) M.7% 2 FF =K (2024
FIHBRTAZEREMT.7%Z2FF
) 5HEF B

RAEAFEE REFERADZE—F
B #394,654,0008 7T (20244 :
842,682,000% t)  AEBEBEE
DA% 1,348,197,0008 7t (2024
F:744,585,00087T) TRAEAF -
R2025F 33 1HEREBEZAE
% 73548,682,000# 7t (20244 :
1,502,225,00078 71) 4% BARHIE A B 3%
B REERBBREERTERETER
EEERE - FHIt AEEEHREHA
REARZEET GRS RE EF]
HEMESEFHEARIRBZRRE R
BBV 5t 0 3R R BR (B o 7Y W B R 5 A
RBEREEDEARBER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

31. Amounts Due to Non-Controlling Interests of

162

Subsidiaries

As at 31 March 2024, the amounts represented unsecured
and inferest-free shareholders’ loans due to non-controlling
intferests of Luck United Holdings Limited (“Luck United™)
and Able Elegant Development Limited (*Able Elegant”). In
accordance with the contractual terms of the shareholders’
agreements, the amounts were repaid from surplus fund,
which represented cash available in Luck United and ifs
subsidiaries and Able Elegant after payment of all operating
expenses and payables, including but not limited to bank
loans and third party loans which were due for repayment
together with the accrued interest.

As at 31 March 2024, the respective management of Luck
United and Able Elegant deftermined that Luck United and
Able Elegant had adequate available surplus fund for the
repayment of all principal amounts outstanding to its non-
conftrolling shareholders. Accordingly, the amounts were
shown as current liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and repayable
on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, following the
discontinued hotel and hotel related operations as set out
in note 12, Luck United and Able Elegant are ceased to be
the subsidiaries of the Group. As the entire balance was
attributable to the disposed subsidiaries, the amount due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries were derecognised
accordingly.

31. (T HIB A B Z IR R FR I

R2024E3831H BRI REIERE
fJLuck United Holdings Limited
(TLuck United)) REBERBRA
B (TERE)) FERER Y BIRR AR
BEZREBEM - REBEREHZZSOK
MoRETEURKESER MEBEK
BeiELuck United REMBATLL
REBNRZNMERKRERNZ REMR
B (BIEEARRRIBEEZIRITER
RE=ZFEMR(EREHFE)) B2
FARE

2024438318 Luck United&#E
EBREEERERALuck United &%
BEREREIRAZEBGRESHEEERE
NEIFZERREZ 2 REELRSEEC
F I 52 R IER 20243831 BT A
MBBEERIZERER

B ZE2025F3F3THIEEE  RMIzE12
Freii LS RE RBEEBAER R
Luck United&EETLBAXRERZ
MB AR -HNEIFRERXREEHEN
BAT BILKRIERRECSHB AT Z
JEPER T AR IE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

32.Unsecured Notes 32. EIRIRERE

HK$80,000,000 unsecured notes carry  80,000,0007 T2 & E £
fixed coupon rate of 4.88% per ZEE4.88%stEBEBF
annum, payable annually with FBIR2020E 2| Hi
maturity in 2029 at carrying amounts  EIEIFZE 2 REE

HK$40,000,000 unsecured notes carry  40,000,0007 T2 & E
fixed coupon rate of 4.4% per ERBALRT B BEYE
annum, payable semi-annually with i B 72024 F ZIHE 2
maturity in 2024 at carrying amounts  EIEIFZE 2 EREE

HK$260,000,000 unsecured notes carry  260,000,0005% 7t 32 & & &£
fixed coupon rate of 4.5% per EEAS%ET B BE¥E
annum, payable semi-annually with i B 2024 F ZIHE 2
maturity in 2024 at carrying amounts  EIEIFZE 2 EREE

Less: Amounts due within one year BN —EREIEARRIE (AR

shown under current liabilities FEaBEE IR

Amounts due after one year shown — F—HE %2 HAFUE
under non-current liabilities (RIERENBEETFIIMR)

@ 79,893
©) 39,990
©) 259,960
379,843

(299,950)

79,893

The proceeds from the issuance of unsecured notes are
infended to use for general working capital purposes of the
Group.

Noftes:

(@) In October 2019, the Company issued unsecured notes of
HK$80,000,000. The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of
4.88% per annum, payable annually in arrears. The unsecured
notes carry effective inferest rate of 4.91% per annum. The principal
amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2029.

() InMay 2019, the Company issued unsecured notes of HKS$40,000,000.
The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of 4.4% per annum,
payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured notes carried
effective interest rate of 4.68% per annum. The principal amount
of the unsecured notes was repaid in 2024.

@) In May 2019, the Company issued unsecured notes of
HK$260,000,000. The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of
4.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured
notes carry effective interest rate of 4.68% per annum. The principal
amount of the unsecured notes was repaid in 2024.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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BOTEBEMRBZAENERBES
EEz—REESS-

HeE:

(a) 720194108 A& AF21780,000,000
BTEERRE - ERNZBRREEESR
B4.88%5t B MWEABFMNE - BIEHE
BZBREMERLN% - BIBMREL
A REAN 2020 FEiE -

(b) 12019F58 A2 F % 1740,000,0007%
TEEARBE-BIIRZRBRREEERER
4.4%5t B WABHFFN R - BILIRRE
ZEBRENEDL 68% MIKMRFEZ A
SRR 2024FEE-

(c) M2019%58 A& AFE17260,.000,000
BLTERARE BERREREEER
BA.5%st B WAEGFEN B -EKAR
BZEBRENERA.68% BILWREL
REEFEEN2024FFE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

33.Bank Borrowings 33.8R17EE

Bank loans RITE™ 16,604,981 18,291,731
The bank borrowings are repayable RITEEZEMB AW T
as follows™:
Within one year —FR 9,036,085 6,426,360
Within a period of more than one year ~ —&FE M F{ERBIBME
but not exceeding two years 4,427,565 6,263,896
Within a period of more than two years ~ MEMN EEFRBIBRE
but not exceeding five years 2,092,688 4,594,485
More than five years EEMUE 1,048,643 1,006,990
16,604,981 18,291,731
Less: Carrying amounts of bank BBREREER, X
borrowings that are repayable BER S HEK
on demand and/or due to BT HRRZIBITEMR
overdue and/or breached EEERIR—FRN
certain terms and amounts due AR IE (P
within one year shown under BEBE T
current liabilities* (16,604,981) (6,426,360)
Amounts shown under non-current RIEREBBEETNIIRZ
liabilities I8 11,865,371
*  Carrying amounts based on scheduled repayment dates set out in * REBEERERMERAEHZTEERE
the loan agreements. Hfo
#  Since the banks have not agreed to waive its right to demand o OBARBITRBRESRRIREENERER
immediate payment as at the end of the reporting period, the bank KREVEF IRz H WZERITEER
borrowings have been classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 202553831 HAEAREE &
2025.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank borrowings with R2025F3A3 B AEBKREESGH
carrying amounts of HK$16,604,981,000 in aggregate have 16,604,981,0008 cHIRTTEEE A
become overdue and/or the Group has breached certain B/ AEAEBCERERBENE
terms of the loan agreements. The Group is negotiating TR - AN EE B3R I B IRTTRE s AR RS
with banks to agree on the financial restructuring plan. Up BEAFEER B -BEREMBER
to the date of the consolidated financial statements were REHMERE#ETIZE 2B ERDNETE
approved and authorised for issue, the negotiations are still iTHe
in progress.

Emperor International Holdings Limited #ZBIEBHER A 7
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

33.Bank Borrowings (confinued) 33.8R1TEE =

The bank borrowings carry floating rate interests, mainly
ranging from HIBOR + 0.84% to HIBOR + 2.00% per annum
and at Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA™) + 1.53%
per annum (2024: HIBOR + 0.84% to HIBOR + 2.00% per annum
and at SONIA + 1.53% per annum).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank borrowings of
HK$12,335,567,000 (2024: HKS13,641,731,000) are secured by
certain assets of the Group (see note 42(q)).

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank
borrowings is at 5.42% (2024. 5.85%) per annum.

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than functional currency of
the relevant group entities:

GBP

IRITEERIIF G MREEN
FEHBIRITRAZEFFEMO0.84%EFEBIR
TRIZERENN2.00% 2 FF= 1 BE
REFRRIFRTIGH K (THF BRI
IR ) IN1.63% 2 FFIZ (2024
FNFEBRTEXERFEMO.84%=E
BBIRITEFEFFEM2.00% 2 FFEHK
REBREIT AT RI.53% 2 F 7
K)ET R

J22025%F 3831 H  AEEZRITIE
§12,335,567,000% 7t (20244 :
13,641,731,000% 70) UREEETFTE
EFIRI (RMFEE42(a)) °

RITEENMETIIBERENXS
5.42% (20244 :5.85%) °

RTEEEENATUEFMERERZ
e BB LMY G EBE 58!

1,116,806 1,139,352

34.Lease Liabilities

Lease liabilities payable: FEHEESE:

34.1HE &S

Within one year —FR 2,787
Within a period of more than one year —F U EERBBERE
but not more than two years 2,665
Within a period of more than two years MEU FBRBBERE
but not more than five years 7,957
More than five years AEM E 20,077
33,486
Less: Amount due for settlement within PEREIPNE UI=RERIRZE)N
one year shown under current —FRNEBELE
liabilities B 2,787)
Amount shown under non-current RIERBBEETIIRZ
liabilities E QL] 30,699

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities is 4.0% (2024: ranging from 3.5% to 4.0%)
per annum.

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

34.Lease Liabilities (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$4,421,000 (2024: HK$33,486,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$4,046,000
(2024: HK$26,112,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security inferests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Except for the leasehold lands and related assets
recognised in Macau as at 31 March 2024, other related
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

As at 31 March 2025, the amounts of lease liabilities are
secured by rental deposits with carrying values of HK$600,000
(2024: HK$676,000).

35.Deferred Taxation

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years.

166

At 1 April 2023 1202348 15 (319,829)
Exchange realignments SMNEAE -
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (0R) st ABH (27.378)
Credit fo equity ARG 125
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAR (#1738 25,706
At 31 March 2024 1202435 315 (321,376)
Exchange realignments SMNEFE -
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (0B3) st ABE (16,994)
Derecognised on disposal of HEWBAREHEK

subsidiaries (nofe 12) (HyaE12) 63,565
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAR (#1738 17,650
At 31 March 2025 12025538310 (257,155)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset.

4.HEGE#=

¥ 70 & YR w1 3 224
7202643831 0> ERIMEEE
4,421,0007% 7t (20244 :33,486,000
7 7T) SRR A M E A 4,046,00038
70 (20244:26,112,000% 7t) - HHE 1
EREAARAZREEE Y BRE
51> 3 45 IS INE (7 223 0 BR 0 2024 4
3531 AEBMRPIAE T RAEHE
S BthiamAEEE TS AEEE
EREaEED

R2025F3B31H - HEAEEE
MERMEEA600,0008 7t (20244 :
676,000 70) MIH ST (FH R

35. IRIEIRIE

FEERBEFERTZ T ZIELERE
(BB BEKREBESHN T

(4191) (1,691,018) 214,096 (1,800,942)
- 50,486 - 50,486
- 41,001 24,007 37,630
- - - 125
- - - 25,706

(4191)  (1,599,531) 238,103  (1,686,995)
- 26,271 - 26,271
- 45,018 17,007 45,031

- 58,506

(50,130) 71,941
EXT) 3,690
(4,191)

(1,469,736) 191,020

(1,540,062)

MEEMHERRERZE2IME  ETE
EMEBEEERBREFRKEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

35.Deferred Taxation (continued) 35.IRIEIRIA (&

At 31 March 2025, the Group had tax losses of HK$3,235,612,000
(2024: HK$3,770,022,000) available for offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of HKS$1,132,738,000 (2024: HKS$1,463,889,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$2,102,874,000 (2024: HK$2,306,133,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised
tax losses of the Group might be carried forward indefinitely,
except for an amount of HK$36,364,000 (2025: nil) as at 31
March 2024, which will expire in three years from the year of
assessment.

Under The PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by The PRC
subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to retained profits of The PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HKS7,182,000 (2024: HK$4,456,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probbable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of HKS$130,939,000 (2024:
HK$185,427,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

JR2025F3/3 1 H AEEBERFHBM
THE5183,235,612,000% 7T (20244 :
3,770,022,00078 70) AJff FILHH AR 2K
mAleZEREHF£1,132,738,0008
70 (20244:1,463,889,0007% 7t) B 78
SIEEIR TR G E - B P AR F 2R Z
eI FERIMS 88 S 222,102,874,0007%
70 (20244 :2,306,133,00078 7T) i f&
BAIELERIAE E - N EE Z RFER
MIARS 1R Pl REAAS 88 1702024 3
A3THEFRNEEEIFAE R ZRE
36,364,000 7T (20254 : #) fRSbeo

BB PR T RS L SLPENE R
5] P B B A1) T Bk 2 iR B B B 78
AR o RIS 2 & [ AE S 42 /1) 138 [ B s 14
=RZzEE BAEREGRMEERIES
GIF BR[O A& B IR R E
MBARZREBEMERZEREE
7,182,000/ 7t (20244 : 4,456,000
BT REEMBREANFHIELERIE
Bitho

SRR A E BB A R & 1t
EE%130,939,000# 7T (20244 :
185,427,00078 7T) » # £ 5t 5% % P 1
YT EREDIRLERNBEEE AR
A RPIBE A R EHN 7 B RE
BIBE R ER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

36.Share Capital 36.fg%

THE COMPANY AT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each EREECOIBITZZIER

Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 20234818~
and 31 March 2025 202438318 &
2025%3H31H 500,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETAEHE:
At 1 April 2023 and R2023F4H 1H &
31 March 2024 202438 31H 3,677,545,667
Issue shares upon rights issue (Note) RS BFEE 1T AR (D (fif5E) 1,838,772,833
At 31 March 2025 4202538318 5,516,318,500
Note: On 31 July 2024, the Board announced a rights issue on the basis BizE: FR2024F7H3VH EEGEMELR

of 1 rights share for every 2 existing shares held by shareholders
of the Company at a subscription price of HKS0.25 per rights
share. The rights issue was completed and 1,838,772,833 ordinary
shares were issued on 24 September 2024. Details of the rights
issue was disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 30
August 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

37.Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme™) on 19 September 2023.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised
as follows:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate
talented participants to strive for future developments
and expansion of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Eligible participants include:

0)

(i)

(iii)

employee participants including employees
(whether full time or part time), executive directors
and non-executive directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries;

related entity participants (i.e. directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries of the holding companies or associated
companies of the Company); and

service providers, including advisor, consultant,
contractor, agent or representative of any member
of the Group, a person or entity that engages
in construction, renovation contractor, property
agency, design and/or project development work,
tfo any member of the Group, including any other
service providers as required in the ordinary course
of business of the Group.

(c) Total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

No option has been granted since the adoption date of
the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, 367,754,566 shares under the
scheme mandate limit and 183,877,283 shares under the
service provider sublimit respectively were available for
issue, representing 6.7% and 3.3% of the fotal number of
issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) of the
Company respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

37.Share Option Scheme (continued) 37.fEBpgtEsTE =
(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible (ADEREFIETERSE
participant under the Share Option B2HEEERED LR

170

Scheme

() Not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company (excluding any options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant unless otherwise
approved by the shareholders.

(i) Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors of the
Company or their respective associates in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate more
than 0.1% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company on the date of such grant must be
approved by the shareholders of the Company.

(e) Period within which the option may be

®

exercised by the grantee under the Share
Option Scheme

At any fime from the date of grant of the option to such
a date determined by the board of directors but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period of options granted under
the Share Option Scheme

Not less than 12 months. A shorter vesting period of
less than 12 months may be granted to employee
parficipants at the discretion of the Board or the
Remuneration Committee (as the case may be) under
specific circumstances in the Share Option Scheme.

(9) (@ Amount payable on application or acceptance

of the option: HKS$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must or
may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iiiy Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

() BRIFRRZITHE SANE
ERTAH(8FEZA) LE
1218 5 8 R BB A A E
BEETRMOBEH (FEERE
B AR ST EMR RS AR
FBAIRTE) B9 %

(i) PEERLAHN(B8FZA)
IE12E R BB B ART EE
REIBIUIFATESTIRK
EEENBMBARLHER
BEHMAATREL B
BETRMABE0.1%LL LAY
RN B REAL

(e)ERESEETREAR

1TER AR Z B MR

RELBREOBEEEEaE
T2 B 0 AR KR
EER T RERBIBE O et
104

(f) 1R 45 B8 B 1 51 81 4% h BB g

1 2 B7 & HA

DB 1218 B o 5 BB B 1 5T BB
BEBR T EEARHHEES Y
(RIERTIE) AR RS S 5
BE BRI 2B NREHBH-

(Q)) FEREMBREBEN >

£%8:1.00/87T;

(i) MEHFEMTABENGR
ZHR Y HEE28H
N

(i) FEf LB RABENE
MEEMAR TERC
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37.faietEstal @)

37.Share Option Scheme (continued)

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board and will
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (o) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (¢) the nominal value
of a share.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shalll be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on its effective date,
being 17 October 2023.

38.Disposal of Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had
disposed of the following subsidiaries:

On 19 July 2024, Emperor Property Investment Limited ("EPIL")
entered intfo a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of
the entire equity interest in Accurate Choice Developments
Limited and its subsidiaries ("Accurate Choice Group”),
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, which
held properties covering various locations in Hong Kong, and
all loan due by Accurate Choice Group to EPIL fo a company
indirectly controlled by a private discretionary trust which was
founded by Dr. Yeung at a total adjusted consideration of
approximately HK$1,142,352,000. The disposal was completed
on 17 September 2024.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of Accurate Choice Group was as
follows:

(EETHEEZEE
TEEREEYEE LRTER
UTRES: (a)RHRES A S
TS B RBERABRHE;
(D)RIHF RIFEH APA LA E
¥ AT RS HRERFARN
T E; R (C)IAA B (E

(i) BB R ZER THAMR

fERe st 8/ B HAM A A (B12023
FI0R170) BFH10FRB UK
EXE

38. L EMIB AT

B E2025F3R31HIEFE - TEEE
HEUTWEB AR

R2024F 78190  HEMERERR
RE)(THEMERE FTILEE R
DU AR 4B E491,142,352,0007E 7T
m—ERGEIRIIZARBEE
MEEfz AR HEHERAccurate
Choice Developments Limitedk
HIffBAT (TAccurate Choicef
B (BAEAABZEEEZEWNB AR
FELERSBLHMNYE) N2 I RE
LUK Accurate ChoiceERERNHEE
MERBENFMBEM - HEB 1202445
9B 17H5E/-

BRI EAccurate Choice& B2 1]
S RIBEEEBYRAFEZONANT:

HK$°000
FEx

BUERENE
PRHERITHE RIS

BERAHENBASZRERREEE
VIR P ER

Cash consideration received
Bank balances and cash disposed of

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries
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38.Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 38. HEMEBATE @)
The net assets (liabilities) of Accurate Choice Group at the Accurate Choicef EERHERBEZ
date of disposal were as follows: BE B/ FEUT:

Investment properties (note 15) KB (HaE15) 1,142,800

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  EfEWZIE IR & K FER TIB 23,414
Bank balances and cash WITHERKIRE 1,216
Other payables and accrued charges HM A RIB R ESE A (8,273)
Taxation payable FE(TTRIE (5)
Bank borrowings IRITEE (13,110)

Deferred taxation (note 35) SRIERRIE ([ 52 35) (3,690)
1,142,352

Gain or loss on disposal is calculated as follows: HEWRNBERFAENT:

Cash consideration received BUERENE 94,040

Settled through current account HiR—EREABS ZRERF &N
with a related company 1,048,312

Net assets disposed of FTHEBEEFE (1,142,352)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had B E2024F 383 1 HIEFE AEEB
disposed of the following subsidiaries: HEXNTHEAS:

On 3 July 2023, EPIL entered into a sale and purchase R2023F7B3R REVMERES]
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in T—MEBEWmE UKBBELEN
Joybridge Services Limited and its subsidiary (“Joybridge 1,944,215,00078 7T A — B #3186
Group”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, T2 ARIBEEEEESZ AT H
which holds a shopping mall located at No. 560 King's & H R Joybridge Services Limited
Road, Hong Kong, and all loan due by Joybridge Group KEH B AT (TJoybridge®E) (3
to EPIL to a company indirectly controlled by a private AABEREZEMNBLAR FEURE
discretionary frust which was founded by Dr. Yeung at a total BHREBSOOFEN—EBYH L) 25
adjusted consideration of approximately HK$1,944,215,000. MR KRJoybridge MG R 2
The disposal was completed on 22 September 2023. ?ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ? ﬁ’j; BEEM-HEBR2023%F

b o
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38.Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 38. HEMBATE @)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BREYEJoybridgeEB & &R
respect of the disposal of Joybridge Group was as follows: EEBYRAFEZOMUT:

Cash consideration received BWIRERE 1,944,215

Bank balances and cash disposed of PR ERITHA R RIRE (1,050)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ERHENBARZREKRIREEE
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries YRR 28 1,943,165
The net assets (liabilities) of Joybridge Group at the date of Joybridge S EIRHEHMZEE (&
disposal were as follows: &) FEWT:

Investment properties (note 15) KEME (f515) 2,000,000
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  EhFEWIE G & K TE B 3,620

Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 1,050
Other payables and accrued charges HEIRIE K st & (34,749)
Deferred taxation (note 35) IRFEFRIE (fif5235) (25,706)

1,944,215

Gain or loss on disposal was calculated as follows: HEWRNERFTEN T

Consideration received BEWAE 1,944,215
Net assets disposed of FTEEEEFRE (1,944,215)

39.Capital Risk Management 39. B AIGEIE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in Z_’;‘%%@%%Zﬁ’ DURRAEE N
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern Eg%%’@%&%&ﬁ%ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ—%&%%’ﬁ
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the R BB BIL M R SR E R
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s DB LR AEE 2 BIERIRRE
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. FHFE

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which Z§$ Zﬁﬁ£¢ﬁ*§’lﬂ% B35 (85
includes amount due to an associate, amount due to a 53 BIB M EE29230~31+32~33 K 34FR
related company, amounts due to non-controlling interests ?ﬁ@é‘zﬁéﬁ—ﬁeﬁ Hﬁ%%@a%’xlﬁ\ﬁgﬁ—
of subsidiaries, unsecured notes, bank borrowings and lease RIS %’)EE ~FEAT B /B AB) 2 IR
licbilities in notes 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 34 respectively, net BAEHEMA MIER R ROEER
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to HE&R) \Eﬁﬁﬁfﬁff}g%%%&
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital ZK’&E%EEAH%TE Ham (BIEEETR
and reserves. K fEE) o
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39.Capital Risk Management (confinued) 39.EXEMER @
The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis. EETHREARB FAZBEZ
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of — B EEEREARARESEER
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. ZAEERB - RIBEEEESR AEEF
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will BB TR B~ EEITHT IR B AR 15 B (o] L
balance its overall capital structure through the payment RETHENBRIRAEHR FHHE
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well EI= RN

as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

40.Financial Instruments 40. £FITH
(a) Categories of financial instruments ()R T AZER

Financial assets EMEE
Amortised cost i iH Bl A
Receivables related to a BR—EZEEER
development project FEU R IE 160,911 163,801
Amount due from a joint venture B —R&E hE I8 1,059,780 1,329,815
Deposit in designated bank MERMEGTHINIETE
account for development RITRP ZER
properties 9,503 9,628
Trade and other receivables B 5 K B fth fE Wk 1B 513,586 324,057
Pledged bank deposits BIRFIRITIER 92,746 31,122
Short-term bank deposits FRHRIRTTERR - 14,900
Bank balances and cash IRITHEFRRIRE 639,588 1,479,449
2,476,114 3,352,772
Financial liabilities ERHaE
Amortised cost i 1H Bl A
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMENIE 818,249 873,086
Amount due to an associate E— B E A B FIE 130,035 132,370
Amount due to a related company  FET—REIRE AT HIE 548,682 1,502,225
Amounts due to non-controlling FET BB A B) 2 FEHERR
interests of subsidiaries HmARIa - 39,523
Unsecured notes LR ERE 79,910 379,843
Bank borrowings RITEE 16,604,981 18,291,731

18,181,857 21,218,778
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40. £/ TH @
(b) ARG EER S RER

40. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in
above table and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures o ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate which will aoffect
the Group’s financial results and its cash flows. Several
subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency sales
and purchases, but the management considers the
amount of foreign currency sales and purchase is
insignificant. The management considers the Group is
not exposed to significant foreign currency risk in relation
to fransactions denominated in MOP and USD. Exposures
on balances which are denominated in MOP and USD
in group entities with HKS as functional currency are not
considered significant as MOP and USD are pegged to
HKS.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the ended of the reporting period are as follows:

FEBZFEETMT RN ERK
HEaGBFRY-ERMITAZFIBTE
ERNERARE -ARAZEERMT
AZzRB SETHERAR (ONER
BRAEEER)  ERRBRKRRE
B B o WAR B % 3 LR 2 B
RENTX-EEEHZSTARE
TEERER BERURFAYRE
ZHNBITEEZH

3% AR
Sh s B

SNERBRIERE ERERM B E
BRERERBZINBEXREH
ZEB - rEBRETHBATA
KEE BEEERIRINEEE
THBIEAR-BERBIANER
LURPITTRETEBZR ST &
SR EEEREARINE AR B
RPFITT R E T BB T UL
RBaUBTANEER 2 ERBE
R LURPITT R ETTE B2 iR
ZEBILRER

REBRBREPRIEEEZE
REEREEARZREEBNT:

569 865 - -
11,144 579 ERARLX) 1,139,352
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40.Financial Instruments (continued)

176

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (contfinued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk in relation
to the outfstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items at the end of the reporting period,
which included pledged bank deposit, short-term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash and bank borrowings.
The sensitivity to foreign currency risks arising from the
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items has been determined based on the reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rates
of RMB and GBP against the HKS. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change of 5% (2024. 5%) for exchange rate of RMB
and GBP against HKS, while all other variables are held
constant. A positive number below indicates a decrease
in loss before taxation where RMB strengthened and GBP
weakened against HKS. Where the RMB weakened and
GBP strengthened against HKS, there would be an equall
and opposite impact on the loss before taxation and the
balances below would be negative.

RMB against HK$S
GBP against HK$

ARBRET
RBERZABTT

40. £FT A &
(b) HERAMEETS RBER &

w5 m b (&

g mBE (72

AEBMPCREHARR TR Z I
REEERIER (BECRFIRT
FRREHRBTERRITERKR
RBERIRTHEER) AR ERE -
HARARMZIINBEEEKERMR
EEZIIERBRZHBRETDRE
ARBEHEERBITZINBER
2P REEEMEE - P RFI
FEBTEARBHRERBTZ
SNEERGIE P BEE$)5% (2024
F:5%) MATAE HMEEFRFHE
RFzBRE - TREHKRBAMAR
HRBTIAEBRRERBTEE
AIRRIR AT E IR D o ARIE B
TR ERRERETAE IERE
MABERERFERER ZFZE

N REFRE DB
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$°000
FErx TET

28 44
(55,283) (56,939)

(55,255) (56,895)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes.
As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the Group
does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the need
arises. The management continuously monitored the
foreign exchange exposure and would consider hedging
other significant foreign currency risk should the need
arose.

FEBRBREPRIBEEZE
KEERBBZREERENE
RAFIEER o 202543831 H K
20243831 B> AEFE I FHINE
HHABRR-AM ~EBEERES
ERNERBRERNEEREEH
MEXRINERG - EEEREER
SNE R G E B I PHMER
SMEERBE (M R) ©
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40. £FTH @
(o) AR EES S REE (@)

40.Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (confinued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value inferest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate deposit in designated bank
account for development properties, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits, fixed-rate bank
deposits included in bank balances, fixed coupon rate
unsecured notes and lease liabilities. The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation primarily
to its variable-rate bank balances, amount due to a
related company and bank borrowings.

The Group’s cash flow inferest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from
the Group’s variable-rate bank balances, advances
from a related company and bank borrowings and
SONIA arising from bank borrowings.

The Group’s sensitivity to cash flow interest rate risk has
been determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for the above mentioned financial assets and liabilities
at the end of the reporting period and management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rate and assuming that it took place at the beginning of
each year and held constant throughout the respective
year.

Except for bank balances and deposits using 5 basis
points (2024: 5 basis points), if interest rates had been 100
basis points (2024: 100 basis points) higher and all other
variables were held constant, the potential effect on loss
for the year is as follows:

Decrease (increase) in loss for the year  FE E85E/> (1210)

- Bank balances —IR1T4E R

- Amount due to a related company —fE{—REIEA T FIA

- Bank borrowings —iR1TEH

mismE (&)

e
FEBEHMERYETFTHINIE
ERITRPZEEMEREFR BE
BIBTEREHRITER A
IRITHEBANEENFRRITER
EERSMEXERBEBEREES
BEARNAABENERER X
EBTMEF SN RBITEER B
t—ERERAEMEREBITEE
EXIRSRENREMR-

FEFRZRERENXRE T2
EPRAEBF B KRBITEER
RE—HRAEAR ZBMKIET
BEFREEZEBRITAERE
RIBTEEFRMELEZRFERRE
S EPIESEk

AEBREAENXER 2B
E-DiRELEEHREERERR
BEHRZAMRRERREERBR
BFENHMROUEHEEZ FER]
FEEEFH G URRERFR
RIS LM T UEE-

PRERITAS B8R e 7 "k LU S B & &b
(20245 5B ER) HELEI - {F
FZ= EF100MEE RS (202441100
BEM RFFEEMEERET
BORINAFEBREZEELEN
T

2025 2024
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FEx THET

466
(12,544)
(134,794)

(146,872)

If interest rates had been lower in an opposite magnitude
and all other variables held constant, the potential effect
on the results would be equal and opposite.

WA REEEREBERPIE M
BERFAE AHEGERFAF
kAR ZBERE-
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40.Financial Instruments (continued)

178

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk management and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge obligations by the counterparties at the end
of reporting period are arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on frade balances individually. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, lifetime ECL
of HK$381,000 (2024: HK$135,000) for certain frade
receivables was recognised as the management
considered the amounts from certain customers was
credit-impaired. During the years ended 31 March 2025
and 31 March 2024, none of certain tfrade receivables
was reversed upon settlement from these customers of
which recognised as credit-impaired previously.

The management has also assessed all available forward
looking information, including but not limited to the
economic outlook and subsequent settflement of these
customers. As at 31 March 2025, impairment allowance
with an aggregate balance of HK$255,000 (2024:
HKS$14,930,000) represents individually credit-impaired
frade receivables from contracts with customers and
lease receivables with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$5,771,000 (2024: HK$27,240,000) as the
management considered the outstanding balances
from these customers were uncollectible.

Lifetime ECL for the remaining frade receivables with an
aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$13,092,000 (2024:
HK$46,865,000) was insignificant and thus negligible to
be provided by the Group due to the low probability
of default of those debtors based on historical credit
loss experience. The management has also assessed
all available forward looking information, including but
not limited to the economic outlook and subsequent
settflement of these customers, and concluded that
the credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade
receivables and lease receivables is insignificant.

40. £FTH &
(b) MR EEREREE @

15 R b & 38 R B 5T A
REBAXRZHFRBSHARR
EBRTEEMELAEEREY
BERzZRXEERRE TR B
BUBRREMISECHIDE
MEEZREE

AR EERREERE AEED
Zk—>BEFaaBEEEERE
EEBHRKEMEBIERF LR
R IR BN R FE i U (o] B HA R 75 0 UL
Sy FEBERBERRAEEBEREER
HE R E 7 G ET RIE ST STt
MmE EFRATEEBZEER
R E AR

B ZE2025F3831HIEEE AR
EEEBRAETEPRZRIBHIIR
EERE WREDETEZERR
B2 ATEHREERE381,000%8
70 (20244 :135,0008 70) - &=
202543831 H K2024E3831
HIEFEE MEST A EER
BoERWUMEBEEEREEZER
B #E B O] o

BB EFAEC HA LS
ko BIEERRREEI R RZSE
BRZBEFEE 1202553831

» £ 4£255,00058 77 (20244 :
14,930,000/ 70) 2 B E# F 4
BRLABNEEREBEZEZEWK
NECQERETL AN KRERAE
EXIE #BRMEE 45,771,000 7T
(20244 :27,240,000%7T) > &
EERAZSEEPRPHNRERER
B A mTu(o]e

ERELEERRER ZFE
BABROBERBRME A&EEHG
RFETESBUWRIERREE
£3£13,092,000/8 7t (20244 :
46,865,000/ 7T) WEHITRHAEE
BRI TEXER BT B
BB LB R SRIEMEER
BEEFARNETNEARZEE
FHBEER TR AHAEERE
2 8 5 FE Wk IR K 1 & R W IE
WEBEERBRILFEK.
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40.Financial Instruments (continued) 40. R TH %

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HFERMEETR B REBER @
policies (continued)
Credit risk management and impairment assessment ERRBEERE KRR ET (&
(continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRITIREBIEF EMEZE
that has been recognised for frade receivables under WRIEEDBN 2 HEAEEEE
the simplified approach. 2 BEo

At 1 April 2023 R2023F481H 14,930
New frade receivables originated FREEZHIEE ZEINEIE
during the year 135
Write-off 2
At 31 March 2024 12024538 31H 14,930
New frade receivables originated FREEZHMIEE ZEINEIE
during the year 381
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries  HEM B AR % HiR (14,675)
Write-off fif 25 (1:1))
At 31 March 2025 #2025%3831H 255
Note: As at 31 March 2025, lifetime ECL for trade receivables MizE: 1220259 3831H EREMBE
from individual customers on gross carrying amount of #18,863,000#& T (20244 :

HK$18,863,000 (2024: HK$74,105,000) was HK$255,000 (2024:
HK$14,930,000) as the management considered cerfain
individual customers were credit-impaired.

During the vyear, lifetime ECL of HKS$381,000 (2024:
HK$135,000) was recognised due to amounts originated
which had been defaulted and fransferred to credit-
impaired.

During the year, an amount of HK$381,000 (2024: HK$135,000)
of trade receivables from certain credit-impaired customers
were written off as the management considered there was
no realistic prospect of recovery. During the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2025, none of lifetime ECL was reversed
upon settlement from certain customers.

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT
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74,105,000 70) B ME R % R
BERERENEARAREE
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ERAETENEFEHREE
HAE

RAFE BRTIERIE e
BHRATEREEERECES
R IRRES 2 MAREERR
381,000 7t (20244 :135,000
BIT) °

REFE HREEBRARK
FEIREUR Bl 7R 1B - 3 & 5 B R
ENETERZESRKRE
381,000 7t (20244 :135,000
BIT) BT MIE -8 E2024F K
2025 3H31HIEFE HER
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40.Financial Instruments (continued)

180

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk management and impairment assessment
(continued)

For the deposit in designated bank account for
development properties, pledged bank deposits, short-
term bank deposits and bank balances, impairment
allowance was insignificant and thus negligible to be
made since the management considers the probability
of default is negligible as such deposits are placed in
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies and have low credit
risk.

For the other receivables, with an aggregate
gross carrying amount of HKS$347,217,000 (2024:
HK$245,540,000), amount due from a fellow subsidiary
with  an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HKS$117,978,000, amount due from a joint venture with
an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$1,059,780,000
(2024: HKS$1,329,815,000) and receivables related to a
development project with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$160,911,000 (2024: HK$163,801,000), in non-
frade nature, impairment allowance was insignificant
and thus not provided since the management considers
the probability of default is minimal after assessing the
counterparties” financial background and creditability.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount
that the Group has guaranteed under the respective
contracts was HK$1,165,000,000 (2025: nil) as at 31 March
2024. Details of the financial guarantee contracts are
set out in note 19. At the end of the reporting period,
the management assessed the financial position of that
joint venture and the fair value of the collateral pledged
by the joint venture to the bank, and concluded that
there has been no significant credit risk arising from
the financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the
impairment allowance was insignificant and thus not
provided for financial guarantee contracts issued by
the Group.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adeqguate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of banking facilities and ensures
compliance with the financial covenants of the Group’s
bank borrowings.

40. £FTH &
(b) MR EEREREE @

E AR ERRBEN G (&)

A ERYEFRNIEERITER
F2ZHERBIRIRRITERREH
IRITERKRRITERMS  BHRA
B 7 R A BB FR S A ST AR 1 A8
BEZERNRSZRT ERA
B BEEERSEQHM XD 2
A5t [ IR {E 3 s M S K B
eEe

MIEEZHEEZ LM EWRRIE
“MRBEEE S 347,217,000
(20244 :245,540,000:% 75)
FEW— R RKM B A RIBAERK
HES117,978,000#8 &
W—EeErERBHEREES
$1,059,780,0007& 7T (20244 :
1,329,815,00078 75) L K £ 2%
RIEEBEMZERTIEEEEE
£1£160,911,000% 7T (20244 :
163,801,000/ 7T) M > HNEIRE
BEIGXZHFHEEER
EREBRAENOMEMIFEM
R R E T A E AR E5t

2o

Y BIERESAMS > 12202443
A3 B AEBEREMERGOER
Z i 88741,165,000,000% 7T
(2025%F 1 #E) M BT FRENZEF
BENME19-NREHR EEF
B a8 hEZHHRRUR
BECERMTFRTZETRZ
ARBE TRAMBEFREOL
BETEAREAER FEIL K&
EETZMBERARENZHER
BILFAERBLESIR

RBEEER
AEBRDESAR FAEELE
IRFRERRS S EYE R
B4 R U A L EEEA A R
FERESARRDANEYE K
ToEREEERTE SRR
R R T A B R E M B
i
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

40.Financial Instruments (confinued) 40. £F T H %)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (confinued)
The consideration of going concern assessment
prepared by the Directors are set out in note 3.1.1,
as the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HKS$13,081,672,000 at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$1,863,969,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and lease
liabilities and the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings, with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is based on inferest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Liquidity table

(b) HERMEER B REBER @

RBEZER (&

AR AEEKR20256F3 831
HNARBEEBEREERTEE
13,081,672,000/& 7T (20244 :
1,863,969,000/8 7T) » tREFARH
MFEEEFENEEFBHR
MI5E3.1.10

TEREIAEEZEMEBERAE
BEEEZHTENEIMBAZFB-
ERDLRBEAEEUERERZ
RREAMzERMEEREERR
ZRMBREREMMBR - LH
B W R ERERERBIRITE
EIAREREEEBEAR MAH
RITEBITEHEBEA AN -H
thIETEERMERZE MBI
RBEIHEERBHMEE -

ZREENERFTHEMNE-H
MRDFE BREREHARBR
FHRZHMERGH-

TEEER

At 31 March 2025 20255 3R 318

Trade and other payables BRREMENTE 818,249 - 818,249 818,249
Amount due to an associate FEf—E & ABME 130,035 - 130,035 130,035
Amount due to arelated company I —EBEEADZIE 548,682 - 548,682 548,682
\ariable-rate bank borrowings FERIEE 16,604,981 - 16,604,981 16,604,981
Unsecured notes BIRFZE 3,904 95,616 99,520 79,910
Lease liabilities HE&E 2,400 2,200 4,600 4,421

18,108,251 97,816 18,206,067 18,186,278

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT 181
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

40.Financial Instruments (confinued) 40. &R TH c&é)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) B RREER B REER @)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEBEERMR (&
Liquidity table (continued) TEE L (1B)

Af 31 March 2024 12024535315
Trade and other payables BERAMELE - 873,086 - - 873,086 873,086
Amount due to an associate e —MBEAFHNE - 132,370 - - 132,370 132,370
Amount due fo arelated company  FEfT—EIRIBATFIE 5.66% 1,502,225 - - 1,502,225 1,502,225
Amounts due to non-controlling FERHBARZ

interests of subsidiaries FEREGTE - 39,523 - - 39,523 39,523
Variable-rate bank borrowings FEHIEE 5.85% 7,496,148 12,126,309 1,065,884 20,688,341 18,291,731
Unsecured notes BIEREE 4.72% 324,076 15,616 87,808 427,500 379,843
Lease liabilities HEER 3.60% 3477 16,491 24,059 44,027 33,486
Financial guarantee (Nofe) RIRSHEAR (H12E) - 1,165,000 - - 1,165,000 -

11,535,905 12,158,416 1,177,751 24,872,072 21,252,264

182

Note: The amount included above for financial guarantee is the
maximum amount the Group could be forced to settle
under the arrangement for the full guarantfeed amount
if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the
guarantee. Based on expectations af the end of the
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that such an amount will not be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood

Wizz: LREBRERZESEHMHEBERR
ZEFRERE FEEATER
BREZHFNEMERTRESE
ZEREBETHE-RERBREARZ
R AEERARAERESR
BEZHZ A BEREER2AM L
HESHRERF X ZH FRFER
REREZEIEEMALZ M2
HREZFJEEREBURINZ 5 H
FRAFERRYBRUGRELIR

that the financial receivables held by the counterparty EERBEBZ IRk
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
Interest rate benchmark reform FREENRE

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement
of some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. For the variable rate bank borrowings that
are linked to HIBOR as set out in note 33, the Group had
confirmed with the relevant counterparty that HIBOR will
continue to be used up to maturity. The management
anticipates that the interest rate benchmark reform will
have no material impact on the Group'’s risk exposure.

EREEHTEMNKRAEEETR
AER T BEUEAMENE T E
R B F RENA — IR 1T R = 4 (E
ﬂ%ﬁtw*f%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁié}%fﬁﬁﬁ
i B HMIRYY BIRITERRM
ZK%@E&MEEE“T%EEEWH%E
BEREBRTAEZREEEE
H-EEERANKEENE G
HAEENREBRKBOENEKRT
gEO
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

41.Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from (used in) financing activities.

4. MEETEE 2 RRER

TRAHAEERETHELEZAR
S ORRERIIFRTEH BED
HELEZEENHETREELIRE
RERBERNFERGEREMNER
hoERARE (B METHEEZ
REREe

A1 Apri 2023 20234518 33,623 19,752,998 1,247,314 1,404,128
Financing nef cash flows  BEREREFE (1,246969)  (1,482,271) (868,553) 98,097
Dividend declared BERRE - - - -
Currency realignments BAE - 21,004 69 -
Inferest expenses EE 1,256,943 - 1013
At 31 March 2024 202438318 43,497 18,291,731 379,843 1,502,225
Financing net cashflows ~ BIEREHEFHE (993,208)  (1,693,276)  (300,000) 94,169
Dividend declared BERRE - - - -
Currency realignments EHBEE - 19,636 - -
Derecognised on deemed  #R{EHENBAE

dlisposal of subsidliaries B (W12

(note 12)
Derecognised on disposal  HEHBABRA L

of subsidiories (nofe 38)  He=R (Hfz238) - (13,110) (1,048,312)
Interest expenses FERY 1,095,253 - -
At 31 March 2025 12025538318 145,542 16,604,981

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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REFBEBEERAF

39,523 137,079 35,934 - 22650499
- - (3,685) (22066)  (3505,447)
- - - 22,066 22,066
- @709 - - 16,364

1,237 - 1,259,193

39523 132310 33,486 -
- - BN (11,03
- - - 11,033
c (2,335) - c

20,422,675

(2,906,165)
11,033
17,301

(39,523)

(26,238) (65,761)

- (1,061422)
1,095,910

130,035 = 17,513,511

183



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBI R M E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

42.Pledge of Assets

(@) As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, certain assets
of the Group were pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. The carrying values of
these assets at the end of the reporting period were as

follows:

42 BEIRR

(o) 2025% 3831 H&20244%3H
SR AEEETEENBRFFIR
TUESAEBERRITEEZ
B -ZEFEENRNBRESARZIRE
BT

Investment properties KREYE 27,216,634 29,200,308
Properties under development for sale  FHEHE 2 ER Y 2,419,000 4,524,390
Properties held for sales BIEHEZYE 1,170,907 -
Buildings, including relevant leasehold &= (BiEEMEEAHRE
land in Hong Kong ) 286,327 304,246
Hotel properties, including relevant BIEYE (BIEERESE
leasehold land in Hong Kong RS T #h) - 226,268
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 230,207
Pledged bank deposits BIEFIRITER 92,746 30,811
Others (Note) Hth (Kfz%) - 33,639
31,185,614 34,549,869
Note: Others represent floating charges over certain other assets Mzt HEMiEmMAEBETHMEE

of the Group including principally property, plant and
equipment (other than hotel properties), inventories, frade

and other receivables.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group also pledged a bank
deposit of HK$311,000 (2025: nil) to a bank to secure for
the use of ferry ticket equipment provided by a third

party to the Group.

43.Capital Commitments

184

Contracted for but not provided in the

consolidated financial statements,

net of deposits paid, in respect of;

- investment properties

- property, plant and equipment

- properties under development for sale

(FERBEMEUIINIYE-
WERRE FE - BHREME

WRIR) 2 R EIE R

(b) M2024F3831H > REE TR
#R1TF311,000% 7 (20254 :
B)F—ERTFEA—RF=7H

REAEECAMEEEK IR

o
43. B KR

SIMEBERREEME

wWERPETHIEREL

B (RENETR) -

—KREWE 34,715
—ME B R R -
—FEHEZERTYE 443,769

478,484

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

44.0Operating Lease Commitments 44. ZEHEKIE
The Group as lessor FEBREATHBEA
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as EWHEZ REIREERBUT:
follows:

Within one year — &R 652,644 717,856
In the second year BTFE 463,677 471,524
In the third year e 290,892 245,091
In the fourth year FMF 160,871 99,091
In the fifth year FhHEF 132,784 44,972
Over five years EEM 173,912 104,863
1,874,780 1,683,397
Certain premises in the Group's investment properties have KEBZREMERNEETYVEDE
committed tenants for the tenancy ranging from 1 to 15 years M E A BN F1E 154 (20244 :
(2024: 1 to 15 years) and the rentals are pre-determined at 1E15F) AE - MESHELEERA
fixed amounts except for certain leases of which contingent EELE ERHEE 280 b RENS
rentals are charged based on the percentage of sales. The REENE THERIN LA ERE
lease commitments presented above is based on the existing MIREERE2SARBHESESEA
committed monthly minimum lease payments. Hi#Eo
Undiscounted lease payments receivable from related parties MEERWREES 2 RKMIRHEERIE
on leases are as follows: L

Within one year 81,843 93,637

In the second year B _F 51,396 64,917
In the third year B=F 16,890 36,792
In the fourth year FEIYE 7,325 8,045
In the fifth year EHE 3,395 7,028
Over five years HEEME 3,040 6,435

163,889 216,854

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #E2BIFREBAR QT
Annual Report 2024/2025 F %R

185




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS MBI R M E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

45.Related Party Transactions 45.FRESF RS
(o) Other than disclosed in notes 8, 9, 18, 19, 24, 27, 29, 30, (@) BEMIEER 9 1819242729~
31, 38 and 44 the Group also had the following significant 30 31 38 A4FTipEE I At
fransactions with related parties: TEBHEHEAEFETTFINEARR
=P

186

Financial advisory expenses to BRAEABZ N
related companies B &

Interest expenses to a related company  [A— B REE A 3 2 4 5] B

Purchases of furniture from a 6 — B BAE A B R B R AL
related company

Purchases of merchandising goods mEEABKES M

from related companies
Rental income from related companies A REE A TIWE 2 FH 5
Secretarial fee to a related company [ —BEREEAR S

MERT &
Share of administrative expenses REAB DEITEBRE
by related companies
Note: Related companies are companies (1) controlled by Kyat:

relevant private discrefionary frusts of which Dr. Yeung is the
founder and settlor and Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
is one of the eligible beneficiaries; or (2) controlled by a

2,145 1,548
61,421 73,025

460 169

741 867
100,362 111,900

1,551 1,880

112,407 106,394

FEARR()HEBIELERA
T AREZEFZAZDABBEFTE
FlzRB MBERELEERTE
BRHEAZ—HQBE—RESE

Director. 7o > AT o
(o) The key management personnel of the Company are (b) KRB ZzEHREEAEBABESEF
Directors. Details of the remunerations are set out in note REFTEN 2 55 1B B R MIEE 100

10.
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46. Z AT ZMBER
A A B R2025% 3831 HR202443

46.Financial Information of the Company
The financial information of the Company as at 31 March

2025 and 31 March 2024 is as follows:

A3THZHMHERIT:

Non-current asset ERIEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRABEZKRE 1,745,633 1,709,203
Current assets TMENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL ENCIE =] 7,346,100 7,499,125
Other receivables HAhrE W =I8 545 473
Taxation receivable FEU IR I8 3 4
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRRIRE 148 337
7,346,796 7,499,939
Current liabilities MENAE
Other payables HE B 2,106 6,828
Unsecured notes - due within one year EIRFER -
—ERNEIEA - 299,950
2,106 306,778
Net current assets TRENE EFEE 7,344,690 7,193,161
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREAaE 9,090,323 8,902,364
Non-current liability JEREHad
Unsecured notes - due affer one year IR ER -
—FEBEE 79.910 79,893
Net assets BEFE 9,010,413 8,822,471
Capital and reserves BARK#E
Share capital [N 55,163 36,775
Reserves (Note) &5 (BYaE) 8,955,250 8,785,696
Total equity 4B %A 9,010,413 8,822,471
Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EBEAR AT 187
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46.Financial Information of the Company

(continued)
Note:

46. AT ZBIFEER @)

HeE:

At 1 April 2023

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

2024 final dividend paid

2025 interim dividend paid

7202354818 4,563,248 109,474 4,136,334 8,809,056
FEBERE2EARMAY

- - (1,294) (1,294)
BiR2024F KBRS - - (11,033) (11,033)
BiR20255F R & (11,033) (11,033)

At 31 March 2024

12024538 31H 4,563,248 109,474 4,112,974 8,785,696

Loss and total comprehensive FEBEBREEERY

expense for the year - (1,865) (1,865)
Issue of shares upon rights issue AR B 81T 2 IR 1D 437,858 - 437,858
Distrioution by way of distribution LBk 5 IEH

in specie Z ik - (255,406) (255,406)
2024 final dividend paid BiR2024F KR E - (11,033) (11,033)
At 31 March 2025 42025538 31H 5,001,106 109,474 3,844,670 8,955,250

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
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47.Particulars of Subsidiaries 47 . MIB A BE*1E
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at KABIF2025F 38531 H 202443
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, are as follows: B3 HZEEMBRBFBUWT:

Directly held

EiRE

Emperor Corporate Management Limited BVI UsD1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
HECEERERAF HERUEE B3 REER

Emperor Hotel Group Limited BVI UsD1 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
HEBEERERAR HERUEE [ES REER

EPDL BVI UsD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
HENERR HERUEE [ESE REER

EPIL BVI UsD1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
HEMERE HERUHE [ESE REER
Indirectly held

mEEE

Actmore Estate Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 100.00 100,00 Property investment
ZEEBEERAA &% MERE

Al Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property development
EEERAR &% MEER

Al Max Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property investment
HARARAD &% MERE

Asia Palace Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property investment
E&xERAT &% MERE

Century Creations Limited Hong Kong 10,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment
ELARERAR &% MERE

Champ Bilion Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property investment
BRERAD &% MERE

EIL Property Management Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00 Investment holding
HEMEERERAT &% REER

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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47. B ABE¥RE @
NANBIFR2025FE3H31H &20244F3
B3R TEMBATEBENT: (8)

47.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, are as follows: (confinued)

Indirectly held (continued)
s (4)
Emperor Ampersand Limited Partnership UK GBP100 100.00 100.00 Property Investment
B 100 4% WERE
Emperor (Beijing) Real Estate Development Company — The PRC RMB1,511,380,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment
Limited? H AE1,511,380,0007 MERE
HE (IR BHEREERAT?
Emperor E Hotel® Bermuda/Hong Kong 118,849 - 71.63  Investment holding
HEIREE 5 BRE/EE REER
Emperor Financial Management Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00 Provision of treasury services to
HENMKERERAR &5 group companies
mEBRTRAHHRE
Emperor Investment Limited Hong Kong 1,000 100.00 100,00 Provision of treasury services fo
HEHEFRAD EE group companies
mEERBRAT RS
Emperor Investment (Management) Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00 Provision of management
HEREEBERAR &% services
RUESERS
Emperor Project Management (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00 Provision of project management
HETRFE (HE) BRAH &% services
RHEEEERE
Emperor Property Agency Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00 Provision of property agency
HENERBBRAT EE services
RUNERERHE

REFBREEERAF

Emperor International Holdings Limited
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47.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 47.MIB AT E @)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at KABIF2025F 38531 H 202443
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, are as follows: (continued) B3HZEEMBAGZEBN T (&)

Indirectly held (continued)

s (4)

Emperor (Shanghai) Co., Lid2 The PRC RMB1,807,598,058 100.00 100.00 Property development

B2 (LB BRAF? FE AR1,807,598,0587T WEER

Emperor Treasury Management Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Provision of freasury services fo

HEEBRERERAR &% group companies
mERRTRARBRE

Emperor Way Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100,00 Provision of treasury services fo

ERBERAT &% group companies
mEBRTRMAHHRE

Emperor (Xiamen) Real Esfate Investments Limited? The PRC USD5,000,000 100.00 100,00 Property development and

HE (EF) MEZRBRAR? H 5,000,000% 7t investment
MEERRERE

Fai lek Limited Macau MOP25,000 100.00 100,00 Property investment

EBRBRAE s 250002970 WERE

Famous Awards Limited BVI/UK UsD1 100.00 100.00 Property investment

EBEYHE/HE %7 WERE

Gold Shine Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00 Property investment

BIREERRAT R WERE

Happy Rain Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property investment

ERBRAT R WERE

Headwise Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00 Property investment

BEREBRRT R WERE

Hill Concept Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property development

EEERAT R WEER

| Soi Limited Macau MOP25,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment

B RAE R 250002P9 7T WELRE

Emperor International Holdings Limited 2B EEAR AT
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47.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 47. B AT E @)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at KABIR2025F3831 H 202443
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, are as follows: (continued) B3 HZEEMBAGZEBN T (&)

Indirectly held (continued)

HEEE (8)

| Veng Limifed Macau MOP25,000 100.00 100,00 Property investment

laxBRAR Pl 25,0002 7T MERE

Palace Express Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property investment

ZBEERAH & MERE

Pioneer Eam Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property development
& MERE

Planwing Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00 Property investment

BEERAR & MERE

Rich Gallant Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100,00 Property development

ERREBRAF o MEEE

Richorse Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00 Property investment
& MERE

Shineon Investments Limited BVI/UK UsD1 100.00 100.00 Property investment
BREYHE/EE ESi MERE

Sure Strong Corporation Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property development

E2ERAR & MEEE

Thyme Company Limited Hong Kong 5,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment

REBRRA & MERE

Up Wealthy Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property development
& MEER

Upton Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00 Property development

HEBERAT & MEEE

Very Sound Investments Limited Hong Kong 10,000,000 100.00 100.00 Property investment
& MERE

Wealthy Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00 Property investment

HEREERAT &E MERE

Emperor Infernational Holdings Limited #EEMEBER QT
Annual Report 2024/2025 &1k

192




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #; 220253531 H IEFE

47.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 47. B ATIFE @

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, are as follows: (confinued)

Notes:

! All amounts are in HKS except stated otherwise.

2 Wholly foreign owned enterprise. The company’s English name is
for identification purpose only.

8 The company ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company due to
discontinued operation in Emperor E Hotel on 30 August 2024.

All subsidiaries, except for those companies incorporated
outside Hong Kong, carry on their businesses in Hong Kong
unless stated otherwise.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, none of the
subsidiaries of the Company issued any debt securities.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

48.Event after Reporting Period

Pursuant tfo the Company’s announcement dated 28
February 2025 and the Company’s circular dated 31 March
2025, EPIL entered info a sale and purchase agreement
with a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor Watch
& Jewellery Limited to dispose of the entire equity interest
in King Hero Investments Limited and its subsidiary ("King
Hero Group”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the loan due by King Hero Group to EPIL, at a
total consideration of HK$79,800,000. King Hero Group holds
the property located on 2/F to 4/F and the advertising space
of Nos. 4-8 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The disposal is expected to be completed in August 2025.
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Five-year Financial Summary

hFEMBHRE

Results

ES ]

Revenue WA 1,375,878
Loss before faxation BRIRATEE (4,873,010)
Taxation credlit R R 32,081
Loss for the year FEHA (4,840,929)
(Loss) profit for the year FE(GEE (B518) A

aftributable fo:

Owners of the Company AREEBA (4,743,204)

Non-controlling interests FER#ER (97,725)

(4,840,929)

Assets and Liabilities

1,761,815 1,210,682 2,329,304 1,317,082
2086359)  (2.299,.228) 831,145 (1,074972)
57,782 97,642 91,503 204,686
QO28577)  (2.201,586) (739,642) (870,286)
Q046,660)  (2141983) (469,329) (767,448)
18,089 (59.603) ©270,313) (102,838)
Q028577)  (2.201,586) (739.642) (870,286)
BEEREE

Total assefs BELE 37,385,204
Total liabilties & BT (20,442,192)
16,943,012
Equity attributable to: (L .
Owners of the Company E/NSIEZ=DN 16,943,012
Non-controlling inferests R -
16,943,012

46,587,839 51128055 54705505 60,249,122
(23040697)  (25319733)  (25938002)  (30,846,341)
23,547,142 25808322 28,767,503 29,402,781
21607927 23887196 26765814 27,069.470
1,939,215 1,921,126 2,001,689 2,333,311
23,547,142 2580832 28,767,503 29402781
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Summary of Properties

MEE

Particulars of the Group’s major investment properties and ZEEN2025F3H831HZ T EREY %

properties under development as at 31 March 2025, are as follows: K2 ERYEZ 3 IEWNT:
Investment Properties BREME

Units 1 to 4 on 12th Floor, Wing Yio Commercial Building,
65-71 Yen Chow Street, Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
BRI NGO TIRREEERE 12181 24

Carpark Nos. 1-11, 20, 23, 23A, 24 and 24A on Ground Floor,
Kwong Sang Hong Building, Blocks C and D,

188 Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BREBFEFEI8RELTABECKDENT
1-11720:23+23A 247 24 AR BB 1

Unit 601-604, 606, 705, 801, 802, 806, 901, 902, 1001, 1102-1104,
1204, 1206, 1207, 1506, 1506, 1605, 1607, 1701-1707, 1801-1803,
1806, 1807, 1901, 1905-1907, 2001-2007, 2101-2102

Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

BB FHEFIE2685:E 2 E£EF0601 £6042606:705-801
802:8061901+902:1001~1102% 1104+1204~1206~1207~1505
15062160521607~1701%1707~1801 £ 1803~1806~1807~1901+
1905 1907~2001% 200752101 £2102%

Shops on Basement One and Two, G/F - 4/F,

Some Commercial Units on 22/F - 29/F,

Emperor Group Centre 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong
BREFHEFENSRAZERFOE—ERE_BHE"
MTEMEZ BARNEEZ ETHREQ

Ground Floor and 1st Floor, 523 Lockhart Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
SERREER RS2 T R 118

Shops 1-3 & 5 on Ground Floor, the whole of 1st, 2nd and

3rd Floors, the External Walls of Ground Floor to 3rd Floor,

the Flat Roof on 5th Floor and Parapet Walls enclosing

the Flat Roof on 5th Floor and Lift No. 1 and No. 5,

8 Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
BEMBERREH T 123N RORE 18 28 RIE2E-
HTENEZIME ST -BESET A ZERR K RSFER

Shops 7-11 & Enfrance Hall on Ground Floor, the whole of 1Tst,
2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th Floor, Wei King Building,

275 Chatham Road North, Hung Hom, Kowloon

NEEALE R BUEIL 2755 R RIBH T TE SRR R AT

VR 218 38 AERSIE R E

Shop B, Ground Floor, Nos. 67-69 Avenida do Infante D.
Henrique and Shop C2, Ground Floor,

No. 5 Rua Dr. Pedro Jose Lobo, Macau

BPEE T ABIROTE 695 TR E R B R 15 T 4155
T C2%E 5

Emperor International Holdings Limited

Office
WAZE

Carparks
B

Office
WAZE

Commercial/
Carparks
[EEVA= AN

Commercial

Shops/Commercial
kS

Commercial

Commercial

1,078(G)
(BH)

67,000(G)
(%)

151,600(G)
()

1,850(G)
(B%)

26,952(G)
(B5)

21,720G)
(B%)

1,600(G)
(%)

- 100

16 100

- 100

36 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

REEREEERATE
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Summary of Properties

MEBRE

Investment Propetrties (confinued) REWME @

9. Shops 1-6 on Ground Floor, 1st and 2nd Floor, 1st and Commercial 5549(G) - 100 Medium
2nd Advertising Walls, 525 Shanghai Street, Mongkok, Kowloon [HES (B%) A
NEEHA LRSS T 1 Z6RE UEEAE E— R
FMNEREMUE

10 Unit C on éth Floor, CNT Tower, Wanchai, Hong Kong Office 940(G) - 100 Long
BBEFILEPLOECE /NS (B%) RH
11, Basement, Ground Floor, st fo 4th Floor of Block A, Commercial 15,788(G) - 100 Long
Centro Comercial Hoi Meng, No. 201-209 Avenida De [EES (%) R

Almeida Ribeiro, Macau
RPIHT S EE 2012095 B AR 7 £ FR D ARSI S I T R 1 R 48

12, Flat A & C on 12th Floor and Flat B on 17th Floor, Residential 1,780(G) - 100 Long
Ying Fai Court, 1 Ying Fai Terrace, Hong Kong *tE (%) R
SAEBEINEER12BARCER17EBE

13, 54-56 Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Commercial/ 5138(G) - 100 Long
ERBELBERED4565% Residential (%) &5

wE/HE

14, Ground Floor, 20 Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Shops 1,125(G) - 100 Long
ERMBELRRE0TH T B (B%) 8

16, 22-24 Russell Street, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Shops 7,868(G) - 100 Long
SERREBRE22-245 B (B%) 8

16.  2nd Floor and 3rd Floor, Fitfort, 560 King’s Road, North Point, Carparks - 353 100 Long
Hong Kong B R
HELAEEESONRRE R =1

17. Shop C & D on Ground Floor and Units A and B on 1st Floor, Shops 3,710G) - 100 Medium
Mercantile House, Kowloon [EE] (%) R
NEBMAREM FCRDRHR IEARBE

18, Ground Floor, 76 Percival Streetf, Hong Kong Shops 600(G) - 100 Long
ERRHEFIGHHMT (Gl (%) &5

19. Shop A & B on Ground Floor, Office A & B on 1st Floor fo Shops/Office 6,700(G) - 100 Long
3rd Floor, Tak Fat Building, 50 - 52 Russell Street, Hong Kong /WA (B5) &8
BERBERH0-52REEAEM TARBRE BRI AETAR
BE
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Summary of Properties

MEE

Investment Properties (continued)

BREME =

20.  Ground Floor, 67 Wellingfon Street, Hong Kong Shops 855(G) - 100 Long
EERBWEHOMT [l (%) R
21. Flat B on Ground Floor, Hon Kwong Mansion, Shops 800(G) - 100 Medium
25-29 Hankow Road & 4 Ichang Street, Kowloon [ (%) A
NEEENE25-295 K B 452 KB FBE
22, Shop C on Ground Floor, Daily House, Shops 750(G) - 100 Medium
35, 36 & 37 Haiphong Road, Kowloon (Gl (%) R
BB E35 36K 375 EFITH T CRE
23. 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong Shops/Office/ 110,632(G) 30 100 Long
EFBEFELTITEON Carparks (BZ) £H
aE/ WAE /B
24, The Pulse, 28 Beach Road, Repulse Bay, Hong Kong Commercial/Shops/ 167,200(G) 97 100 Long
BEEKEBHEE285The Pulse Carparks (BH) £
[EE V- V-—tin
25, Emperor Commercial Centre, 39-41 Des Voeux Road Central, ~ Commercial/Office 39,000(G) - 100 Long
Central, Hong Kong mE/WAE (25) &H
ERPREHENAREEFERD
26.  181-183 Oxford Street, London, UK Commercial/Office 20,000(G) - 100 Freehold
HERAG2H181-1835% HE/WAE (B%) XA
27.  Emperor Nam Van Centre, 71-85 Avenida do Infante D. Commercial 29,600(G) - 100 Short
Herique, 514-640 Avenida da Praia Grande, Macau [EES (B%) yskl
HPIREFAERT -85 R EEAFHO14-040 EEFEF D
28.  Emperor Group Centre, Ding 12 Jianguomen Avenue, Commercial/Office 1,062,000(G) - 100 Medium
Chaoyang District, Befiing, The PRC BE/WAE () ks
FEIERAGEREMM ARG TI125REEEEHDL (incl. basement)
(BfEHE)
29.  Commercial/Car Park Block, Multi-storey Car Parks A, B and C, Commercial/ 93,300(G) 979 100 Medium
Open Car Parks and Associated Areas 5-19 and Carparks (B%) A
6-12 Sui Wo Road, Sha Tin, New Territories EEYA:KN)
HADERAREE-19R-12%HE /FEENE SEFESAB
RCE-BRFEEHRAEHAMS
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Summary of Properties

MEBRE

Investment Propetrties (confinued) REWME @

30, Ampersand Building, 111-125 Oxford Street, London, UK Commercial/Office 112,500(G) - 100 Freehold
HE G EE111-125% AmpersondA B BE/WAE (BH) XA
31, Shop Nos.1-9 and 11 on Ground Floor, Shop No.T and Commercial 12,700(G) - 100 Long
2 on Lower Ground Floor, Fairview Height, [EES (%) RH

No.1 Seymour Road, Hong Kong
BEBEEIRERSH T Z0 R 1REH R TEE 1 R25%EE

32, Emperor Hollywood Centre, No.151 Hollywood Road, Commercial/Office 41,000(G) - 100 Long
Hong Kong HE/PRE (BZ) &8
ERFEEBIIRAZFRERL

33. 2527 Oxford Street, London, UK Commercial/Office 19,300(G) - 100 Freehold
HEMfR R R 25275 [GEVE VN (%) XA

34, No.81 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong Commercial 126,600(G) - 100 Long
BBEFRRESR [EES (25) R

Remark: (G) - gross floor area i (C) —EEEREEE
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Summary of Properties

MEE

Investment Properties Under Development BRI EME

1. Emperor Star City, a site located at Yuyuan Commercial complex 246,173 1,300000  Foundation 2027 - Note Medium
Jiedao 548 Jiefang 11/1 Qiu Huangpu District, BERARR (incl. basement) complefed Mz R
Shanghai, The PRC (BfEHE) HEIRERM

HEREHANPE LERREREEE
S\ 2

Note: Under the joint venture agreement, the Group would provide the A3t RIBESEWH AEBERKEHR L 52%
land, whereas joint venture partner would bear the full construction HEARESPEENA M EEEEER
cost and the saleable floor area would be split between the parties HEHEBHBFEDo
in equal shares.
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Summary of Properties

MEBRE

Properties Under Development - For Sale FIEHEZREDYE

1. Various Lots, DD210, Sai Kung, New Territories Residentiol 58,100 26000  Pending for lond N/A - 100 Medium

HABEELENNEA0RZEHE FE exchange TER Hi
EHTHRHR

2. Central 8, 8-10A Mosque Street, Residentiol 4,293 34000  Completed 2021 - 100 Long
Mid-levels, Hong Kong #E BRI &4
BB RS- 10A%F LBIR

3. Seaside Castle, No. 9 Ching Lai Road, Residentiol 22,000 20000  Completed 2021 18 100 Medium
Toi Lom, Tuen Mun, New Territories #E BRI F
HREMAEERRSHE

4. No. 15 Shouson, No. 15 Shouson Hill Road West, Residentiol 116,896 87200  Completed 2021 32 50 Medium
Hong Kong %t BRI i
EASEBAISHEELISR

5. One Jardine's Lookout No. 1 Wang Tak Street, Residentiol 5816 58,100  Completed 2024 14 100 Medium
Happy Valley, Hong Kong % BRI i
EERENEER$0ne Jordine’s Lookout

6. Southsky, Nos. 72-80 Old Main Street Aberdeen, Residential/ 5,985 50,700  Completed 2024 - 100 Long
Aberdeen, Hong Kong Commercial BRI &4
EEBRFEBFEAGT-O0NER s/ HE

7. No. 127 Caine Road, Mid-levels, Hong Kong Residentiol 3017 24,700 Demolition work 2027 - 100 Long
EBEURE75 E completed &

ERAifkIE

8. Nos. 24-30 Bonham Road, Mid-levels West, Residentiol 13,067 105700 Superstructure 2026 2 100 Long
Hong Kong *E works in progress &
FERFLRAEA-305 FAETLERE
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